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GR HIGHWAYS INVESTMENT MANAGER PRIVATE LIMITED

28" May 2024

To

BSE Limited National Stock Exchange of India Limited
Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers Exchange Plaza, C-1, Block G

Dalal Street, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Bandra(E)
Mumbai- 400001 Mumbai -400051

Scrip Code: 544137 Symbol: BHINVIT

Subject: Outcome of Board Meeting of GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited, the
Investment Manager of Bharat Highways InvIT

Dear Ma’am / Sir,

In compliance with the provisions of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014
read with circulars and guidelines issued thereunder from time to time (“SEBI InvIT Regulations”),
the Board of Directors of GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited, acting in its capacity as
the Investment Manager to the Bharat Highways InvIT (“InvIT”), in its meeting held today i.e. on

Tuesday, 28" May 2024, have inter-alia, considered and approved the following matters: -

1. Audited Consolidated and Standalone Financial Results of InvIT along with the Auditors’ Report

for the Financial Year ended 31%t March 2024.

Further, please note that the financial information of the Investment Manager is not disclosed as

there is no material erosion in the net worth.

2. Declared Distribution of INR 3.00/- per unit to all Unitholders of Bharat Highways InvIT as per

details provided below:

Distribution Per Unit Amount in INR
Distribution as Interest 0.50/-
Distribution as Dividend 2.50/-
Total Distribution per unit 3.00/-

Please note that Friday, 31° May 2024, has been fixed as the Record Date for the purpose of

distribution to the Unitholders which will be paid on or before Wednesday, 12" June 2024.

3. The meeting of the Board of Director of the Investment Manager commenced at 7:30 PM and

concluded at 10:30 PM.

Registered Office: 2" Floor, Novus Tower Plot No. 18, Sector-18, Gurgaon, Haryana-122015
CIN: U65999HR2022PTC102221 Email: cs@bharatinvit.com Phone No.: 0124-6435000




GR HIGHWAYS INVESTMENT MANAGER PRIVATE LIMITED

The intimation is also being uploaded on the website of the InvIT at: www.bharatinvit.com.

You are requested to take the same on your record.

Thanking you,

Yours sincerely,

For GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited
(Investment Manager to Bharat Highways InviT)

. Digitally signed by
MOhnISh Mohnish Dutta
Date: 2024.05.28
Dutta 22:42:55 +05'30"
Mohnish Dutta

Company Secretary & Compliance Officer
M. No. FCS 10411

CC:

IDBI Trusteeship Services limited

Ground Floor, Universal Insurance Building
Sir P.M. Road, Fort,

Mumbai, Maharashtra - 400001

Registered Office: 2" Floor, Novus Tower Plot No. 18, Sector-18, Gurgaon, Haryana-122015
CIN: U65999HR2022PTC102221 Email: cs@bharatinvit.com Phone No.: 0124-6435000
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21st Floor, B Wing, Privilon
S R B C & CO LLP Ambli BRT Road, Behind Iskcon Temple

Off SG Highway, Ahmedabad - 380 059, India
Tel : +91 79 6608 3900

Chartered Accountants

Independent Auditor's Report on the Half year and Year to Date Audited Standalone Financial Information of
the InvIT Pursuant to the Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014,
as amended

To

The Board of Directors of

GR Highways Investment Managers Private Limited
(As an Investment Manager of Bharat Highways InvIT)

Report on the audit of the Standalone Financial Information
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying statement of half year and year to date standalone financial information of
Bharat Highways InvIT (the “InvIT") consisting of the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss including other
comprehensive income, explanatory notes thereto and additional disclosure as required in accordance with
Chapter 4 of the SEBI Master Circulars No. SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 6, 2023 as
amended including any guidelines and circular issued thereunder (hereinafter collectively referred to as “SEBI
Circulars™) for the half year ended March 31, 2024 and for the year ended March 31, 2024 ("Statement"),
attached herewith, being submitted by the InvIT pursuant to the requirement of Regulation 23 of the SEBI
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time including circulars,
notifications, clarifications and guidelines issued thereunder (the “InvIT Regulations").

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the Statement:

i. is presented in accordance with the requirements of the InvIT Regulations read with SEBI circular in this
regard; and

ii. gives a true and fair view in conformity with the applicable accounting standards and other accounting
principles generally accepted in India, of the net profit and other comprehensive income and other financial
information of the InvIT for the half-ended March 31, 2024 and for the year ended March 31, 2024.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the "Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Information” section of our report. We are independent
of the InvIT in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the standalone financial statements
under the provisions of the InvIT Regulations and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to note 4 which describes the presentation / classification of “Unit Capital” as "Equity” instead
of the applicable requirements of Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation, in order to comply with the
relevant InvIT regulations. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Management's Responsibilities for the Standalone Financial Information

The Statement has been prepared on the basis of the standalone annual financial statements. The Board of
Directors of the Investment Manager are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Statement that
gives a true and fair view of the net profit and other comprehensive income of the InvIT and other financial
information in accordance with the requirements of the InvIT Regulations; the Indian Accounting Standards as
defined in Rule 2(1)@) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended), and other
accounting principles generally accepted in India. This responsibility also includes the design, implementation
nd maintenance of adeguate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the
acy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the
ent that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the Statement, the Board of Directors of Investment Manager are responsible for assessing the
InvIT's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors of Investment manager either intends
to liquidate the InvIT or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors of Investment Manager are also responsible for overseeing the InvIT's financial reporting
process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Information

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Statement as a whole is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the Statement.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Statement, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

« Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal controls.

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors of Investment Manager.

« Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ of Investment Manager use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the InvIT's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financial information or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the InvIT to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Statement, including the disclosures, and
whether the Statement represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Other Matter

a) The Statement includes the standalone financial information for the half year ended 31 March 2024 being

— the balancing figures between the audited figures in respect of the full financial year ended 31 March 2024
k Cr and the unaudited year-to-date figures up to 30 September 2023, being the date of the end of the first half

f the current financial year, which have been prepared solely based on the information as compiled by the
nagement and approved by the Board of Directors of Investment Manager and has not been subjected
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b.) The Statement includes standalone financial information for the half year ended 31 March 2023 and period
from June 16, 2022 to March 31, 2023 included as comparative financial information in accompanying
standalone financial information have been prepared solely based on the information as compiled by the
management and approved by the Board of Directors of Investment Manager and has not been subjected
to review or audit.

ForSRBC&COLLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 324982E/E300003

per Sukrut Mehta

Partner

Membership Number: 101974
UDIN: 24101974BKERTL6792

Place of Signature: Ahmedabad
Date: May 28, 2024
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Bharat Highways InvIT ﬁ

Registered office: Novus Tower, Second Floor, Plot No. 18, Sector 18, Gurugram, Haryana 122 015, India AT R BT
E-mail: cs@bharatinvit.com; hite: www. bharatinvit.com, Tek: =91 #5888 55586
SEBI Registration Number: [N/ InvIT/22-23/0023

STATEMENT OF AUDITED STANDALONE FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE HALF YEAR AND YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,2024

(¥ in million except per unit data)

Hali year ended Year ended For the
16 Jun 2022 to
::. P 31 Mar 2024 30 Sep 2023 31 Mar 2023 31 Mar 2024 31 Mar 2023
(Audited) (Unaudited) | (Unaudited) (Audited) (Unaudited)
(refer note 9) (refer note 9) (refer note B) (refer note 9) (refer note 8}
T |Incomes and gains:
(a) Interest income on loan given to subsidiaries 29513 - - 29513
{b) Interestincome on deposit with banks 131 - - 1.31 -
Total income and gain ) 296,44 - - 296.44 =
n and losses:
(a) Valuation expenses 1.30 - - 130
(b) Audit Fees 206 207 . 413 -
(¢) Investment management fees {refer note 7 B) 489 - - 489 -
(d) Trustee fee 029 0.30 - 059 =
(e} Finance costs 2028 122 - 21.50
(f) Other expenses (refer note 10) 27.31 - - 27.31 -
Total expenses 56.13 359 - 59.72 -
11 | Profit/ (Loss) before tax (I-11) 240.31 {3.59) - 236.72 -
IV |Tax expense:
(a) Current tax 056 - - 0.56 -
(b) Deferred tax charge - - - - -
Total tax expenses 0.56 = - 056 -
L
v |Net profit/ (loss) for the year / period (ITI-IV) 239.75 359 - 236.16 -
V1 |Other comprehensive income (o)
(a) Ttomny that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent years
/ period (et of tax) : 3 = : 2
(b) Tiems that will be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent years
/period (net of tax) - = 5 - -
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) - - - - =
Vit | Total Comprehensive Income, net of tax (V+VT) 23975 (3.59) - 236.16 -
V11| Earnings per unit (¥ per anit)
{not annualised for half year) (refer note m
Basic 742 - - 742 -
Diluted 742 - - 742 -
Notes:-

1 Bharat Highways InvIT (‘the InvIT’) was sef up as an irevocable trust under the Indian Trust Act, 1882 pursuant to trust deed dated 16 June 2022 which was
mquﬂymurwdonbmnh&ﬁm:mwhjt,mmmvﬁmm gi i as an Infi ture Invest § Trust with Securities Exchange Board
of India (‘SEB) under the Securities Exchange Board of India (I f -ture Tnvestment Trust) Regulations, 2014 vide Certificate of Registration (IN/InvIT/22-
23/0023) dated 3 August 2022, The Trustee to the InvIT is IDBI Tmuedﬂpsuvbumuud(ﬂte‘mmc"}.spommd project manager of the InvIT is Aadharshila
Infratech Privae Limited (the “Sponsor™ or “Project & ger”) and 1 t ger for the InvIT is GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited (the
“Investment Manager™).

2

The audited Standalone financial information comprises the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss, explanatory notes thereto and the additional disclosures as
required in paragraph 6 of Chapter 4 to the Securities Exchange Board of India (SEBI) master circular no. SEB]/ HO/ DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 Dated July 06.
2023 and SEB]/ HO/ DDHS-PoD/ CIR/2023/184 dated December 06, 2023 as ded Including any guideline and circulars issued thereunder ("SEBI Circulars”) for

hhﬂﬂyurmﬂynrmdedmrchm.m!uflhlnvﬂt'a_" Fi | Information”). The standalone financial tion are being submitted by the InvIT
P t to the requi ts of Regulat 23 of the SEPI (Infrastructure { Trusts) Regulati mlﬂ.nmmdtd&umﬂuwlﬂﬂmeindudlnsdnuhm
mmm.mmwmwwmmmsmc lars (“InvIT Regulati s"). The above audited Standal financial information for

the half year and year ended March 31, 2024 has been reviewed by lhe)\udll(;ummiﬂundwhqmnﬂyappmvdbyﬂuhrddﬂimﬂnnn{mmnhim
alﬂdrmcﬂwmsshldmmymm.

Theprlndpnlxﬁvllynfhwﬂ'lswwnmdimeﬂlnmfrumlctummladmnrﬂylnHteﬁ?\’sopenﬁnghﬂhemdinfnlhudundmhpmemmh!ndhh
accordance with the provisi duehwﬁhguhumuwﬁuntdud.mm&mmgiﬂm!nmmManlgeralhnluhruoumudmttu:
nmullhelml.'l'mdIhu:lmﬂﬁChHOpulﬁngDeddonMahr(CODM).lﬂuu d with the requi "dlndASlt!"SegmﬂllRepwﬁug‘.ﬂu
OD‘DMmImhopertungmulhuﬂbe' iness as a single segment, hence parat ,“‘mdﬂnbedlsclueiﬁlﬂnhwﬂmd!lsasﬂlopuﬂtum}yln
India, no hical segment is disclosed.

¥ Ll

UMﬂ'lbepm\rlaiomoflhellwlT gulati the InvIT is required to distribub lnmﬂlholdrr!nﬂlIesuHun%ﬂ-uiwm&dwhuhhhcmﬂWIGEﬁ\ehwﬂlwmh
n:mthlyw.murdhlgly.lrwunllﬂpﬂﬂ-. ins a © ctual obligati wpaymhwﬂluﬂﬂuldﬂlmu.h\ 4 with requi t of Ind AS 32 -
F fal 1 ts: P jon, the unit capital ins liability comp + which should be classified and treated mdin;lyAHnm«.SE‘BlClmhnmquuu
the unit capital to be presented /classified as “Equity”, which is at variance from the requirements of Ind-AS 32. In order to comply with the aforesakd SEBL
requirements, the InvIT has presented unit capital as equity in these dalone financial i jon. Consistent with unit capital being classified as equity, the
diatrfb‘lﬁn‘llhutﬂﬂlﬂﬂemhahnpm!dinﬂl&meﬂlofﬂnﬂsﬂinﬂnlﬂnldﬂ" Equity wlmﬁudhumnmulmawme&lbyﬂwﬂmrd of JMrprtere]

A

L

SIGNED FOR IDENTIFICATION
PURPOSES ONLY h"

SRBC & CO LLP
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Bharat Highways InvIT ﬁ
Registered office: Novus Tower, Second Floor, Plot No. 18, Sector 18, Gurugram, Haryana 122015, India e
E-mail: cs@bharatinvit.com; Websi www.bharati iLcom, Tel: +91 B5888 55566

SEBI Registration Number: IN/InvIT/ 22-23/0023

STATEMENT OF AUDITED STANDALONE FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE HALF YEAR AND YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2024

Notes (continued):-

5 During the year, the InvIT has entered into share purchase agreement dated February 20, 2024 with GR Infraprojects Limited (GRIL) for acquisition of 100% equity

stake in its seven subsidaries namely Varanasi Sangam Expressway Private Limited ("VSEPL"), Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited (“FDEPL"), GR
Phagwara Expressway Limited ("GRPEL"), GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Privale Limited ("GRGDHI'L”), GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited
("GRASHPL"), GR Sangli Solapur Highway Private Limited ("GRSSHPL") and GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited ("GRDDHPL") against the same, the
InvIT has fssued its 13,75,30405 units with issue price of € 100 per unit as consideration against above sale of shares and 5,54,08,300 units with issue price of ? 100 per
unit towards assignment of loan receivable from above beidiaries, which has resulted in the GRIL's holding 43.56% in the InvIT. The equity shares of seven

bsidiaries were ‘-“-‘inthinvn'onlhhndlmlmhymhvrrnbhimdcmmlmmeummdim

The InvIT has carried out Fair valuation of assels acquired, and Hability assumed by independent valuer using inputs generally used by market participants in similar
transactions resulting in fair valuation, on the date of acquisition, which was ¥ 19,409.30 million. Accordingly, InvIT has recognised the investments in these SPVs at fair
value in the standalone financial information and recognised capital reserve amounting to T 5,656.26 million which is the resultant difference bets the fair value and
consideration paid by the Invit arising due to additional contribution by significant unithelder. The amount of capital reserve is mainly on account of (a) differences in
valuation parameters particularly Weighed Average Cost of Capital on account of different cost of equily (Including debt-equity ratio)for determining transaction price,
(b) InvIT lssue expenses, and (¢) Net present value of InvIT related expenses (including fees payable to i L ger) considered by InvIT amounting to T
3,017.52 million, 2 589.93 million and 2,048 81 million respectively.

6 Dufl.ngllwyur.Llwlnvﬂ'hummpimdluuﬁﬁnlpnutuﬁuFW)o{m.m.munlhwhhmueprﬁ:zo{tmﬂﬁ:huniI.Thnlnvrl'hadm:elwd an amount of T
24,999.99 million from the sponsor and eligible unitholders (as defined in Final Offer Documents (FOD)). Expenses incurred on the IPO is amounting to 532,34 million
(h\clndlngmm)(prtwidumlll{)gxpemeluﬂmmml!lim{imludlnghm}npﬂﬁndu&rdmmmh).mlundsfmm ings in IPO exp as compared to
provisional IPO exp shall be f ‘lnGenuilCurpwnhpnponahtmrylppmahnuunlhofﬂehvﬁmlhmdmNmnm!smhBu:hngeof
mwmmmmuwwmmmﬂnm

Theupemimumdfwmhwenmudmd&mhm Jders' capital in accord with Ind AS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

The details of amount utilised from IPO proceeds are as follows:

Particulars Amount to be | Utilised upto
Utilised as per | 31 March 2024

i A (ST ==

Providing loans to the Project SPVs for repayment/ pre-payment, in part or in full, of their respective 24,000.00 24,000,00

outstanding loans (including any accrued Interest and prepayment penalty)

Issue expenses 620.80 13502

General 379.19 2779

Tatal 24,999.99 24,162.81

Nﬂpmceedlwhlrhmun-uﬂilsed as at March 31, 2024 are

porarily ted in Deposit wlﬂlhmhllwtllukeptinu:ruwmcuumwimhnm

SIGNED FOR IDENTIFICATION
PURPOSES ONLY Q/

sSRBC & CO LLP




Bharat Highways InvIT
Registered office: Novus Tower, Second Floor, Plot No. 18, Sector 18, Gurugram, Haryana 12201 5, India
E-mail: cs@bharatinvit.com; Website: www.bharatinvitcom, Tel: +91 85888 55586
SEBI Registration Number: IN/ InvIT/22-23/ 0023
STATEMENT OF AUDITED STANDALONE FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE HALF YEAR AND YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2024

e il

7 ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES AS REQUIRED BY PARAGRAPH 6 OF CHAPTER 4 TO THE SEBI CIRCULARS AND SEBUHWDDH.S—I’BWCIR{MIM dated 06
DECEMBER 2023

(2 in_million,
| Half year ended Year ended | Forthe
16 Jun 2022 to
31 Mar2024 | 30Sep2023 | 31Mar2023 | 3IMar2024 | 5y par 2023
{Audited) | (Unaudited) | (Unaudited) {Audited) | (Unaudited)
refer note 9) | (refer note 9)| (refer note 8) | (refer note 9) | (refernote B)
18.71) . . (18.71) -
of NDCF ¢ ted

as per relevant framework * 1,656.06 E i a0
Add: Treasury Income / income from Tnvesting activities of the InvIT (interest income]
recefved from FD, any | t entities as defined in gulati 18(5) of the
InvIT Regulations, tax refund, any other income in the nature of interest, profit on sal 012 = - 012 -
of mutual funds, investments, assels etc., dividend income etc., excluding any Ind
adjustments which will be considered on a cash receipt basis

Add: Proceeds from sale of infrastructure Investments, infrastructure assels or shares
SPVs or investment entity adjusted for the following, & " § 5 g

+ Applicable capital gains and other taxes . - - *
. Rnhteddablluﬂhdaduehbeuﬂkdﬁomsﬂeprmwdt : . u =
« Directly attributable transaction cosis - - - =
« Proceeds reinvested or p d to be d as per Regulati 18(7) of the SEBI
InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the InvIT Reg lati

Add: Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, Tnfrastructure assets or sale of
shares of SPVs or investment entity not distributed punnamwlnuﬂl!rplunlom
imutuperileguialhnlamufhsmmvﬂhsuhthmmwcﬂmmm - - - ™ -
pruviﬂﬂmnil.\uﬁﬂlhvl’l"‘u" if such p ds are not ded to bef

linvested subsequently
Tﬂﬂ:ﬂhkﬂmﬂh‘ﬁlndﬂ] 47| - - 1,637.47 -

Less: Finance cost on bo ings, excluding ami isation of any transaction costs as per|
profit and loss account of the InvIT (20.28) 1.22) - (21.50) .

Tess: Debt repayment at InvIT level (to include principal repayments as per scheduled
EMT's except if refinanced through new debl including overdraft facilities and 10|
|exclude any debt repayments / debt refi d through new debt in any form or funds| (6092) 2 3 (60.92) E
raised through issuance of units)

Lus:mymmuhedbhewhdunduﬂ\ewrmlnf.orpumnlmﬂn
obligations arising in accordance with, any: ; = y
(i) loan agreement entered with financial institution; or (196.50] - - ({196.50)
(i) terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to debt
securities issued by the InvIT or any of its SPVs; or -
(1if) terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external
commercial borrowings avalled by the InvIT or any of its SPVs: or . i : =

{iv) agreement pursuant to which the InvIT operates or owns the infrastructure asset, o]
les or ci

Cashilows from operating activities of the lovIT
Add: Cash flows received from SPV's which rep L di

B hil humiuchamt(mhummnawﬂm
ission services ag t, power purch greement t, and any| : F
other agreement of a like nature, by whatever name called): or
V) tory, judiclal, regulatory, of governmental stipulations - - - - -

Toss: any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by the InvIT, to the
extent not funded by debt / equity or from contractual reserves created in the earller

etention at InviT level (¥ ;
Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) + (A+B) 77
T Includes dividend received from SPVs subsequent to year end amounting to T 1,380.00 million considered as
PoD/P/CIR/2023/184 dated December 6, 2023.

5 2
et mote 1 of circular SEBI/ HO/ DDHS/DDHS-

(B) Investment Management Fees:
4o B | ;

P the ger ag t dated July 21, 2022, Investment Manager Is entitled to foes @ 150% of aggregate cash flow received from each of the
subsidiaries per annum and upto 050% incentive of the assets scquired by InvIT plus Goods and Service tax rate as applicable. Accordingly, the amount recorded in
S ial inf " tment g t fees, There are no changes

fm’ﬂnyﬁ:ﬂtd!dmn.mh‘mmﬂam(ﬂMmhmhm}
during the year in the hodology for computati offaupddlnlnvuhnenkmmgux

(o] wmnmnﬂnﬂpolkleﬁ
There is no change in the Accounting ;nlicyolﬂ\elnﬂl‘ianhehaliyurmdynnudedm March 2024.

SIGNED FOR IDENTIFICATION
PURPOSESONLY ¢

SRBC & CO LLP




Bharat Highways InvIT
Registered office: Novus Tower, Second Floor, Plot No. 18, Sector 18, Gurugram, Haryana 122015, India
E-mail: cs@bharatinvit.com; Website: www.bharatinvit.com, Tel: +91 85868 55586 e o
SEBI Registration Number: IN/ InIT/22-23/0023
STATEMENT OF AUDITED STANDALONE FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE HALF YEAR AND YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2024

7 ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES AS REQUIRED BY PARAGRAFH 6 OF CHAPTER 4 TO THE SEBI CIRCULARS AND SEBW(WDHS-POD!UWMM dated 06
DECEMBER 2023
(D) Statement of Farnings per unit:
Basic earnings per unit (EPU) amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to unitholders by the weighted average number of units
outstanding during the year. For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per unit, the weighted 2 bers of units ding during the year are adjusted for
weighted average number of units that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential units into unit capital

The following reflects the tand unit data used in the basic and diluted EPU computation: (@ in millien,
Hali year ended Year ended | Forthe
16 Jun 2022 t0
Particnlars 31 Mar 2024 | 30Sep 2083 31 Mar2023 | 31 Mar2024 | o nea 2003
(Audited) (Unaudited) {Unandited) u\ﬁliﬁi (Ulumlilai
er | (refer note 9) | (refer note 8) (refer note 9) refer note 8
Profil / (Loss) altributable to unitholders (% in million) (A) 23975 3.59) - 236.16 -
Number of units ding at the end of the year / period (in absolute number)* 44,29,38,605 - - 44,29,38,605
Weighted average number of units for the year | period (in absolute number)* (8) 3,18,36,834 - - 3,1836,8M
Basic and diluted earning per unit (in 2)** (not annualised for half year) (A/B) 742 - - 742
Issue price per unit (in?) 100.00 - - 100.00 -
* The InvIT has issued iis Unit to holders upon completh of IPO in March 2024 and accordingly, EFU disclosure in corresponding and comparative period is not
applicable and hence not given.
#+ The InvIT does not have any ling dilutive p tial i ts.

(B) Statement of Contingent Liabilities
The InvIT has no contingent liabilities as at March 31,2024 {March 31,2023 Nil)

(F) Statement of Commitments
The InvIT has no outstanding commitment as at March 31, 2024 {March 31, 2023 : Nil)

1G) Statement of Related Party Transactions:
1 thd'nhltdpmlﬂuwlherqukmmudlnda\su-hlmdl’mDixlmmdwhﬂmm]{n)duwlul'rkqvhﬂm
Following are the related parties, Jationship and i erexd with related parties given below:

| Subsidiary Companies

a) v B P y Private Limited (w .e.f March 1, 2024)

b) GR Phagwara Expressway Limited (w.e.f March 1, 2024)

¢) GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limited (w.ef March 1, 2024)
d) GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited (w.e.f March 1, 2024)

¢) GR Sangli Solapur Highway Private Limited (w.e.f March 1,2024)

f) Porbandar Dwarka Exp y Private Limited (w.e.f March 1,2024)

g) GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited (w.ef March 1, 2024)

11 Entity with significant influence over the InvIT
a) G R Infraprojects Limited (w.e.f March 1, 2024)

111 Parties of Trast
a) Aadharshila Infratech Private Limited - Sponsor and Profect Manager (w.e£. 31.10.2023)
b) GR Highways Investment Manager Privale Limited - Investment Manager (w.e.f.21.07.2022)
<) IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited - Trustee (w.ef. 21.07.2022)

v mwmﬂwdhwmﬂhmMz
Spansor and Project G5 e

Paticulars i s Trihoe
a) Promotors Riya Agarwal Tokesh Builders Private Timited (w.e 12.12.2022) TDBI Bank Limited
Rahul Agarwal G R Infraprojects Limited (upto 12.12.2022) Life Insurance Corporation of India
Mehul Agarwal General Insurance Corporation of India
b) Directors Rahul Agarwal ‘Ajendra Kumar Agarwal Fradeep Fumar Jain (w.ef. 24,03,2022)
Ramesh Chandra Mehta Siba Narayan Nayak Samuel Joseph Jebaraj (resigned w.e.k 18.04.2023)
Kishan Kantibai Vachhani Deepak Maheshwari Madhuri J. Kulkarni (resigned w.ef, 06.12.2022)
Raghav Chandra Baljinder Kaur Mandal ( w.ef. 17.01.2023)
Gywati Kulkarni ( w.e.f. 13 June 2023) Pradeep Kumar Malhotra ( wie.f. 14.12.2022)
Ramesh Chandra w.e.f. 13 June 2023 ayakumar S. Pillai (w.e.f. 18,07.2023
c) Partners Not applicable Mot applicable Not applicable

V Key Managerial Personnel

a) Amit Kumar Singh - Chief Executive Officer of Investment manager
b) Harshael Sawant _ Chief Financial Officer of Investment manager

¢) Mohnish Dutta - Company Secretary of Investment manager

2 Transactions with the related E‘ﬁ_l_! Il_I_l:i_l! the !lll“ ﬂ&‘ (@ i million)
Half ended Year ended | Forthe
T6jun 202210

31 Mar 2024 30 Sep 2023 31 Mar 2023 31 Mar 2024

[Audited) | (Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Unandited)
er note 9) | (refer note 9) (refer note B) (refer note 9) refer note 8|

Particulars

a) Tssue of unit capital

Aadharshila Infratech Private Limited 6,645.00 - - 6,645.00
G R Infraprojects Limited 19,293.87 . - 19,293.67 ,
=
SIGNED FOR IDENTIFICATION o
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Registered office: Novus Tower, Second Floor,

Bharat Highways InvIT
Plot No. 18, Sector

E-mail: csBbk

itcom; Website: www.bl

SEBI Registration Number: IN/InvIT/ 0.23/0023

STATEMENT OF AUDITED STANDALONE FINANCIAL INFO

7 ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES AS REQUIRED BY PARAGRAPH 6 OF CHAFTER 4

DECEMBER 2023
(G) Statement of Related Party Transactions:

2 _mmcﬂoﬂwilhtbenhudwﬁnﬂmmewapeﬂud:

RMATION FOR THE HALF YEAR AND

YEAR ENDED

18, Gurugram, Haryana 122 015, India
it.com, Tel: +91 85888 55566

i —— T

MARCH 31, 2024

TO THE SEBI CIRCULARS AND SE‘BL’IIQ’DDHS—!‘OD{UWB]’IM dated 06

(€ in million,
Half year ended - =
16 Jun 2022 to
Particulars 31 Mar2024 | 30 Sep2023 31 Mar2023 | 31Mar2028 | 5y pior 2003
{Andited) (Unandited) {Unaudited) (Audited) (Unandited)
refer note refer note 9)| (refer note 8) (refer note 9) !m’umlesl
b) Loan given
Varanasi Sangam Expressway Private Limited 404494 4,040.94
GR Phagwara Expressway Limited 3,063.10 - 306310
GR Gundugolanu Devarapalll Highway Private Limited 6,745.93 - - 6,745.93 -
GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited 2877.65 - - 287765 -
GR Sangli Solapur Highway Privale Limited 3,364.03 - 3,364.03 -
Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited 4,790.93 - - 4,790.93
GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited 398642 - 398642 -
¢) Investment acquired
G R Infraprojects Limited (Refer note 5) 13,753.04 13,753.04
d) Loanto subsidiaries assigned
G R Infraprojects Limited (Refer note 5) 554083 5,540.83
¢) Bomowings taken
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 59.10 6.58 2545 65.68 2545
f) Borrowings paid
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 6021 - 60.21 -
g) Inlerest income on lpans
j Sangam Exp y Private Limited 3032 - 30.32
GR Phagwara Expressway Limited 3245 - 3245 -
GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limited 67.94 - - 67.94
GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited 2553 . - 2553 -
GR Sangli Solapur Highway Private Limited 3634 36.34 -
Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited 54.47 - 5447 -
GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited 48,09 - 4809 -
h) Interest expense on borrowings
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 199 1.2 in
i) Investment fees
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 4.89 - 4.89 -
j) Trustee fees
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited 0.29 030 059
k) Guarantees given on behalf of lavIT
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 25.00 25,00 -
1) Reimi t of exp (inrludln;iau:nmdupmu]
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 24031 - 4987 24031 49.87
G R Infraprojects Limited 3.62 - 362 -
m) Issue expenses
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited - = - 048
3 Outstan amount - payable/ receivable as at the end of the (@ i million)
Half year ended Year ended | Forthe
16 Jun 2022 to
Particulars 31 Mar2024 | 30 Sep2023 |  31-Mar23 3 Mar2028 | o v o023
(Audited) (Unaudited) {Unaudited) {Aundited) {Unaudited)
refer note note 9)| (refer note §) (refer nute 9) er note 8
3) Other payable
GR Highways Investment Manager Frivate Limited 17733 45.65 45.65 17733 4565
G R Infraprojects Limited 33 - - 331 -
b) Trade payable
GR Highways Ir ger Private Limited 447 447
¢) Outstanding loans (inclnding interest accrued)
i Sangam Exf y Private Limited 4,088.99 4,088.99
GR Phagwara Expressway Limited 3,654.12 = - 365412 -
GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limited 7875.67 - - 7.875.67
GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited 343476 - . 3434706 -
GR Sangli Solapur Highway Private Limited 4,05945 405945
Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited 6,07955 6,079 .
GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited 5,240.37 5,240.37
d) Outstanding borrowing (including interest accrued)
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited =20 3325 545 3381
¢) Outstanding guarantees given on behalf of TawIT
GR Highgroye - 25.00 25.00

PURPOSES ONLY

SRBC & CO LLP




Bharat Highways InvIT =
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7 ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES AS REQUIRED BY PARAGRAFH 6 OF CHAPTER 4 TO THE SEBI CIRCULARS AND SE'BWWDD}!S»ND{GMH dated 06
DECEMBER 2023

4 Detailsin volvi h 4.4 of Cha HSmﬁESEBlChmlaﬂlteas!oihwm—

b)

€

d)

10

11

12

Year ended | _For the period

J1Mar2028 | 3ias oass
Refer below | [ o Refer below
note (a tod) No Acquisitiof No Acq note (a to d)
No Disposal | No Disposal | No Disposal | No Disposal
S dent valuer):
Method of valuation m’[f;:z‘g“
Discounted Cash Flow 759%
Discounted Cash Flow 759%
GR Phagwara Expressway Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.59%
GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.59%
R Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 759%
Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 759%
Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.59%
mhlmﬁﬁmuabupﬂnuh relation to the transactions:
Tlmmmupmmmldcundiuonsfobﬂptbnuwhhdmabwmmﬂouoﬂurﬂw gulatory approvals btained by the InviT.

mudmﬁ:mﬂmﬂmmm nmmdfwmmwuqﬂsﬂiou;
No external financing obtained for the acquisition by the InviIT,

J\ny!murmmh{numﬂudurmhemhdbymmﬂhdmmwmhuhﬁmwmnumudnn
'nmhmfenormumﬁnlmm:mﬁ!d!rummy.mdlhnlll!n!l\adplﬂyinnhﬁunmahwmmxﬂnn

Thelmrl'rwuselupnn‘a&]ummﬂnmlnwablemwerﬂuIndilnTrnsMcLIam.l-lowwer.nmmmhnucﬁnmhhpurpmofmdamﬂnmdnl
lnfoﬂnlunniurﬂupmbdlﬁ]ummwmmai.mmmmﬁpmhawhm tisclosed in the comparati hul[ywmdrduanhal,Mmdlumepeﬂod
from June 16, 2032 o March 31, 2023, which are as compiled by uunagcmmndlppmedbymrd of Directors of Investment Manager but have not been subjected to
audit or review.

The TnvIT has acquired SPVs by issuing units on Mamhhi[llimdmmludrdﬂsh‘rlthlpﬂhihuﬂurpromﬁmMm:h llZﬂ!&m«v.hﬁguwhr!thyurmd
ended March 31, 2024 are nol comy ble with P "_,hlﬂyutmﬂndMlxhﬂ,m.!mdpetbdfmm_{umlﬁ,mmh!mhal.ml'nrlhe!:lhe
dalone financial informati I‘ntl.hehnl!ywmdederch:!‘l.Mbdnguahnhrdngﬂpuubﬂwmhwdihdﬁgnmmr:spe:!ol‘\hefu\lllmn:lalyeatmdnd
Mnld!31.”241:16ll‘lunaudl\ndywhdmﬁgumupw&pﬁmberw,m.bdnghdlhofwenddﬂ!hullyearo(ﬂwnmlﬁmnﬁnlym.whkhhlubeen

pmpandwk]yhudmﬂehﬂnrmaﬁmu; piled by the g ‘md:ppmwdbymdmmﬁm;ﬂandhmemthmmmdmmdhormwA

Other expenses mainly include legal and professional fees, listing expenses and other miscellaneous expenses.

Investor can view the audited falone financial inf tion of the InvIT for the half year and year ended March 31, 2024 on the TnvIT's website www.bharatinvit.com
or on the website of the stock exchange www bseindia.com and www.nseindia.com.

The Board of directors of Ir ent ger in their meeting on May 28, 2024 have approved distribution of Rs 3,00 per unit to the unitholders, which comprises of Rs.

I‘.l.&ﬂpan‘nilInﬂwlumnfh\wﬁtis.lﬂmunllhhh:nddhidaﬂ.hﬂﬂpwunllmhhrmn(olhertrrnmemd bahmmN‘Ilpﬂumhﬂ!foﬂndaplui
repayment for the year, which is payable within 15 days from the date of declaration.

l’mmdmuha!t’ninwdufm:mulnf
GR Highway tment Manager Private Limited
Investment Manager to Bharal Highways InwIT)

SIGNED FOR IDENTIFICATION
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21st Floor, B Wing, Privilon
S R B C & CO LLP Ambli BRT Road, Behind Iskcon Temple

Off SG Highway, Ahmedabad - 380 059, India

Tel : +91 79 6608 3900

Chartered Accountants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Unit Holders of Bharat Highways InvIT

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of Bharat Highways InvIT (“the InvIT"), which
comprise the Balance sheet as at March 31 2024, the Statement of Profit and Loss, including other comprehensive
income, the Statement of Changes in Unit Holder's Equity, the Statement of Cash Flow for the year then ended, the
Statement of Net Assets at fair value as at March 31, 2024, the Statement of Total Returns at fair value, the Statement
of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs") of the InvIT for the year then ended, and a summary of material accounting
policies and other explanatory notes (hereinafter referred to as “the standalone financial statements").

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid
standalone financial statements give the information required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time including circulars, notifications,
clarifications and guidelines issued thereunder (together referred as the "InvIT Regulations™) in the manner so
required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the
state of affairs of the InvIT as at March 31, 2024, its profit including other comprehensive income, its cash movements
and its movement of the unit holders' funds for the year ended March 31, 2024, its net assets at fair value as at March
31, 2024, its total returns at fair value and the net distributable cash flows of the InvIT for the year ended March 31,
2024.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the standalone financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs),
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further
described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements’ section of our report.
We are independent of the InvIT in accordance with the ‘Code of Ethics’ issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the standalone financial
statements under the provisions of the InviT Regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the standalone financial statements.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to note 8(e) which describes the presentation / classification of “Unit Capital” as “Equity” instead
of the applicable requirements of Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation, in order to comply with the relevant
InvIT regulations. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the

standalone financial statements for the financial year ended March 31, 2024. These matters were addressed in the

context of our audit of the standalone financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do

not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed
he.matter is provided in that context.

etermined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. We
d the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the standalone financial
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
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performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
standalone financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including those procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying standalone financial
statements.

Key audit matters

l How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Acquisition of subsidiaries (as described in note 3(c) and 9 of the standalone financial statements)

During the year, the InvIT has acquired 100% stake in seven
subsidiaries from GR Infraprojects Limited (GRIL) against the
same, the InvIT has issued its units of 13,75,30,405 with
issue price of INR 100 per unit. Further, the InvIT has
entered into assignment agreement dated February 20,
2024 with for assignment of its unsecured loan receivable
from above subsidiaries of INR 5,540.83 million in exchange
of 5,54,08,300 units with issue price of INR 100 per unit
which resulting in GRIL holding 43.56% stake in the InvIT.

The Investment manager has made evaluation of the
transaction both from legal compliance and accounting
perspective. Key matters for accounting evaluation include
(a) whether the acquisitions is to be considered as common
control transaction which in turn involves evaluation of
control and relationship between InvIT's Sponsor and GRIL,
(b) assessment of fair value of investment on the date of
acquisition, and (c) accounting for difference, if any, arising
between fair value of investment acquired and consideration
paid. Based on the above evaluation, the Investment
manager has accessed and concluded that the acquisition
should be accounted as fair valuation and difference
recorded as capital reserve amounting to INR 5,656.26
million. The above transaction involves significant
assumptions and judgement and accordingly the same has
been considered as key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included the following:

Read and assessed the InvIT's accounting policies
with respect to acquisition accounting.

Obtained and read through legal opinion obtained
to evaluate its relationship between Sponsor and
GRIL.

Read and evaluated the key terms of the
underlying agreements applicable to the
acquisitions along with the necessary approvals,
as applicable, for the acquisition.

Obtained management's evaluation relating to
assessment of whether the acquisition s
considered at fair value instead of transaction
value and record difference in capital reserve.

Obtained and read the fair valuation reports
issued by the independent valuer engaged by the
management for measuring, the assets acquired,
and liabilities assumed, at fair value. Enquired
valuer regarding specific reasons for difference
between fair value of net assets acquired and
consideration paid and also assessed the
independent valuer's objectivity and
independence.

Involved valuation specialists to review the
significant assumptions used by the independent
valuer engaged by the management in arriving at
the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired.

Assessed the related disclosures and compliance
in the standalone financial statements regarding
the acquisition.

Impairment Assessment of InvIT's Interest in subsidiaries (

financial statements)

as described in note 2.2 (h) and 3 of the standalone

As at March 31, 2024, the InviT had investment in
operational HAM assets aggregating to INR 19,409.30
million which are operated under concession agreement.

)

any

requirement of Ind AS 36 “Impairment of assets”, the
ment reviews at each reporting period existence of
jcators of impairment of the investments in

Our audit procedures included but were not limited to:

Assessed the InviT's accounting policies with
respect to impairment in accordance with Ind AS
36 “Impairment of assets".

We obtained understanding the InvIT's valuation
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Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

subsidiaries and where impairment indicators exist, the
investment manager estimates the recoverable amounts of
the investments, being higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. The value in use of the underlying
businesses is determined based on the discounted cash flow
projections.

Significant judgements are required to determine the key
assumptions used in the discounted cash flow models, such
as annuity, Interest rate, discount rate, future operating
income and cost as well as finance cost based on investment
manager's view of future business prospects.

Accordingly, the impairment of investment in operational
HAM asset operated under concession arrangement was
determined to be a key audit matter in our audit of the
standalone financial statements.

methodology applied by the investment manager
in determining the recoverable amount of its
investment and obtained management
assessment of the recoverable amount of the
investments.

Obtained the financial model and understood the
key assumptions around the cash flow forecasts
like annuity, interest rate, discount rate, future
operating income and cost as well as finance
costs.

In performing the above procedures, we used our
valuation specialists to perform an independent
review of methodology and key assumptions
used in the valuation.

Performed testing and sensitivity analysis of key
assumptions.

Tested the arithmetical accuracy of the model.

Read and assessed the adeguacy of the
disclosures made in the standalone financial
statements.

Fair Value under InvIT Regulations

Computation and disclosures relating to Statement of Net Assets at Fair Value and Statement of Total Returns at

The InvIT is required to disclose Statement of Net Assets at
Fair Value and Statement of Total Returns at Fair Value
pursuant to paragraph 5.2 of Chapter 4 to the Securities
Exchange Board of India (SEBI) master circular no.
SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 Dated July 06,
2023 as amended including any Guideline and Circulars
issued thereunder (“SEBI Circulars™) which requires fair
valuation of the assets. Such fair valuation has been carried
out by the independent valuer appointed by the InvIT.

For the purpose of the above, fair value is determined by
forecasting and discounting future cash flows.

The processes and methodologies for assessing and
determining the fair value is based on complex assumptions,
that by their nature imply the use of the management's
judgment, in particular with reference to assumptions used
in the discounted cash flow models, such as annuity, interest
rate, discount rate and future operating cost based on
management’s view of future business prospects.

Considering the judgment involved in determination of fair

lues due to inherent uncertainty and complexity of the
‘| @ tions used, accordingly, this is considered as a key
a tter.

*0

Our audit procedures included but were not limited

Read the requirements of InvIT requlations for
disclosures relating to Statement of Net Assets at
Fair Value and Statement of Total Returns at Fair
Value.

Obtained understanding of the InvIT's policy on
the assessment and valuation methodology
applied in determining the fair valuation including
preparation of statement of Net Assets at Fair
Value and Statement of Total Returns at Fair
Value as per SEBI Circulars.

We obtained and read the valuation report by the
InviT's independent valuation expert, and
assessed the expert's competence, capability and
objectivity.

Obtained the fair valuation model and
understood the key assumptions around the cash
flow forecasts like annuity, interest rate,
discount rate and future operating costs.

We tested on sample basis that the annuity
receivable including interest thereon and
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

operating cost over period of concession
agreement considered in the respective fair
valuation models are in agreement with
Concession agreement and as certified by
independent engineers appointed by Authority
and other relevant supporting documents.

« In performing the above procedures, we used our
valuation specialists to perform an independent
review of methodology and key assumptions
used in the valuation.

« Tested the arithmetical accuracy of the fair
valuation model.

« Read and assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures made in the standalone financial
statements.

Information Other than the Standalone Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon

The Management of GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited (the “Investment Manager™) is responsible for
the other information other than the standalone financial statements and auditor's report thereon. The other
information other than the standalone financial statements and auditor's report thereon comprises the information
included in the Annual Report but does not include the standalone financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information other than the standalone
financial statements and auditor’s report thereon and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
other than the standalone financial statements and auditor's report thereon and, in doing so, consider whether such
other information other than the standalone financial statements and auditor's report thereon is materially
inconsistent with the standalone financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information other than the standalone financial statements and auditor's report thereon, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management for the Standalone Financial Statements

The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager are responsible for the preparation and presentation of these
standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance including
other comprehensive income, cash movements and the movement of the unit holders' funds for the year ended March
31, 2024, the net assets at fair value as at March 31, 2024, the total returns at fair value of the InvIT and the net
distributable cash flows of the InvIT in accordance with the requirements of the InvIT Regulations; the Indian
Accounting Standards as defined in Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as
amended), and other accounting principles generally accepted in India.. This responsibility also include the design,
implementation and maintenance of adequate controls for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting
records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the standalone financial statements that give a true and fair
iew and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

3/ ing the standalone financial statements, the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager is responsible for
q the ability of the InvIT to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
|
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concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the InvIT or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Director of Investment Manager are also responsible for overseeing the InviT's financial reporting
process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone financial statements as a whole are

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these standalone financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing opinion on effectiveness of the entity's
internal controls.

»  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

*  Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the ability of the InvIT to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
standalone financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the InvIT to cease to continue as a going concern.

*  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the standalone financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the standalone financial statements for the financial year ended March 31, 2024 and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes

ic disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
unicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Other Matter

The financial statements of the InvIT for the period from June 16, 2022 to March 31, 2023 included as comparative
financial information in the accompanying standalone financial statements have been prepared solely based on the
information as compiled by the investment Manager and approved by the Board of Directors of Investment Manager
and has not been subjected to audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Based on our audit and as required by InvIT Regulations, we report that;

A. We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief
were necessary for the purpose of our audit;

B. The Standalone Balance Sheet, and the Statement of Standalone Profit and Loss are in agreement with the books
of account; and

C. In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards (Ind AS)
and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 2(1Xa) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules,
2015, as amended.

ForSRBC&COLLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAI Firm Registration Number: 324982E/E300003

=z

per Sukrut Mehta

Partner

Membership Number: 101974
UDIN: 24101974BKERTK4060

Place of Signature: Ahmedabad
Date: May 28, 2024
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Bharat Highways InvIT

Standalone Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2024
Al amosnts in Rupees willion unless otherwise stated

EARAT MRS BT

ICAT Firm's Registration No :3249222/2300!113

per Sukrut Mehta
Pariner
Membership No: 101974

Place : Ahmedabad
Date : May 28, 2024

Asat Asat
Notes 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 32)
Assets
Non-current assets
(a) Financial assels
(i) Investments 3 19,409.30
(i) Loans 4 31,99347 -
(ki) Other financial assels 5 567.68 &
Total Non-Current Assets 51,97045 .
Current assets
(a) Financial assets
(i) Cash and cash equivalents ] 036 0.09
{if) Bank balance other than (i) above ] 47356 -
(iii) Loans 4 243944
(iv) Other financial assets 5 25.00 .
(h) Other current assets 7 0.14 7797
Total Current Assets 2,938.50 78.06
‘Total Assets gl E ? 78,06
Equity and labilities
Equity
(a) Corpus contribution 0m 0.0
(b) Unitcapital 8 4376152 -
(c) Other equity 9 589242 -
Total Unit Holders' Equity 49,653.95 0.0
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
(a) Financial liabilities
(i) Borrowings 10 4,612.18 -
Total Non-Current Liabilities 464218 -
Current lHabilities
() Financial liabilities
(i) Borrowings 1 204.39 2545
(1) Trade payables 12
(a) Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises ; =
(b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 9.53
(iii) Other financial liabilities 13 361.02 4745
(b) Other current liabilities 14 3745 515
{c) Liabilities far current tax (net) 15 0.43 -
Total Current Liabilities 612,82 TB.05
Total Liabilities 78.05
Total Equity and Liabilities 54,906.95 78.06
Summary of material accounting policies 22
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these lalone financial ts
As per our report of even date
ForSRBC & COLLP For and on behalf of Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limiled

(As an Investment Manager to Bharat Highways InvIT)

wie Aot b.)@

Kiba Navak Amit Kumar Singh

Director Chief Executive Otficer

DIN: 01832348

Place : Gurugram Place : Gurugram

Date : May 28, 2024 Date : May 28, 2024
L o\

f‘- Sh@. . H S L\
Harshael Sawant Dutta y
Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

1CS1 Mem. No, FCS10411
Place : Gurugram Place : Gurugram

Date : May 28, 2024 Date : May 28, 2024




Bharat Highways InvIT e
Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2024
Al amosnts in Rupees million unless otheruise stated

Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
Ts 10 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 32)
1 Incomes and gains:
(a) Interest income on loan given to subsidiaries 16 20513
(b) Interest income on deposit with banks 16 131 -
Total income and gain 29644 -
il Expenses and losses:
() Valuation expenses 130
(b) Audit fees 4.13
(c) Investment management fees 17 489 -
(d) Trustee fee 0.59
(&) Finance cosis 18 21.50 -
(f) Other expenses 19 731 -
Total expenses 59.72 -
M Profit before tax (I-1T) 23672 -
IV Tax expense: 20
{a) Current tax 0.56 -
(b) Deferred tax charge - -
Total tax expenses 056 -
V Net profit for the year/ period (III-IV) 236,16 -
V1 Other comprehensive income ("OCI%)
(a) Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent years [period (net of tax) - -
tb]Immllwillbemhﬁﬁedmpmﬁlarb:hwhqumym/pﬁbd(mdhx) - -
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) - =
VHTMmeeMemmmunywydod.mldm{Vﬁ'n 236.16 .
Earnings per unil (isswe value of Rs. 100 each) {in T)
Basic n 742
Diluted 742 -
Summary of material accounting policies 22
The accompanying notes are an integral part of These standalone financial statements
As per our report of even date
ForSRBC & COLLP For and on behalf of Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited
ICAI Firm's Regjstration No :324982E / E300003 {As an Investment Manager to Bharat Highways InvIT)
-
per Sukrut Mehta Siba Nayak Amit Kumar Singh
Partner Director Chief Executive Officer
Membership No: 101974 DIN: 01832348
Place : Gurugram Place : Gurugram
Date : May 28, 2024 Date : May 28, 2024
3 M o\——-:
< h
\\b- o
Harchanl Sawant Mohnish Dutta
Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
1CST Mem. No. FC510411
Place : Ahmedabad Place : Gurugram Place : Gurugram

Date : May 28, 2024 Date : May 28, 2024 Date : May 28, 2024
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Bharat Highways InvIT e
Standalone Statement of Changes in Unit Holders' Equity for the year ended March 31, 2024 ‘

Al amounts in Rupees million unless othermise stated i

A Unit Capital (Units of T100 each) Number of

Amo
units o

As at 16 June 2022 (refer note 32) = .
Add: Unit issued during the period (refer note §) 1 -
As at 31 March 2023 = -

As at1 April 2023

Add: Unit issued during the year (refer note 8) 44,29,38,605 44,203.86
Less Issue expenses (refer note 8) = (532.34)
As at 31 March 2024 44,29,38,605 43,761.52

B Other equity Reserves

Total

As al 16 June 2022 (refer note 32) - - -
Add: Profit for the period - P =
Total comprehensive income for the period - = 2
Less: Distributed during the period® - - -
As at 31 March 2023 - - -

As at1 April 2023 - - -
Add: Profit for the year 236.16 23616
Total comprehensive income for the year 236.16 -
Add : On account of acquisition (refer note 9(i)) - 5,656.26 5,656.26
Less: Distributed during the year (refer note below) - ~ 2
As at 31 March 2024 236.16 5,656.26 _m

* The InvIT has not made any distribution during the previous year.
Note:
1 The Board of directors of t ger in their i ,nnMnyZS\.m-ihaveappmeddhmﬂmufRsSmperummIlwunlﬂwlden.whh:hcomprhunik

DS\'.Ipu-unilinﬂtformo!wmk;?jﬂwuﬁth&mfomddwldmd.kl. Nil per unit in the form of other income and balance Rs. Nil per unit in the form of
capital repayment for the year, which is payable within 15 days from the date of declaration.

2 The distributions that will be made to unitholders will be based on the Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) ol InvIT under the InvIT Regulations.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these dalone financial st

As per our report of even dale
ForSRBC & COLLP For and on behalf of Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited
IC Al Firm's Regjistration No :324982E/ E300003 (As an Investment Manager to Bharat Highways InvIT)
-
» } bl ( o
o #"
per Sukrut Mehta an Nayak Amit Kumar Singh
Partner Director Chief Executive Officer
Membership No: 101974 DIN: 01832348
Place : Ahmedabad Place : Gurugram Place : Gurugram
Date : May 28, 2024 Date : May 26, 2024 Date : May 28, 2024
o b Mo\—s)
0SY
RO .
H Sawant Maohnish Dutta
Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
ICST Mem. No. FCS10411
Place : Gurugram Place : Gurugram

Date : May 28, 2024 Date: May 28, 2024




Bharat Highways InvIT =
Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2024 w
Al amounts in Rupers million unless otherwise stated

ARAT HIEHWATE T

Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refer Nole 32)
A Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 23672 -
Adjustment to reconcile profit before tax io net cash flows:
Interest income (296.44)
Finance costs 21.50 -
Operating (loss) before Working Capital changes (38.22) -
Adjustment for changes in working capital :
(Decrease) In financial and other assets (22.19) (2.95)
Increase in trade payables 953 -
Increase in financial and other labilities 230 515
Cash generated from operating activities (18.58) 220
Direct tax paid (net of refunds) (0.13) -
Net Cash (used in) / generated from operating activities (18.71) zi
B Cash Flows from Investing Activities
I in bank deposits having original maturity of more than three months (net) {566.50) -
Deposit in earmarked bank balance (473.56)
Loans given to subsidiaries (28.873.00)
Inlerest received 276.18 -

Net Cash (used in) investing activities

C Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds form Corpus contribution - 0.0
Proceeds from issue of units (refer note 4 below) 24,999.99 -
Issue expenses paid (143.75) (27.57)
Proceeds from non-current borrowings 487368
Repayment of non-current borrowings (60.92) -
Proceeds / (repayment) of current borrowings (net) 547 2545
Interest paid (18.61) =
Net cash generated from / (used in) financing activities BEG_ {211)
Met Increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+0) 027 0.09
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginni g of the year / period 0.09 -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year / period _036 0.09_
Notes:
1 Companents of cash and cash equivalents (refer note 6) As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Cash on hand 0.01 0.01
Balance with banks
in current account 035 0.08
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year / period 0.36 009
— ===

2 The above Standalone Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared under the *Indirect Method” as set out in Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) -7 "Statement of Cash
Flows",

3 mnphlhmmh;mmmnhhmdlﬁﬂsﬁ

As at Net cash
1 April 2023 flow Ochans”
Non-current borrowings ( including current maturities and interest) - 4,794.15
Current borrowings 2545 547
Total 2545 4,799.02
As at Net cash
1 April 2022 flow. .
Non-current borrowings { Including current maturities and interest) - -
Current borrowings = 2545
Total - 2545
« Others consist of interest accrual during the year/ period




Bharat Highways InvIT
Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2024
All amounis in Rupees million unless etheruwise stated

Notes (continued):

AT HISAATE ST

4 The TnvIT has acquired 100% equity stake in GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited, GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited, GR Gundugolanu

Devarapalli Highway Private Limited, GR Phagwara Expressway Limited, Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited, V

Ex Private

i et andl GR Sangli Solapur Highway Private Limited from G R Infraprofects Limited in exchange of lssuance of 13.75,30,405 its units as consideration. Additionally,
! i Centered with G R Infraprofects Limited dated February 20, 2024, InvIT has issued 5,54,08,300 units toward assignment of outstanding

B to assig] B!
unsecured loan of ¥ 5,540.83 million given by G R Infrag

jects Limited to subsidiary comp fes. The same being non-cash transaction is not reflected in standalone cash

flow statement.
5 Figures in brackets represent outflows,

Refer note 2.2 of y of material accounting policies.
‘As per our report of even date
ForSRBC & COLLP For and on behalf of Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants GR High Private Limited
ICAI Firm's Registration No :324962E / E300003 (Asanl Manager to Bharat Highways InvIT)

ot b v Z.ﬂ
per Sukrut Mehta yan Nayak Amit Kumar Singh
Partner Director Chief Executive Officer
Membership No: 101974 DIN: 01832348
Place : Gurugram Place : Gurugram

Date : May 28, 2024
W
P2
Harshael Sawant
Chief Financial Officer

Place : Ahmedabad

Place : Gurugram
Date ;: May 28, 2024

Date : May 28, 2024

Dale ; May 28, 2024
Mol——sh

Mohn

Company Secretary

ICS1 Mem, No, FCS10411
Place : Gurugram

Dhate : May 28, 2024




Bharat Highways InvIT
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars as at and for the year ended March 31, 2024
All amonints in Rupees million unless ofherwise staled vk

Security Exchange Board of India (SEBI) Master Circular No. SEBWQFDDHS-PGW;CIWMB dated 06 July 2023 and SEBI Circular No. SEBHO/DDHS-
PoD/CIR/2023/184 dated 06 December 2023 issued under the InvIT Regulations, as amended including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder ("SEBI Circulars")

A. Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flow (NDCT)

Year ended For the period
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
Particulurs to 31 March 2023
- (Refer Note 32)
Cashflows from operating activities of the InvIT (18.71) -
Add: Add: Cash flows received from SPV's which represent distributions af NDCF computed as per relevant framework * 1,656.06 -
Add: Treasury income / income from investing activities of the InvIT (interest income received from FD, any investment entities 012 -
as defined in Regulation 18(5) of the SEBI InvIT Regulations, tax refund, any other income in the nature of interest, profit on
sale of mutual funds, investments, assets etc., dividend income etc., excluding any Ind AS adjusiments which will be
considered on a cash receipt basis
Add: Troceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, nfrastructure assets or shares of SPVs or investment enlity adjusted for
the following
+ Applicable capital gains and other taxes - =
+ Related debis settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds - -
+ Directly attributable transaction costs - -
« P d d or pl d to be 1 as per Regulati 18(7) of the SEBI InvIT Regulations or any other - -
relevant provisions of the InvIT Hons
Add: Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPV's or investment entity not - -
distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re-invest as per Regulation 18(7) of the SEBI InvIT Regulations or any other
relevant provisions of the SEBI InvIT Regulati if such p ds are not intended to be ted subsequently
Total Cash inflow at the LnvIT level (A 1,637.47 Z
Less: Debl repayment at InvIT level (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMT's except if refinanced through new -
debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repay / debt refinanced through new debt in any form or
funis raised through issuance of units) (60.92)
Less: any reserve required o be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in accordance with, any:
(i) loan agreement entered with financial institution; or (196.50) -
(i) terms and conditions, ¢ or any other stipulath pplicabl to debt securities issued by the InvIT or any of its -
SPVs; or -
{iil) terms and conditions, ¢ is or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed by the - -
InvIT or any of its SPVs; or
(iv) agreement pursuant to which the InvIT operates or owns the ture assel, or g or cashil -
from such asset (such as, concession ag fsslon services ag t power purchase agreement, lease
agreement, and any other agreement of a like nature, by whatever name called); or
stal dicia ulatory, or governmental lations - -
Less: Anyrapihlexpmdihmunnhﬂngmuuwmdflemdbyunlmﬂ.mﬂeenmtmmnd!dbydublfquitywhum - -
contractual reserves created in the earlier years
Tmmwaﬁwn&e InvIT level (B) .92) -
et Diswibutable Cash Flows (G- (A):B) s -

===
+ Includes dividend received from SPVs subsequent to year end amounting lo € 1,380.00 million considered as per note 1 of circular SEBI/HO/DDHS/DDHS-
PoD/ P/CTR/2023/184 dated December 6, 2023.




Bharat Highways InvIT
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circ
All amounts in Rupees willion unless otherwise stated

Security Exchange Board of India
PoD/CIR/2023/184 dated 06 December 2023 issued under the InvIT Regulations,
Circulars”)

B Statement of Net Assets at Fair Value

alars as at and for the year ended March 31, 2024

(SEBI) Master Circular No. SEBYHO/DDHS-Pol

T
P —

BARAT HEBEIVATS BT

2023 and SEBI Circular No. SEB/HO/DDHS-
ines and circulars issued thereunder ("SEB1

D-/P/CIR2023/115 dated 06 July
as amended including any guidel

Asat As at
Particulars 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 32)

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
1 Assets 54,908.95 55,802.78 78.06 78.06
11 Liabilities (at book value) 5,255.00 5,255.00 78.05 78,05
1l Net Assets (I-11) 49,653.95 50,547.78 o.M 0.01
IV No. of units (in absolute numbers) (Refer Note (i) below and B) 44,29,38,605 44,29,38,605 - -
V__ NAV (m/ A ] [Mﬂ‘ note (i) below) 11210 114.12 -
Notes:

I As the units have been issued during the year
in the comparative perind ended March 31, 2023,
The fair value of assets as at 31 March
under the InvIT Regulations.

Fair values of assets have been arrived by the va

C  Statement of Total Return at Fair Value [refer note (i) below]

ended March 31, 2024, accordingly, d

2024 is based solely on the fair valuation report dated May 27, 2024 of the ind

isclosures in respect of number of units and NAV per unit have not been presented

1 &M

¥ oeed b T
P valuer apy by I

luer after adding the cash and cash equivalents, investments, efc in the enlerprise value.

Particulars Year ended For the period
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
1o 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 32)
Tmamwdmdwwm(hwh&nmmdhdnlndhﬂ 236,16 -
Add“ﬁoumqlm;ﬁinhir\'duem-n gni ‘lnTutllCmmlumMImnme(ulum&bﬂw} $93.83 -
Total Return 1,129.99 =

Notes :
i As all the subsidiaries have been acquired in the current year |refer note 3(b)).

ii In the above statement, other changes in fair value for the year ended March 31,
and February 29, 2024 which are based salely on the valuation reports dated May

i Sensitivity analysis with

hence, (here is no change in the fair value disclosed in the previous year.

2024 has been computed based on the fair values of total assets as at March 31, 2024
27, 2024 of the independent valuer and has been relied upon by the auditors.

respect to significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement has been disclosed in Note 26

tal

financial

ﬂnmp:nymanm“mimn!pmﬁnﬂe
As per our report of even date

ForSRBC & COLLP
Chartered Accountants

ICAI Firm's Registration No jﬁ?ﬂﬂmﬂ
»

-z,

per Sukrut Mehta
Partner

Membership Ne: 101974
Place : Ahmedabad
Date : May 28, 2024

For and on behalf of Board of Directors of
GR Highway ager Private Limited
(Mnlmmenlhhnaguhnbwu Highways InvIT)

“)A’
Siba an Nayak Amit Kumar Singh
Director Chief Executive Officer
DIN: 01832348

Place : Gurugram
Date : May 28, 2024

pos

Place ; Gurugram
Date : May 28, 2024

ﬁUS"--—-{J W

Harshael Sawanl Mohnish Dutta

Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
Mem. No. FCS10411

Place ; Gurugram Place : Gurugram

Date ; May 28, 2024 Date ; May 28, 2024

.:B‘,.n \a./gv
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Bharat Highways InvIT
Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024

1. InvIT Information

Bharat Highways InvIT (‘the InvIT’) was set up as ail irrevocable trust under the Indian Trust Act, 1882

pursuant to Trust Deed dated 16 June 2022 which was subsequently amended by First Amended and
Restated Indenture of Trust dated December 8, 2022 and further amended on October 31, 2023. The InvIT
has been settled for an initial sum of Z 10,000. The InvIT has been registered as an Infrastructure Investment
Trust with Securities Exchange Board of India (‘SEBI') under the Securities Exchange Board of India
(Infrastructure [nvestment Trust) Regulations, 2014 vide Certificate of Registration (IN/InvIT/22-23 /0023)
dated 3 August 2022.

The Trustee to the InvIT is TDBI Trusteeship Services Limited (the “Trustee”), Sponsor and project manager
of the InvIT is Aadharshila Infratech Private Limited (the “Sponsor” or “Project Manager”) and Investment
manager for the InvIT is GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited subsidiary of Lokesh Builders
Private Limited (the "Investment Manager”). The registered office of the InvIT is located at Novus Tower,
Second Floor, Plot No. 18, Sector 18, Gurugram, Haryana-12201 5, India. The InvIT’s units got listed on NSE
and BSE stock exchange on 12 March 2024.

The object and purpose of the InvIT, as described in the Trust Deed, is to carry on the activity of an
infrastructure investment trust as permissible under SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations,
2014 as amended from time to time including circulars, notifications, clarifications and guidelines issued
thereunder to raise funds through the InvIT, to make investments in accordance with the InvIT Regulations
and the investment strategy and to carry on the activities as may be required for operating the InvIT,
including incidental and ancillary matters thereto. The principal activity of InvIT is to own and invest in
infrastructure assets primarily in the road sector in India through special purpose vehicles with the objective
of producing stable and sustainable distributions to unitholders.

As at March 31, 2024, the InvIT has the following operational entities (‘Special Purpose Vehicles’ or ‘SPVs’)
which has principal activities of construction and operation of national highways projects on Build Operate

and Transfer basis (BOT):
Country of % of holding as on
Name of the company incorporati 31 March 31 March
on 2024 2023

GR Phagwara Expressway Limited® India 100.00 -
Varanasi Sangam Expressway Private Limited* India 100.00 -
Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited” India 100.00 -
GR Sangli Solapur Highway Private Limited* India 100.00 %
GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited” India 100.00 -
GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limited* India 100.00 -
GR Dwarka Devariya Highways Private Limited* India 100.00 -

*Acquired during the financial year 2023-24.

The Standalone Financial Statements were approved for issue in accordance with resolution passed by the
- Board of Directors of the Investment Manager, a ing on behalf of the InvIT on May 22, 2024.

2. Material Accounting Policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

Standalone financial statements are the separate financial statements of the InvIT comprise of the
) Ione Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2024, the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss including the
9\ 1\t of Other Comprehensive Income, the Standalone Statement of Changes in Unit Holde

] ctandalone Statement of Cash Flow for the year then ended, the Standalone Statement of/ABEASsels
T
]




Bharat Highways InvIT
Notes to Standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024

22

at fair value as at March 31, 2024, the Standalone Statement of Total Returns at fair value and the Statement
of Net Distributable Cash Flows (‘NDCFs’) of the InvIT for the year then ended and a summary of material
accounting policies and other explanatory notes (collectively, the “Standalone Financial Statements”)
prepared in accordance with requirement of SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as
amended from time to time including circulars, notifications, clarifications and guidelines issued
thereunder (“InvIT Regulations”) and SEBI Master Circular No. SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-
2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated 06 July 2023 and SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/DDHS- PoD/CIR/2023/184
dated 06 December 2023 issued under the SEBI InvIT Regulations ("SEBI Circulars"); Indian Accounting
Standards as defined in Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015(as
amended) and other accounting principles generally accepted in India. The InvIT has prepared the financial
statements on the basis that it will continue to operate as a going concern.

The Standalone Financial Statements have been prepared on a historical cost convention and on an accrual
basis except for certain financial assets and liabilities which has been measured at fair value (refer
accounting policy regarding financial instruments).

The Standalone Financial Statements are presented in INR, which is the functional currency of the InvIT.
The InvIT does not have any foreign operation and has assessed the functional currency to be INR. All
values are rounded to the nearest Million rupees, unless otherwise indicated. Certain amounts that are
required to be disclosed and do not appear due to rounding-off are expressed as 0.00. The standalone
financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous period.

Summary of material accounting policies
The following are the material accounting policies applied by InvIT in preparing its Standalone financial
statements:
a. Current versus non-current classification
InvIT presents assets and liabilities in the Balance Sheet based on current/non-current classification. An
asset is current when it is:

* Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle;

¢ Held primarily for the purpose of trading;

* Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or

» Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at

least twelve months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

¢ Itis expected to be settled in normal operating cycle

e Itis held primarily for the purpose of trading

e Itis due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or

e There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting period

The terms of the liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of
equity instruments do not affect its classification.

All other liabilities are classified as non-current.




Bharat Highways InvIT
Notes to Standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024

Operating cycle

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash
and cash equivalents. The InvIT has ascertained its operating cycle being a period of twelve months for the
purpose of classification of assets and liabilities as current and non-current.

b. Financial instruments
i Initial recognition

Financial instruments ie. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities are recognised when the Company
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow characteristics and the Company’s
business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Company has applied the practical expedient, the Company initially
measures a financial instrument at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial instruments (other than financial instruments at fair value through profit or
loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial instruments. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial instruments assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

ii Financial Assets - Subsequent Measurement

The InvIT subsequently measures all financial assets at amortized cost (amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR)
using effective interest method except for financial assets carried at fair value through Profit and Loss
(FVTPL) or fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) which are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognized in profit or loss
or other comprehensive income respectively. The EIR amortisation is included in finance income in the profit
or loss. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the profit or loss.

Debt instruments at amortised cost - Loan to subsidiaries:

The InvIT has provided loan to subsidiaries are initially recognized at transaction value (fair value) and
subsequently measure at amortized cost using effective interest method.

iii Financial Assets - Derecognition

The InvIT is derecognizes financial asset primarily when the right to receive cash flows from the asset has
expired, or the InvIT has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’
arrangement; either a) the InvIT has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or b) the
InvIT has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

iv Financial Assets - Impairment

At each date of balance sheet, The InvIT assesses whether a financial asset carried at amortised cost are
credit-impaired. The InvIT applies the expected credit loss (ECL) model for measurement and recognition of
impairment losses. InvIT follows simplified approach for recognition of impairment allowance on all trade
receivable, The application of the simplified approach does not require InvIT to track changes in credit risk.
Rather, it recognizes impairment allowance based on lifetime. For all other financial assets, expected credit
losses are measured at an amount equal to the 12 month expected credit losses or at an amount equal to the
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Loss allowances for financial assets measured atamortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount
of the assets and recognized in the statement of profit and losses under the head of "Other Expenses”

v Financial liabilities - Classification
Financial liabilities issued by the InvIT are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability.

vi Financial liabilities - Subsequent Measurement

Loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using Effective Interest Rate (EIR),
except for financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. Amortisation arising on
unwinding of the financial liabilities as per EIR is included as a part of Finance Costs in the Statement of
Profit and Loss.

Financial liabilities recognised at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period with
any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognized in profit or loss.

vii Financial liabilities - Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit and loss.

viii Reclassification
The InvIT determines classification of financial assets and liabilities on initial recognition. After initial
recognition, no reclassification is made for financial assets, such as equity instruments designated at FVTPL

or FVOCI and financial liabilities. For financial assets which are debt instruments, a reclassification is made
only if there is a change in the business model for managing those assets.

ix Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when,
and only when, InvIT currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to
settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

¢. Fair values measurement

The InvIT measures financial instrument, such as investment in subsidiaries (including loan) as per InvIT
Regulations at fair values at each balance sheet date.

The InvIT’s management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement,
such as fair value of total assets, unquoted financial assets measured at fair value and for non-recurring fair
value measurement such as asset under the scheme of business undertaking.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would usethe asset in its highest and best use.
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The InvIT uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data
are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the
use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the Standalone financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the Standalone financial statements on a recurring basis, InvIT
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

External valuers are involved for valuation of significant assets, such as fair value of total assets, unquoted
financial assets and financial liabilities.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, InvIT has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis
of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as
explained above.

d. Investment in subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by another entity. The InvIT investments in its subsidiaries has
elected to recognise its investments in subsidiary companies at cost in accordance with the option available
in Ind AS 27, Separate financial statements. Accordingly, Investments are carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses (if any). Where an indication of impairment exists, the Company tests these investments
for impairment in accordance with the policy applicable to ‘Impairment of non-financial assets’ and the
carrying amount of the investment is assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable amount. On
disposal of investments in subsidiaries, the difference between net disposal proceeds and carrying amounts
are recognized in the statement of profit and loss.

e. Interest Income

For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost, interest income is recorded using effective interest
rate (EIR), which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts through
the expected life of the financial instruments or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset. Interest income is included in the statement of profit and loss.

J- Dividend income:

Income from dividend on investment is accrued in the year in which it is declared, whereby the InvIT’s right
to receive is established.

g. Taxes

Current income tax

Tax expense comprises current tax expense and deferred tax.

Current tax comprises of the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
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if any, related to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates (and tax laws) enacted or substantively enacted
by the reporting date.

The InvIT is a business trust registered under InvIT Regulation. Hence, the interest and dividend received
or receivable by the InvIT from its subsidiaries (being domestic Indian companies) is exempt from tax in case
of receipt from special purpose vehicle as defined under section 10(23FC) of the Income Tax Act, 1961.
Further, any expenditure incurred in relation to earning the exempt income is not tax deductible in view of
the provision of section 14A of the Income Tax Act. The Income of the InvIT, other than exempt income, is
chargeable to tax at the maximum marginal rate in force.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting
date. The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which InvIT expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is also recognised in respect of carried forward tax losses.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which they can be used. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences
except in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. The existence of unused tax losses is strong evidence
that future taxable profit may not be available. Therefore, in case of a history of recent losses, InvIT recognises
a deferred tax asset only to the extent that it has sufficient taxable temporary differences or there is
convincing other evidence that sufficient taxable profit will be available against which such deferred tax
asset can be realised. Deferred tax assets ~unrecognised or recognised, are reviewed at each reporting date
and are recognised/ reduced to the extent that it is probable/ no longer probable respectively that the related
tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities
and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on
different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets
and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Goods and service tax taxes paid on assets acquired or on enses incurred

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and service taxes paid, except: when the tax
incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case, the
tax paid is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable
or when receivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax included.

The netamount of tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables
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I. Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account.
If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are
corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available
fair value indicators.

i. Borrowing cost

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing
costs directly attributable to acquisition or construction of an asset which necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Capitalization
of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying assets for
their intended use are complete. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the Standalone
Statement of Profit and Loss in the period in which they are incurred.

j- Provisions and contingencies

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, InvIT has a present legal or constructive obligation
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation. Provisions are measured based on investment manager’'s estimate to settle the
obligation at the balance sheet date and are discounted the expected future cash flows (representing the best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date) at a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no
longer probable that the outflow of resources would be required to settle the obligation, the provision is
reversed.

Conlingencies

Contingent liability is a possible obligation arising from past events and whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the entity or a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognized because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

The InvIT does not recognize a contingent liability but discloses the same as per the requirements of Ind AS
37.

k. Unitholders’ equity

Under the provisions of the InvIT Regulations, the InvIT is required to distribute to unitholders not less than
90% of the net distributable cash flows of the InvIT for each financial year. Accordingly, Unit capital coptai
FeQntractual obligation to pay cash to unitholders. Thus, In accordance with requirement of Ind>2

ial Instruments: Presentation. the Unit Capital contain a liability element which should Yg
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and treated accordingly. However, SEBI Circulars require the Unit Capital to be presented/classified as
“Equity”, which is at variance from the requirements of Ind-AS 32.

In order to comply with the aforesaid SEBI requirements, the InvIT has presented unit capital as equity and
costs attributable to the issue of units have been reduced from the Unitholders capital in accordance with
Ind AS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

L. Distribution to unit holders

The InvIT recognises a liability to make cash distributions to unit holders when the distribution is authorised
and a legal obligation has been created. As per the InvIT Regulations, a distribution is authorised when it is
approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager. Consistent with Unit Capital being classified
as equity, the distribution to Unitholders is also presented in Statement of Changes in Unitholders’ Equity
when the distributions are approved by the Board of Directors of Investment Manager..

m. Earnings per unit

Basic Earnings Per Unit is calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable to unit
holders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year.

For the purpose of calculating Diluted Earnings Per Unit, the net profit or loss for the period attributable to
unit holders and the weighted average number of units outstanding during the period are adjusted for the
effects of all dilutive potential equity units.

n. Operating segments

The principal activity of InvIT is to own and invest in infrastructure assets primarily in the SPVs operating
in the road sector in India in accordance with the provisions of the InvIT Regulations and Trust deed. The
Board of Directors of the Investment Manager is responsible for allocating resources and assess the
performance of the InvIT and thus are the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM).

Segment results that are reported to the Investment Manager (CODM) include items directly attributable to
a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Segment capital expenditure is the
total cost incurred during the period to acquire property and equipment and intangible assets other than
goodwill.

a. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalent in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits
with an original maturity of three months or less, that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purpose of the standalone statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral
part of InvIT’s cash management.

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the standalone financial statements requires Investment manager to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
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assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. For preparation of Standalone financial
statements, InvIT based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available at the time of preparation of
financial statement. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may
change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of InvIT. Such changes
are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised prospectively.

The following are the key judgement, estimation and assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurement and valuation process:
Where assets and liabilities are measured or disclosed at fair value for the financial reporting purposes, InvIT
determines the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

Further, SEBI Circulars issued under the InvIT Regulations require disclosures relating to net assets at fair
value and total returns at fair value. In estimating the fair value of investments in subsidiaries (which
constitute substantial portion of the net assets), the InvIT engages independent qualified external valuers to
perform the valuation.

The Investment manager works closely with the valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model. The Investment manager reports the valuation report and findings to the Board of
the Investment Manager half yearly to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the projects. The
inputs to the valuation models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not
feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of
inputs such as WACC, Tax rates, interest rate, future cost etc. Changes in assumptions about these factors
could affect the fair value.

Acquisition of subsidiaries

The Sponsor of InvIT is holding 15% in the InvIT and GR Infraprojects Limited (GRIL) is holding 43.56% in
the InvIT. The Investment manager has applied its judgement to evaluate relationship between the Sponsor
and GRIL based on ownership structure, business relationship between both the entities along with legal
evaluation, voting rights, financial position, , lending arrangement by sponsor and security arrangements.
Accordingly, the Investment Manager has concluded that the sponsor is an independent entity with its own
operations, etc. and is not an agent or a de-facto agent for GRIL under Ind AS 110. Accordingly, the above
transaction for purchase of subsidiaries from GRIL is not considered as common control and the GRIL does
not exercise control over InvIT in accordance with Ind AS 103. The investment manager has also applied
judgment and determined that fair value of investments over consideration paid is arising because GRIL is
a significant unitholder in the InvIT and, accordingly, accounted for the excess as capital reserve as detail
disclosed in Note 9.

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets (including subsidiaries)
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value lgs




Bharat Highways InvIT
Notes to Standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024

incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model. The cash
flows (consisting of annuity, Interest rate, discount rate, future operating income and cost as well as finance
cost) are derived from the Business Projections and do not include restructuring activities that the Company
is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of the
CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as well
as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. Further, the
Investment manager has not considered any claim or awards which receivable from various authorities in
the impairment assessment of subsidiaries and associates.

Impairment of financial assets

Impairment testing for financial assets is done at least once annually and upon occurrence of an indication
of impairment. The recoverable amount of the individual financial assets is determined based on value-in-
use calculations which required use of assumption. These assumptions are about risk of default and expected
credit loss. The InvIT makes judgement in making these assumptions and selecting inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the InvIT's past history, existing condition and forward-looking estimates at the end of
each reporting year of counter party's credit worthiness.

Taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, changes in tax laws, and the
amount and timing of future taxable income. Given the wide range of business relationships and the long-
term nature and complexity of existing contractual agreements, differences arising between the actual results
and the assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to
tax income and expense already recorded. The InvIT establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates.

2.4 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
i. New and Interpretations and Amendments adopted by InvIT

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the standalone financial statements are consistent
except for amendments to the existing Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS).

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment
Rules, 2023 dated 31 March 2023 to amend the following Ind AS which are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2023, The InvIT applied for the first-time these amendments.

(i) Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to Ind AS 8

The amendments clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates, changes in accounting
policies and the correction of errors. It has also been clarified how entities use measurement techniques and
inputs to develop accounting estimates, The amendments had no impact on the InvIT’s Standalone financial
statements.

(ii) Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to Ind AS 1

The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by
replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement
to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of
materiality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures. The amendments have had an impact
on the InvIT’s disclosures of accounting policies, but not on the measurement, recognition or presentation
of any items in the InvIT’s financial statements.
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ii. Standards notified but not yet effective

There are no new standards that are notified, but not yet effective, upto the date of issuance of the [nvIT's
standalone financial statements.
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ANl anvounts fn Rupoes misllion wniess othermmise stated S
3 lovestments Asal Asnt
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 32)
Non-current
Equity instruments of subsidiary companies at cost (fully paid) funguoted) 19.409.30 =
Total 19.409.30 -
Aggregate value of uniuoted investments 1940930 ¥
Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investments - .
Noler-
a) Below is details of equity holding in subsidiary companies:
Asal Asat
. 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
ace
barid {Refer Note 32)
each Pledge sharcs
shares of Shres  (Refer mote (b) Amiount Nu. of Shares Pleddge shares Asosnl
below)
Varanasi Sangam Expressway Private Limited Tip 3B5.90,000  1,94.33.500 5,684.00 - -
GR Phagwars Expressway Limited Tl0 20300000 10353000 1,970.42 - - -
GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limited (refer note a) tio 4.95,00,000 - 3,048.41 - - i
GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited (refer note a) Tip 1,26,00,000 - 1.687.27 3 - :
GR Sangli Solapur Highway Private Limited (refer nowe a) 10 1,50,00,000 . 2,179.00 = - -
Porbandar Dwarka Exy y Private Limited (refer nole a) T 4.20,00.000 L 31518 - = -
GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited (refer note o) T 95.00,000 - |,727.02 - - -
Total 18,77,90,000  3.01,86,900 1940930 - - -
Notes:
a) The InvIT has pledged 30% of its investmenl in equity shares of subsidi I viz. GR Gundugolanu D palli Highway Private Limitesd, GR Akkalkol Solapur Highway

Private Limited, GR Sangli Solapur Highway Private Limiled, Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited and GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited subsequent to
yoar ended Le. on April 22,2024 , in favour of lender for term loan facilities availed by InvIT. Additionally, Non Disposal Undertaking of 21% of its investinent in equity shares of
above foned subsidiary panies has been created on April 30, 2024,

b) As on March 31, 2024, the InvIT has pledged 51% of its investment in equity shares of Varanasi Sangam Expressway Privane Limited and GR Phagwara Expressway Limited in
favour of debenture holders of respective subsidiary companies.

¢) During the year, the TnvIT has acquired 100% equity stake in its seven companies namely Varanasi Sangam Expressway Private Limited, Porbandar Dwarka E y Private
Limiied, GR Phagwara Expressway Limited. GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limiled, GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited, GR Sangli %pu: H.lgllwp,
Private l.inmad and GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited. The IneIT has kssued 13,75.30405 units with lssue pﬂw of T 100 per unit a8 conskderation as per share purchase
{ with G R Infraprojects Limited dated February 20, 2024. Further, the InvIT has 1 into assi dated February 20, 2024 with G R Infraprojects
Um&d!wanignmmluflu unsecured loan receivable from above subsidiaries uﬂmmﬂﬂnnhmd!ﬁm units with issue pdteofﬁw per unit. The equity
shares of these subsidiaries were ferved 1o the InvIT on 1 March 2024,
The InvIT has carried out Fair valuation of assets acquired, and Liability assumed by independent valuer using inputs generally used by market participants in similar transactions
mulung in fuir valuation, on the date of acquisition, which was € 19,409.30 million. Accordingly, lavIT has recognisid the investments in these SPVs at fair value in the standalone
jal Information and recognised capital reserve amounting 1o 2 5,656.26 million which is the resultant difference between the fair value and consideration paid by the Invit
arising due to additional contribution by significant unitholder. The amount of capital reserve is mainly on account of (a) differences in valuation parsmeters particularly Weighed
Average Cost of Capital on account of diffesent cost of exuity (ulclu:lm; debt-equity ratio)for drmml.nutg transaction price, (b) InvIT Issue expenses, and {¢) Net present value of

InvIT related expenses (including fees payable to iclered by InvIT g to € 3,017.52 million, T 589,93 million and € 2,048.81 million respectively,
4 Loans Non-urrent Current
Asal Asal Asal Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 32) (Refer Note 32)

Loan to subsidiary COMPAn|es (refer note 23)
Loan receivable, considered good - secured 24,111.97 . 2,203.06 -
Loan receivable, considered good - unsecured 7.881.50 - 236,38 -
Loan receivable - credit impaired - . - -
Total 31,99347 - 243944 -
Notes:-

a) The InvIT has granted interest bearing loan to its subsidiary companies. The loan has been given 1o its subsidiaries to refinance its existing loans. The loan carry coupon rate of 14%
pa.

b) The secured loan has a security as frst charge on hypothecation of all the fived assets/ movable assets, project bank debt. operating cash flows, receivables, revenue by whatever
nane called and project bank account of berrower.

€) Thelon is repayalle in 25 half yearly installments ranging from 0.30% to 1035% of loan taken starting from March 31, 2024 to September 30, 2036
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5 Other financial assets (L d, idered good) Non-current Current
As al Asat As at Asat
1 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 32) (Refer Note 32)
Deposits with hank (refer note (i) bedow) 567.68 - > 3
Security deposits (refer note (1) below) - - 25.00 -
Total 567.68 - 25.00 -
Note:

i) Deposit with bank Includes balance of Initial Public Offer proceeds of € 370.00 million in bank which will be utilised as stated in the Final Offer Documents

if} Deposit with bank includes earmarked deposit with bank of 2 196,50 million against Delbt Services Reserve Account (DSRA) as per terms of borrowing agreement.

{if) The InvIT has given 2 25.00 million towards security deposit and the Investment manager has given £ 25.00 million as an {rrecoverable and unconditional bank guarantee on
behalf of the InvIT to National Stock Exchange for due performance and fulfiltment by the InvIT of its engagement, ¢ i i or liabilities as an issuer

¥

& Cashand cash equivalents and other bank balance As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
—  (BcferNoieX})
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand 0.0 0.m
Balance with banks
in current account 035 0.08
036 009
Earmarked balance with banks (refer note (i) below) 47356
473.56 -~
Total —47392__ 0.09

Note:

() Includes balance of Initial Public Offer proceeds of ¥ 467.18 million in current account with bank (under escrow arrangement), which will be utilised as stated in the final offer
documents.

7 Other assets (Unsecured, considered good) Asat As al
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Advance to suppliers for goods and services o 295
PO related expenses (refer note () below) - 75.02
Total a_u 7797
Note:
(i) Pertains to expenses relating to Initial public offering (IPO), which were quently reduced from the unithold: capital in the current year, in accordance with Ind AS 32 Financial

Instrumenis: Presentation.
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8 Unit Capital As al As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 32)
Issued, subscribed and fully paid up
44,29,38,605 (31 March 2023: Nil) units (issue price of 2100 each) 43,761.52 -
Total 43,761.52 -
e —
A. Reconciliation of the number of nn]luubebeglnnhganﬂalm:ndolthempmﬂmpahd given below:
As at Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 32)
Numbers Amount Numbers Asount
Al the beginning of the year / period - B = -
Add:- movement during the year / period 44,29,38,605 44,293 86 - -
Less : Issue expenses (refer note (b) below) - (532.34) . s
Oulstanding at the end of the year/ period Maﬁ 43,761.52 - =
Notes:-

a) The Bharat Highways InvIT (InvIT) has issued 249,999,900 units for cash at a price of 100 per unit (the ‘issue price’), aggregating to 2 24,999.99 million to the sponsor
and eligible unitholders (as defined in Final Offer Documents) by way of initial public offer, in accordance with Securities Exchange Board of Indla (Infrastructure
I Trust) Regulations, 2014 including the rules, circulars and guideli issued th d

Additionally, pursuant to to the share purchase agr and assignment ag; t i with G R Infraprojects Limited dated February 20, 2024, InvIT has issued its
13,75,30,405 units in exchange of 100% equity stake in seven companies and 5,54,08,300 units i assig of ing unsecured loan given by G R Infraprojects
Limited to its then Subsidiary companies.

The InvIT Offer Committee of GR Highways In Manager Private Limited (L Manager), considered and approved all of 442,938,605 units to the

unitholders on March 6, 2024,

b) Issue expenses of T 53234 million incurred in connection with issue of units have been reduced from the Unitholders capital in accordance with Ind AS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation.

B. Terms/Rights attached to units
TheImrl'l'lluonlycurl.mofurlll.bchl}nllmpmhmundlvldedbquﬁﬁalhmmﬂwhwﬂ.mmuﬂotmﬂﬁeﬂﬁldhomwhpﬂmdtTheUnllholders
have the right to receive at least 90% of the Net Distributable Cash Flows of the Trust at least once in every six months in each financial year in accordance with the InvIT

& The L ger app The distribution will be in proportion to the number of units held by the unitholders. The InvIT
declares and pays dividends in Indlan rupees.
Unitholder has no equitable or proprietary in the projects of the InvIT and is not entitled to any share in the transfer of the projects (or any part thereof) or any

interest in the projects (or any part thereof) of InvIT. hUnithnHu‘nlngl.{mimdbﬂwrﬁghlbmquﬁvdwndminbuaﬁuno{hvﬁhamﬂamwimllupml.dumur!
the Trust Deed and the i t

L y -

C. Details of unitholders holding more than 5% units Asal As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

e _(ReferNote ___

% of holding % of holding

Numbers b Numbers in class

Units of ¥ 100 each fully paid i ncless

Aadharshila Infratech Private Limited 6,64,50,000 15.00% - -

G R Infraprojects Limited 19,29,38,705 456% - :

D. The InvIT has not allotted any fully paiulupmﬂu!ywnynibmuunihmruhuhumh:kmychmdnnlhhumﬂndakﬂimnnﬂwwlhbahmuhmm

E Under the provisiona of the InvIT Regulations, the InulT i& requinsd to distribute to unitholders not lesa than 90% ef the net distributable cash flows of the InvIT for each
ﬂmnnhlyunkcﬂdh!gly‘lheu.nllclplnlmﬂﬂlmmmlluwpuonmpuymd\wﬂwunuhﬂdmﬂ\u in accord with requi L of Ind AS 32 - Financial
Instruments: Presentation, the unit capital contains liability comp t which should be classified and treated accordingly. However, SEBI Circulars requires the unit
uplulwh!pmbdlclamifkdu'ﬂqully’,whkhhltvuhmhomd!nqumdhd-ﬁnhadnw ply with the aforesaid SEBI requi the InvIT
has presented unit capital as equity in these falone financial ts. Consistent with unit capital being classified as equity, the distributions to unitholders is also
presented in Statement of Changes in Unitholders’ Equity when the distributions are approved by the Board of Directors of Investment Manager.
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9 Other equity Asat Asal

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

(Refer Note 32)

A. Capital reserve (refer note (i) below)
Balance at the beginning of the year / period

Add - on account of acquisition (refer note 3) 5,656.26
Add :- movement during the year / period - 2
Balance at the end of the year / period 5,656.26 -

B. Retained earnings (refer note (ii) below)
Balance at the beginning of the year/ period = 2
Add:-Profit for the year / period 236.16 -
Less:- Distributed during the year / period

236.16 -

Total (A+B) 589242 -
Notes : -
i) Capital reserve

During the year, the InvIT has entered into share purchase agreement dated February 20, 2024 with GR Infraprojects Limited (GRIL) for acquisition of 100% equity stake
in its seven subsidaries namely Vi i Sangam Exy y Private Limited ("VSEPL"), Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited ("PDEFL"), GR Phagwara
Expressway Limited (“GRPEL”), GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limited (“GRGDHPL"), GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited (“GRASHFL"),
GR Sangli Solapur Highway Private Limited (“"GRSSHFL") and GR Dwarka Devariva Highway Private Limited (“GRDDHPL") against the same, the InvIT has issued its
13,7530 405 units with issue price of T 100 per unil as consideration against above sale of shares and 5,54,08,300 units with issue price of ¥ 100 per unit towards

i of loan receivable from above subsidiari which has resulted in the GRIL's holding 43.56% in the InvIT. The equity shares of seven subsidiaries were
transferred to the InvIT on 1 March 2024 thereby the InvIT obtained control over these subsidiaries.

The InvIT has carried out Falr valuation of assets acquired, and liability assumed by independent valuer using inputs generally used by market participants in similar
transactions resulting in fair valuation, on the date of acquisition, which was ¥ 1940930 million. Accordingly, InvIT has recognised the investments in these SPVs at fair
value in the standalone financial st ts and recognised capital reserve amounting to € 5,656.26 million which Is the result L difference bet the fair value and

consideration paid by the Invit arising due to additional contribution by significant unitholder. The amount of capital reserve Is mainly on account of (a) differences in
valuation parameters particularly Weighed Average Cost of Capital en account of different cost of equity (including debl-equity ratio)for determining transaction price,
(b) InvIT Issue expenses, and (¢) Net present value of InvIT related expenses (including fees pay ble to investment ger) considered by InvIT ing to T 3,017.52
million, ® 589,93 million and 2 2.048.81 million respectively.

ii) Retained earnings

t ﬂ\eplvﬁhumldhythl.-llwl'l'Iﬁlchip.lnudkhﬂtlﬁnnﬁnmmnnlﬂloldeuifmyhmdmappwvaldﬂw!mrﬂofﬂimmol
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W ARAT WIISTVA S AT
10 Borrowings As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
____ (Refer Note 32)
Noa Current Non current Current
current
Loan from banks - Secured
Term loan - Indian rupees 4,642.18 170,58 -
461218 170.58 - -
Less : Current maturities of non current borrowings ( refer note 11) - (170.58) - -
Total 4,642.18 - - -

Notes

i) Term loans from banks in Indian rupees are secured by:
1. First pari passu charge on all moveable assets and the receivables of the InvIT present and future including but not limited to:
a. Receivable of the InvIT limited to Project SPVs & the interest and principal repayment of loans advanced by InvIT to Project SPVs
b. charge over rights of the InvIT under the loans advanced by InvIT to Project SPV(s) and securities created in favour of the InvTT to secure the loans advanced by
the InvIT to the SPV/(s). Dividends and any other amounts to be paid / payable by the Project SPVs to InvIT.

2. First pari passu charge on all immoveable assets of the Barrawer (if any and if permitted under law).

3. First parl passu charge on Escrow account and all other bank accounts of InvIT, in which the free cash flows of the Project SPVs owned by the InvIT will be
deposited or any other account opened / maintained by InvIT in refation to such SPVs,

4. First Pari-passu charge over DSRA

iﬂllrseowrlghuaflhequadvamedbthﬂh?mkdﬁ?\'lmdmﬁﬁucmudhylnvﬂ
&Pladgudﬁliequllyxhnmdnﬂ?mﬁ:iﬁ?’?&mbjedwpemh&dmguhmmpkdgdMﬂbemh-lrmlm!ﬂlequllyﬁumandforremlnlngn%
Nt T P ]

ui g to be p
Terms of of Term loan from banks
Nm“m Repay and interes! terms 3
a) Secured Term loan from bank - Indian Rupee Loan Repayable in 51 g ly install ing from March 31, 2024 to September 30,

2036. Interest rate for the facility is Repo rate (quarterly reset) plus spread of 160 bps
pavable monthly, present applicable interest rate is 8.10% p.a.

i) Financial Covenants:
The InvIT has satisfied all the financial covenants prescribed in the terms of loan agreement as at reporting date. The InvIT has not defaulted in any loan repayment

during the year.
i¥) Undrawn borrowing facility
The InvIT has 2 6,623.05 million (31 March 2023 : Nil) und committed b ing facilities (excluding non-fund based facilities).
11 Current Borrowings Asat As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 32)
A. Secured
Current maturities of non current borrowings (refer note 10) 170.58
17058 -
B. Unsecured
Loan from a related party (refer note (i) below and 23) 33,81 2545
33481 2545
20439 2545
—

i) Unsecured loan from related party

The rate of which is comy led ily, shall be 8.15% p.a. The said loan is repayable on demand. There was no interest charged by lender on loan
outstanding amount upto March 31, 2023 as per interest waiver lotter issued by lender.
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BOAIAT MERANATE AT

12 Trade payables As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
{Refer Note 32)
Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises (refer note (c) below) - -
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enlerprises 9.53 -
Total 9.53 -
Trade payable ageing schedule
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment
Unbilled
Not due Less thrn 1-2years  2-3 years Mowe fhan 3 Total
Lyear yeurs
As at 31 March 2024
Total outstanding dues of Micro and Small Enterprises - - - - =
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than Micro and Small 953 - o - - - 953

Enterprises
Disputed dues of Micro and Small Enterprises - - - - . - =

Disputed dues of creditors other than Micro and Small T
Total 953 - = - y . 953
As at 31 March 2023 (Refer Note 32) = =
Total outstanding dues of Micro and Small Enterprises - - - = . =
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than Micro and Small - . - - . =

Enterprises
Disputed dues of Micro and Small Enterprises - - - - . = .

Disputed dues of creditors other than Micro and Small Enterprises
Total - - B - - - -

Notes:-
a) Trade payable are non interest bearing and g lly have credit period of 30-90 days.
b) For terms and conditions relating to related party payables (refer note 23)
©) Details of dues to micro and small enlerprises as defined under the Micro, Small and Medium E: ises Development Act, 2006

Asat Asat
31 March2024 31 March 2023
 (ReferNowss)

i) The principal t ining unpaid to any supplier at the end of each accounting year; - -
i) The t due th ining unpaid to any supplier at the end of each accounting year; - -
Ht}ﬂ!-mlullmereﬂpuidhyhbuyerinmdsmimlsnfmmmm&ahngwlﬂﬂhamonnhnlthe . -
P made to the supplier beyond the appointed day during each accounting year
W)Themmmtofmwduandpayabkfmﬂupebddd&yInmltingplymml(whkhl‘uvebeenpddbulqudﬂw - -
tppolmlddlydﬂrlnglheyu:)hlwlﬁuutaﬂhgﬂuumwﬂdmlduhmmm

v) The of accrued and ining unpaid at the end of each accounting year - -
vi) The t of further interest ining due and payabl even In the succeeding years, until such date when the interest - -
dnuunbwemuctnllypaldhhmﬂmmfwhmdﬁlnwm!uldedu:ﬂmmnmm

section 23 of the MSME Act 2006

The disclosure in respect of the t payable to prises which have provid ‘gnuhamimkulnﬂnlmﬂmdwhiﬂtqualilyunderllwﬁeﬂnluonufnﬂm
u\dlmlllenltrpr&es.udcﬁmdmderklm{m-ﬂﬂd“ di prises Develoy Act, 2006 has been made in the dalone financial stat ts as at the
reporting date based on the inf i ived and avallable with the InvIT. On the basis of such inf jon, no i is payable to any micro and small

enterprises. These have been relied by the auditor.

14 Oither financial liabilities As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Refer Note
Other payables (refer note (i) below and 23) 361.02 3745
Total 36102
— ——
Note:

(i) Other payable consist of payable toward issue related expenses

14 Other current liabilities As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
{Refer Note 32)
Statutory dues payable 7 3745 515
Total 3745 515
== —
15 Liabilities for current tax (net) Asat Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 32)
Provision for income tax (net of advance tax) 043 -
Total 043 -
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16

17

18

19

MAAT TS BT

Interest Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 32)
Interest income

- on loan to related party (Refer note 23) 29513 -

- on deposits with banks 1.31 -
Total 296,44 -
Investment management {m
P L to the 1 ger agreement dated July 21, 2022, Investment Manager is entitled to fees @ 1.50% of aggregale cash flow received from each of the
subsidlaries per annum and upto 0.50% incentive of the assets acquired by InvIT plus Goods and Service tax rate as npplicable Accordingly, the amount recorded in
standalone statement of profit and loss for the vear ended March 31, 2024 is T 4.89 million (31 March 2023: Nil) | r fees. There are no
changes during the year in the methodology for computation of fees paid to Investment Manager.

Finance costs Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023

(Refer Note32)
Interest expense on borrow ings measured at amortised cost
Interest on term loan 1829
Interest an loan from related party (refer note 23) a2
Total 2 .
Other expenses Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
{Refer Note 32)
Legal and professional charges 048 -
Listing expenses 26.66
Miscellaneous expenses 0,17

Total 7731 =
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20 Tax expense
The major component of income tax expenses are as under:
A Income tax (income) / exp recognised in the St of Profit and Loss: Year ended Perlod ended
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refex Note 32)
Current tax on profit for the year / period 0.56
056 =
Deferred tax charge for the year / period - -
Total Deferred tax charge = =
Tax exp ported in the St of Profit and loss 0.56 -
B Reconciliation of tax exp and the acc ing profit multiplied by India's domestic tax rate: Year ended For the period
31 March 2024  from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
____(Refer Note 32)
Accounting profit before tax 8672 -
Statutory income tax rate (in %) 42.74% -
Expected income tax expenses at InvIT's applicable statutory income tax rate 10138 -
Tax effect of adjustments to reconcile expected income tax expenses to reported income tnx expenses
Tax on permanent difference 2553
Tax impact on exemption u/s 10 (23FC) of the Income Tax Act, 1961 available to the InvIT (126,15) .
Total Tax expense 0.56 =
Consequent to reconciliation items shown above, the effective tax rate (%) 0.24% =
Note:
i) The income of business trust in the form of interest or dividend earned received from subsidiaries is pt from tax in accordance with section 10 (23FC) of the Income
Tax Act, 1961, However, all other incomes are taxable to the InvIT based on maximum marginal rate.
21 Earnings per Unit
Basic earnings per unit (EPU) amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to unitholders by the weighted average number of units
oulstanding during the year. For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per unit, the weighted e bers of units outstanding during the year are adjusted for
weighted average number of unils that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential units into unit capital.
The following reflects in the profit and unit data used in the basic and diluted EFU computation Year ended For the period
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 32) *
Profit / (Loss) attributable to unitholders (T in million) (A) 236,16 =
Number of units ding at the end of the year / period (in absolute number) 44,29,38,605 .
Weighted average number of units at the end of the year/ period (In absolute number) (B) 3183684 -
Basic and diluted earing per unit (2 /unit)* (A/B) 7A2 -
Issue price per unit (in T) 100,00
* The InvIT has issued its Unit to unitholders upon completion of IPO in March 2024 and accordingly, EPU discl in ¢ ponding and comparative period is not

applicable and hence not given.
** The InvIT does not have any outstanding dilutive potential i ts.
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22 Contingent liabilities and commitments
The InvIT has no contingent liabilities and other commitments as at March 31, 2024 (March 31, 2023 : Nil)

23 Related party disclosure

WHARAT HEIHWATE BT

A Usmfmhndpuﬂuuputhuqdmmhaflmia\sM-RdmdﬂnyDhchumsaudﬂe;uhﬂunmltn}dﬂwlnvﬂkrgnhunm

Following are the related parties and transactions entered with related parties given below:

I Subsidiary Companies
a) Varanasi Sangam Expressway Private Lumited (w.e.f March 1, 2024)
b) GR Phagwara Expressway Limited (w.e.f March 1, 2024)
©) GR Gundugol, D palli Highway Private Limited (w.e.f March 1, 2024)
d) GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited (w.e.f March 1, 2024)
€) GR Sangli Solapur Highway Private Limited (w.e.f March 1, 2024)
) Porbandar Dwarka Exp y Private Limited (w.e.f March 1, 2024)
g) GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited (w.e.f March 1, 2024)

11 Entity with significant influence over the lnvIT
) G R Infraprojects Limited (w.e.f. March 1, 2024)

Il Parties of Trust
a) Aadharshila Infratech Private Limited - Sponsor and Project Manager (w.e.f. 31.10.2023)
b) GR Highways I t Manager Private Limited - Investment Manager (w.e.f. 21.07.2022)
¢) IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited - Trustee (w.e.f. 21.07.2022)

IV Promoters, Directors and Partoers of the mentioned in clause (111) above
Particulars S and Investment Truslee
) Promotors Riya Agarwal Lokesh Builders Private Limiled (w.e.f 1212.2022)  IDBI Bank Limited
Rahul Agarwal G R Infraprojects Limited (upto 12.12.2022) Life Insurance Corporation of India
Mehul Agarwal General | ation of India
b) Directors Rahul Agarwal Ajendra Kumar Agarwal Pradeep Kumar Jain (w.e.f. 24.03.2022)
Ramesh Chandra Mehta Siba Narayan Nayak Samuel Joseph Jebaraj (resigned w.e.f.
Kishan Kantibai Vachhani Deepak Maheshwari 18.04.2023)
Raghav Chandra Madhuri J. Kulk gned w.e.f. 06.12.2022)
Swati Kulkarni { w.e.f, 13 June 2023)
Ramesh Chandra Jain ( w.e.f 13 June 2023) Balfinder Kaur Mandal ( w.e.f. 17.01.2023)
Pradeep Kumar Malhotra ( w.ef. 14.12.2022)
Jayakumar S, Pillai (w.e.f. 18.07.2023)
¢) Partners Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable
V Key Managerial Personnel
a) Amit Kumar Singh - Chief Executive Officer of Investment manager
Ib) Harshael Sawant - Chief Financial Officer of Investment manager
¢) Mohnish Dutta - C v Secretary of | g
B Transactions with the related d the
Year ended For the period
31 March 2024 frum 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 32)
a) Issue of unit capital
Aadharshila Infratech Private Limited 6,645.00 =
G R Infraprojects Limited 19.203.87 =
b) Loan given
Vi | Sangam Exy ¥ Private Limited 4,044.94
GR Phagwara Expressway Limited 3,063.10
GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limited 6,745.93 -
GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited 1877.65 -
GR Sangli Solapur Highway Private Limited 336403 -
P dar Dwarka Exp y Private Limited 4,790.93 -
GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited 398642 -
¢) Investment acquired
G R Infraprojects Limited 13,753.04 -
d) Loan to subsidiaries assigned
G R Infraprojects Limited 5,540.83 -
¢) Borrowings taken
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 65.68 2545




Bharat Highways Inv1T
Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
All amownts in Rupees million unless otheriise stated

B Transactions with the related parties during the year / period:

Year ended For the period
Particulars 31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 32)
f) Borrowings repaid
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 60.21
g) Interest income on loans
Varanasi Sangam Expressway Private Limited 3032 .
GR Phagwara Expressway Limited 3245 -
GR Gundugolanu Dy palli High Private Limited 67.94 -
GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited 25,53 -
GR Sangli Solapur Highway Private Limited 36.34
Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited 5447
GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited 48,09
h} I L3 on b Lo
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited in -
i) Investment management fees
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 489 -
j) Trustee fees
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited 059
k) Guaraniees given on behalf of the InviT
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 2500
I} Reimbursement of expenses (including issue related expenses)
GR Highways Ir | Manager Private Limiled 24031 4987
G R Infraprojects Limited 362 .

m) lssue expenses
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited - 048

€ Netoutstanding amount - payable / receivable as at the end of the year [ period :

Asat Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 32)

a) Other payable

GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 17733 45.65

G R Infraprojects Limited EKY| s
b) Trade payable

GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 447 -
¢) Outstanding loans (including interest accrued)

Varanasi Sangam Expressway Private Limited 4,088.99 -

GR Phagwara Expressway Limited 365412 -

GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limited 7.875.67 -

GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited 3476 z.

GR Sangli Solapur Highway Private Limited 4,059.45 -

Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited 6,079.55 -

GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited 524037 -
4 o  borrowing (including accrued)

GR Highways I Manager Private Limited 3381 2545
¢) Outstanding guarantees given on behalf of lnvIT (refer note 5(ii))

GR Highways L Manager Privale Limited 25,00 -

D Terms & Condition with Related Party

i) The transactions with related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm's length transactions. Oulstanding balance other than loan taken at the
year-end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash.

ii) The InvIT has not provided any commitment to the related party as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023,
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—_—
B —

£ Details in respect of related party transactions involving acquisition of InvIT assets as required by Paragraph 4.4 of Chapter 3 to the SEBI Circulars are as follows:-

Particulars Year ended For the period
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 37)
Acquisition of InvIT assets (refer note 3(b)) ”“: i No Acquisition
Disposal of an InvIT asset No Disposal No Disposal
Note:
a) Summary of the valuation reports (issuéd by the independent valuer):
Enterprise value as at
Particulars Method of valuation Discount rate (WACC) 29 Febraary 204
Varanasi Sangam Expressway Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.59% 13,638.95
Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.59% 8,233.23
GR Phagwara Expressway Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.59% 5,096.82
GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.59% 9,744.75
GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.59% 4728193
GR Sangli Solapur Highway Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.59% 5519.25
GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.59% 5817.86
b) Material conditions or obligations in relation to the i
There are no open material conditions / obligations related to above transaction, other than regulatory approvals ot 1 by the InvIT.

¢) Rate of interest, if I financing has been obtained for the transaction/acquisition;
No external financing has been obtained for the acquisition by the InvIT.

d) Any fees or issi ived or to be received by any iate of the related party in relation to the transaction
There is no fees or commission recovered from any associate of the related party in relation to above transaction
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WARAT MG PWATE IMAT
24 Disclosure of Financial Instruments by Category * As at
P g W 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 32)
Cost # Amortised cost Cost # Amortised cost
I in equity instr of subsidiari 19,40930 - - -
Loans - 344329 - -
Cash and cash equivalents . 036 . 0.09
Other bank balance - 47356 - -
Other financial assets - 592.68 - -
Total Financial assets 1940930 3549951 - 0.09
Borrowings - 4.846.57 - 2545
Trade payables - 953 - =
Other financial liabilities - 361.02 - 4745
Total Financial liabilities - ;a?iu - 7290
#1 In subsidiaries are ac d at cost in accordance with Ind AS27
* Considering that there is no item of fair value through other comp income and Fair value through profit and loss, the same are not disclosad.

25 Fair value disclosures for financial assels and financial liabilities
The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost in the financial area bl imation of their fair values
since the InvIT does not anticipate that the carrying amounts would be significantly different from the values that would eventually be received or settled.

The fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between
willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

26 Fair valne hierarchy
The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the InviI's assets and liabilities :
Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy for financial instruments as at March 31 as under:-

Level 1- Level 2- -
Quoted price in  Significant ataaki Total
active markets observable inputs tind e
inputs
31 March 2024
Financial assets
Asgels for which fair value disclosure is given
Investment in subsidiaries (including loans) * - = 54,7364 54,736.04
- - 54.736.04 54.736.04
31 March 2023
Financial assets

Assets for which fair value disclosure is given
Investment in subsidiaries (including loans) * - - & -

* Standalone statement of nel asset at fair value and m«mmdmlﬂm“al fair value require disclosures regarding fair value of net assets (liabilities
considered at book values). Since the fair values of assets other than 1 in subsid pproxi thelr book values, hence only investment in subsidiaries has
been disclosed above.

There have been no transfers between level 1, level 2 and level 3 during the years.

Valuation lechnique used to determine fair value:

« Inputs included in Level 1 of Fair Value Hierarchy are based on prices quoted in stock exchange.
oh'lpuuhtludadI.nLewl?dh!r\hluﬂkutrhylawbemuhdhudminpuhﬁmbmhoﬂﬂrucopﬁndhnﬁmumandwavd«mbrfund

* Inputs included in Level 3 of Falr Value Hierarchy have boen valued using ptabl techniques such as Net Asset Vialue and/or Discounted Cash Flow
Method.

Note: All financial instruments for which fair value is disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy described as above, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the falr value measurement as a whole.

The fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities included in the level 3 category above has been determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted cash (low analysis, with the most significant inputs being the discount rate that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.

‘n'chwﬂ'isuqutmllnpmmlr.heShlmmnldInu]mnlairvnluemdShanlthmsilfwvﬁneuprldmmehan

SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated 06 July 2023 as a part of these standal - Refer Statement of Net assets al fair value and

Statement of Total Returns at fair value.

The inputs to the valuati dels for computation of fair value of assets for the above mentioned statements are taken from observable markets where possible, but

where this is not feasible, a degree of judg; is required in establishing fair values. Judg, include considerations of inputs such as WACC, Tax rates, Inflation

rates, etc.

The significant uncbservable inputs used in the fair value quired for discl as above categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as above

together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 are as shown below:

Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation: e -

Significant unobservable inputs Tanpul for Input for  Sensitivity of  Sensitivity of Increase Increase
March 31,2024 March31,  inputio input to /ldecrease) /ldecrease)

2023 * the fair value  the fair value*  infairvaloeasat in fair value as at
March 31,2024  March 31, 2023 *

733% < D50% = (1,206.00) -
- 0.50% = 1,.255.00
100% - 10,00% - (973.00)
- -10.00% - 9200

acquired all subsidiaries during the year and hence above comparative disclosure for March 31, 2023 has not been given.
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Al amounts in Rupees million unless otherwise stated o

27 Financial risk management objectives and policies
The InvIT's principal financial liabilities comprise of borrowings, trade and other payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the InvIT's

operations. The InvIT's financial assets comprise mainly of Ipan, cash and bank balance and other financial assets that derive directly from its operations.
The InvIT may be exposed to market risk. credit risk and liguidity risk. The board of directors of investment manager have overall responsibility for establisk and
oversees the InvIT's risk ork, All derivative activities for risk management purposes are carried out by investment ger which has appropriat

skllh.expcriemelrdsupentﬁmllnuuhwn'spdh:) that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes may be undertaken, The Board of Directors of
Investment manager reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised below.

A. Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flow of financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types
of risk: interest rates risk, currency risk and other price risk, such as equity prices risk and dity risk. Fi {al instr affected by market risk include loans
and borrowings, deposits and debt.
The sensitivity analysis in the following sections relate to the position as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023
The sensitivity analysis have been prepared on the basis that the amount of net debt and the ratio of fixed to floating interest rates of the debt are all constant as at 31
March 2024 and 31 March 2023.

The following assumptions have been made in calculating the sensitivity analysis:
The sensitivity of the relevant profit or loss item is the effect of the assumed changes in respective market risks. This is based on the financial liabilities held at 31 March
2024 and 31 March 2023,

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial inst t will i b of changes in market interest rates. The InvIT is
exposed to interest risk of changes in market interest rates relate primarily to the InvIT's long-term debt obligations with floating i rates, While most of long-term

borrowings primarily consist of floating rate obligations linked to the applicable benchmark rates, which nuy typically be ndjunzd al certain intervals in accordance
wilh pmuﬂing interest rates. As at31 March 2024, InvIT borrowings olISS.Bl million are at fixed rate (31 March 2023 ¥ 25,45 million). Increases in interest rates would

lating to ding floating rate b gs and increase the cost of new debt. In addition, an increase in interest rates may adversely
aﬁn:tshmlywmbelong-bermdehwhkhhmmmuyadmelyuﬂectmdhﬂown&:mhhwﬁnﬂuhmﬁ;&mhﬁskhymﬁﬂﬂrﬂngmdmnh
proportion of floating and fixed & rate b 1gs.
Exposure to interest rate risk
The interest rate profile of the InvIT's interest - bearing financial instr as reported to 2 t is as foll
Asat As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
{Refer Note 32)
Fixed-rate instruments
Financial assets 567,68 -
Financial liabilities 1381 2545
Variable-rate instruments
Financial assets a :
FPinancial labilities 481276 -
Interest rate sensitivity
Profit or loss is sensitive to higher/lower i ¥ from b nnmllnldungnlnlnmmmnﬂu"' ing table d the sensitivity of
floating rate financial inst oa bl changnin' rates. The risk estimates provided ay "‘shlﬂn(‘lmhuhpdntllnunﬂﬁh

mnllyﬂdmmﬁhuhhﬂnndmmmﬂmhwmntilwb-hmduudlhnnd has been calculated based on risk exposures outstanding as at
that date. The year end balances are not necessarily representative of the average debt outstanding during the year.

Sensitivity analysis
Interest rate
- increase by 100 basis points {48.13) - (27.56) -
- decrease by 100 basis points 4813 - 27.56 -
Equity price risk

The InvIT's investments in equity shares of subsidiaries are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future values of those investments. Reports
onﬂ!emla-etvaluarembmlmdmhmﬂﬂddmwuguhrhﬂ;ﬂuhddb&uﬁndhhvﬂmmlwmw pproves all equity i
decisions and take unitholders apy | as per InvIT Regulati

Al the reporting date, the exposure to equity investments in subsidiary at carrying value was T 19,409,30 million (31 March 2023: Nil).

Foreign Currency Risk:-
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or the future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuale because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The InvIT did not
have any exposure in foreign currency as at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023,

B. Credil risk
Credit risk Is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The InvIT is exposed
to credit risk from its i ing activities including loans to subsidiaries, deposits with banks and other financial instruments, Credil risk from balances with banks and
financial instruments is ged by the Investment 5 hm&mﬁhhhﬂspﬂﬁuMolmrﬂuhnﬁnum&uﬂymmw
counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each ¢ party. As at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, the credil risk is ¢ lered low since sub i

transactions of the InvIT are with its subsidiaries.




Bharat Highways InvIT
Notes to Standalone Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
All amounts in Rupees million unless othernise stated o

T
27 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

C. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the InvIT will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or
another financial asset. The InvIT's approach for managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its llabilities when they
are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the InvIT's reputation. The InvIT invest in bank
deposits 1o meet the immediate obligations.

Exposure to liquidity risk
The liquidity risk is managed on the basis of expected maturity dates of the financial liabilitics. The other financial liabilities are with short term durations. The table
below summarises the maturity profile of the Trust's financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments:

o Less n:.: o
amount Total  Ondemand 15 years Moce e
yeu Syeas
As at 31 March 2024
Borrowings # 4.846.57 7.525.56 3381 554.50 4,356.61 2,580.64
Trade payables 953 953 - 953 - -
Other financial liabilities 361.02 361.02 - 361.02 - -
Total 712 __ 75941 3381 925.05 435661 _2580.64
As at 31 March 2023
Borrowings 2545 2545 2545 - - -
Other financial labilities 4745 4745 - 4745 - -
=i , 2N 72% B8 8 : :
# Borrowings d and future i bligati
28 Capital
For the purpose of the InvIT's capital A t, capital includes unit capital and all other reserves atiributable to the unitholders of the InvIT, The primary objective
of the InvIT's capital management is to ensure that it malntains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratio in order to support its business and imise unit hold:

value.

The InvIT manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the requirements of the financial covenants. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the InvIT may adjust the distribution to unitholders, return of capital to unitholders or issue new units (subject to the provisions
of InvIT regulations which require distribution of at least 90% of the net distributable cash flows of the InvIT to unitholders). The InvIT monitors capital using Debl-

Equity ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The InvIT includes within net debt. i bearing loans and borrowings less cash and shorl-term
deposits.
Asat Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 33)

Total borrowings 484657 2545
Less: cash and cash equivalents 036 0.09
Net debt (A) 454621 2536
Corpus contribution 0.0 0.01
Unit capital 43,761.52 -
Other equity 589242 -
Total capital (B) 49,653.95 0.01
Capital and net debt (C=A+B) 5450016 537
Gearing Ratio (A/C) B.89% 99.90"%:

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the year ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023,
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29 lssue of units
During the year, the InvIT has completed its Initial public offer ("TPO") of 249,999,900 units with issue price of 2 100 each unit. The InvIT had received an amount of 2
24,999.99 million from the sponsor and eligible unitholders (as defined in Final Offer Doc (FOD)). Exp incurred on the IPO is amounting to ¥ 532.34 million
(including taxes) (provisional IPO expenses of T 620.80 million (including taxes) as per final offer documents). The funds from savings in IPO expenses as compared to
provisional IPO exy shall be transferred to General Corporate purpose after necessary approvals. The units of the InvIT were listed on National Stock Exchange of

India Limited (NSE) and BSE Limited (BSE) on March 12, 2024.
The expenses incurred for IPO have been reduced from the Unitholders' capital in accordance with Ind AS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

The details of amount utilised from IPO proceeds are as follows:

Particulars Amounttobe  Utilised upto Unutilised upto
s Utilised as per FOD 31 March 2024 31 March 2024

Providing loans to the SPV's for repayment/ pre-payment, in part or in full, of their respective outstanding loans 24,000.00 24,000.00 -

{including any accrued interest and prepayment penalty)

Issue expenses 620.80 135.02 485.78

General purposes 379.19 279 351.40

Total 5999.99 &ml 83718

Net proceeds which were un-utilised as at March 31, 2024 are temporarily invested in Deposi with bank as well as kept in escrow account with banks.

Segment Reporting

The principal activity of InvIT is to own and invest in infrastructure assets primarily in the SPVs operating in the road infrastructure development sector in India in

accordance with the previsions of the InvIT Regulations and Trust deed. The Board of Di of the 1 M allocates the resources and assess the

performance of the InvIT and thus are llleGMOp‘raﬁmDeci;innM.hr(C’O‘Dmhm@mwiﬁhmmmudwﬁlw-wmg'.h
CCIDMmlmsﬂ!npenmmullanfhbmhﬂalam;kummthmmmhwmmbedm As the InvIT and its assets operates only in
India, no separate geographical segment is disclosed.

Events occurring after reporting period

The Board of directors of Investment iger in their ‘-‘,unM.lylﬂ,mIuwlppmeddmbuﬂanufElB.Mperum:mﬂmummommwhkhmpﬂmnf&
0.50 per unit in the form of interest, Rs. 250 per unit in the form of dividend, Rs. Nil per unit in the form of other income and balance Rs, Nil per unit in the form of
capital repayment for the year, which is payable within 15 days from the date of declaration.

Comparative figures:

Tlnmvrrwuulupmlﬁlumlm”mirrwoubletmﬂundu'thlndhn‘l'rmlMlmmm&dibmle&nﬁmmwmm-MNSEm
March 12, 2024, A lingly, the comparati bers for the period from June 16, 2022 1o March 31, 2023 presented in these dilone financial are not
m'hk:hdtonulitmdHuennuhuwbnnumnpihdmdpm!dhymlnﬂapprmfdbylhBouduiDiredmsof' tment ger. H , the
investment manager has exercised necessary diligence to ensure that the unaudited standalone financial for this comparative period provide a true and fair

view of the InvIT's affair and financial position, Considering the above, the numbers for the year ended March 31, 2024 are not comparable with numbers of previous
period ended March 31, 2023,

As per our report of even date

ForSRBC & COLLP For and on behalf of Board of Directors of

Chartered Accountants GR Highways Inv Manager Private Limited

ICAI Firm's Registration No :324982E / E300003 {As an Investment Manager to Bharat Highways InvIT) g'
Mo Ao »

per Sukrut Mehta Siba N Nayak Amit Kumar Singh

Partner Director Chief Executive Officer

Membership No: 101974 DIN: 01832348

Place: Ahmedabad
Date: May 28, 2024

Place : Gurugram
Date : May 28, 2024

Mohnish Dutta
Company

1CSI Mem. No. FCS10411
Place : Gurugram

Date : May 28, 2024




21st Floor, B Wing, Privilon
S R B C & CO LLP Ambli BRT Road, Behind Iskcon Temple

Chartered Accountants Off SG Highway, Ahmedabad - 380 059, India

Tel :+91 79 6608 3900

Independent Auditor's Report on the Half year and Year to Date Audited Consolidated Financial Information
of the InvIT Pursuant to the Requlation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014,
as amended

To

The Board of Directors of

GR Highways Investment Managers Private Limited
(As an Investment Manager of Bharat Highways InvIT)

Report on the audit of the Consolidated Financial Information
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying statement of half year and year to date consolidated financial information
of Bharat Highways InvIT (the “InvIT*) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”) consisting of
the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss including other comprehensive income, explanatory notes thereto
and additional disclosure as required in accordance with Chapter 4 of the SEBI Master Circulars No.
SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated July 6, 2023 as amended including any guidelines and circular
issued thereunder (hereinafter collectively referred to as “SEBI Circulars"”) for the half year ended March 31,
2024 and for the year ended March 31, 2024 (“Statement”), attached herewith, being submitted by the InvIT
pursuant to the requirement of Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014,
as amended from time to time including circulars, notifications, clarifications and guidelines issued thereunder
(the “InvIT Regulations™).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and based on the
consideration of the reports of the other auditors on separate audited financial statements/financial information
of the subsidiaries, the Statement:

i. includes the information of the entities mentioned in the Annexure 1 of this report.
ii. are presented in accordance with the requirements of the InvIT Regulations read with SEBI circular in this
regard; and
iii. gives a true and fair view in conformity with the applicable accounting standards and other accounting
principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated net profit and other comprehensive income and
other financial information of the Group for the half-ended March 31, 2024 and for the year ended March
31, 2024.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the “Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Information” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the 'Code of Ethics’ issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements under the provisions of the InviT Regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence
obtained by us and other auditors in terms of their reports referred to in “Other Matter” paragraph below, is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to note 4 which describes the presentation / classification of “Unit Capital” as “Equity” instead
of the applicable requirements of Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation in order to comply with the
relevant InvIT regulations. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Management’'s Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Information

The Statement has been prepared on the basis of the consolidated annual financial statements. The Board of
Directors of Investment Manager are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Statement that
e.a true and fair view of the net profit and other comprehensive income and other financial information of
i@ Broup in accordance with the requirements of the InviT Requlations; the Indian Accounting Standards as
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defined in Rule 2(1)a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended), and other
accounting principles generally accepted in India. The respective Board of Directors of the companies included
in the Group are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions
of the Act for safequarding of the assets of their respective companies and for preventing and detecting frauds
and other irreqularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the
accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the Statement that give a true and fair view
and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose
of preparation of the Statement by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager, as aforesaid.

In preparing the Statement, the Board of Directors of Investment Manager and respective Board of Directors of
the companies included in the Group are responsible for assessing the ability of their respective companies to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless respective Board of Directors either intends to liguidate the Group or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors of Investment manager and respective Board of Directors of the companies included in
the Group are also responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of their respective companies.

Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Information

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Statement as a whole is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the Statement.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Statement, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

» Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls.

L] Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of dccounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors of Investment Manager.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors of Investment Manager’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the Statement or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Statement, including the disclosures,
and whether the Statement represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial results/financial information of the
entities within the Group of which we are the independent auditors and whose financial information we
have audited, to express an opinion on the Statement. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
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and performance of the audit of the financial information of such entities included in the Statement of
which we are the independent auditors. For the other entities included in the Statement, which have
been audited by other auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the audits carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the InvIiT and such other entities included in the
Statement of which we are the independent auditors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit. We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safequards.

Other Matter

a)

b)

The accompanying Statement includes the audited financial statements and other financial information, in
respect of seven subsidiaries, whose financial statements include total assets of INR 57,690.79 million as at
March 31, 2024, total revenues of INR 1,257.58 million and INR 1,257.58 million, total net profit after tax
of INR 2,835.00 million and INR 2,835.00 million, total comprehensive income of INR 2,835.00 million and
INR 2,835.00 million, for the half year and the year ended on that date respectively and net cash inflows of
INR 384.20 million for the year ended March 31, 2024, as considered in the Statement which have been
audited by their respective independent auditors. The independent auditor's report on the financial
statements / financial information of these entities have been furnished to us by the Management and our
opinion on the Statement in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these
subsidiaries is based solely on the reports of such auditors and the procedures performed by us as stated in
paragraph above.

Our opinion on the Statement is not modified in respect of the above matter with respect to our reliance on
the work done and the reports of the other auditors.

The Statement includes the consolidated financial information for the half year ended 31 March 2024 being
the balancing figures between the audited figures in respect of the full financial year ended 31 March 2024
and the unaudited year-to-date figures up to 30 September 2023, being the date of the end of the first half
of the current financial year, which have been prepared solely based on the information as compiled by the
management and approved by the Board of Directors of Investment Manager and has not been subjected to
review or audit.

The Statement includes consolidated financial information for the half year ended 31 March 2023 and period
from June 16, 2022 to March 31, 2023 included as comparative financial information in accompanying
consolidated financial information have been prepared solely based on the information as compiled by the
management and approved by the Board of Directors of Investment Manager and has not been subjected to
review or audit.

ForSRBC&COLLP
Chartered Accountants
ICAl Firm Registration Number: 324982E/E300003

o

Cz." ._.';

per Sukrut Mehta

Partner

Membership Number: 101974
UDIN: 24101974BKERTN1496

Place of Signature: Ahmedabad

Date: May 28, 2024

Page 3 of 4




SRBC&CO LLP

Chartered Accountants

Annexure 1 to the audit report on consolidated financial Information for the half year and year ended March 31,

2024.

Sr. Name of entity
No.

Relationship

1 Bharat Highways InvIT

Holding entity

GR Phagwara Expressway Limited

Wholly Owned Subsidiary (w.e.f. March

1, 2024)

3 | Varanasi Sangam Expressway Private Limited

Wholly Owned Subsidiary (w.e.f. March

1,2024)

4 Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited

Wholly Owned Subsidiary (w.e.f. March

1, 2024)

5 | GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limited

Wholly Owned Subsidiary (w.e.f. March

1, 2024)

6 | GR Sangli Solapur Highways Private Limited

Wholly Owned Subsidiary (w.e.f. March

1, 2024)

7 GR Akkalkot Solapur Highways Private Limited

Wholly Owned Subsidiary (w.e.f. March

1,2024)

8 | GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited

Wholly Owned Subsidiary (w.e.f. March

1, 2024)
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Registered office: Novus Tower, Second Fioor, Plot No. 18, Sector 18, Gurugram, Haryana 122 015, India ﬁ
E-mail: cs@bharatinvit.com; Wet www . bh com, Tel: +9] 85888 55585 BARALT HIEHAATS T

SEBI Registration Number: [N/ InvIT/22-23/0023
STATEMENT OF AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE HALF YEAR AND YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2024

(€ int melion except per unit datu)

Half year ended Year ended For the period
s — TIMar202 | 0Sep223 | NMar202 | Marzoz | ‘iR
e Audited) | (Unaudited) | (Unavdited) |  (Audited) | (Unaudited)
(refer note 9) (refer note 9) (refer note 5) (refer note 9) (refer note 8)
1 |Incomes and gains:
(a) Revenue from operations 1,206.93 - - 1,206.93 -
(b) Interest income on deposit with banks 38.64 - - 38.64 -
(c) Interest income from income tax refund 3543 - . 3543 -
(d) Fair value gain on financial assets measured at FVTPL 507 - - 5.07 -
(&) Other Income 0.15 0.15
Total income and gain 1.286.22 - - 1.286.22 =
11 |Expenses and losses:
(a) Sub-contractor charges 760.11 - - 760.11 »
(b) Valuation expenses 1.30 - - 1.30 -
(c) Audit fees 206 207 - 413 -
(d) Insurance and security expenses 374 - - 374 -
(e) Employee benefils expense 051 - - 051 -
(f) Project management fees (refer note 7 B{ii) 0.18 - - 0.18 -
(g) Investment management fees (refer note 7 B(i)) 4.89 - - 489 -
(h) Trustee fees 029 030 - 059 -
(i) Finance costs 4863 L2 - 249.85 -
(j) Other expenses (refer note 10) 63.74 - - 63.74 -
Total expenses 10855 X : 108501 :
TII |Profit/ (Loss) before tax (I-1T} 20077 (3.59) : 197.18 =
IV |Tax expense:
{a) Current tax 4912 - - 49.12 -
(b) Deferred tax charge - - - - -
Total tax expenses 49.12 - - H12 -
V |Net profit/ (loss) for the year / period (I11-TV) 15165 (3.59) - 148,06 -
V1 |Other comprehensive income ("OC1")
() Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent years
/period (net of tax) 3 B S x =
(b) Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss In subsequent years /period - A y .
(net of tax)
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) - - - - -
VII [Total Comprehensive Income / (Loss) for the year / period (V+VI) 15165 (3.59)] 5 148.06 -
Net profit / (loss) for the year / period attributable to:
- Unit holders 151.65 (3.59) - 148.06 -
- Non controlling interests - - - - -
15165 B39 - 1506 -
Other comprehensive income for the year / period atiributable to:
- Unit holders - - - E =
- Non controlling interests - - = i -
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year / period attributable to :
- Unit holders 151.65 (3.59) = 148.06 -
- Non controlling interests = - 5 - =
15165 (.59) : 14806 -
V1I1|Earnings per unit (face value of T 100 each)
(not annualised for half year) (refer note 7D)
- Basic 4.65 - - 4.65 -
- Diluted 16_5 - = .1,25 -
Notes:-
1 Bharat Highways InvIT (‘the [nvIT’) was set up as an {rrevocable trust under the Indian Trust Act, mz pursuant to trust deed dated 16 June 2022 which was subsequently
amended on December 8, 2022 and October 31, 2023. The InvIT has been regi d as an Inf Trust with Securities Exchange Board of India ('SEBI') under

the Securities Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trust) Regulations, 2014 vide Certificate of Registration (IN/InvIT/22-23/0023) dated 3 August 2022, The
meﬂm[nv]'l’BIDBITMIﬁdpStrvkuIJmilad(lhe'TMM"LSpﬂmaMpmpclman(hlnvﬂkmmhlﬂklndll‘nvmmutﬂu “Sponsor” or
“Project M ) and | ger for the InvIT s GR } s In Private Limited (the "Investment Manager”).

L

The avdited lidated financial inf of the InvIT and its subsidiaries (collectively known as ‘Group’) comp the Consolidated of Profit and Loss,
explanatory notes thereto and the additional disclosures as required in paragraph 6 of Chapter 4 10 the Securities Exchange Board of India (SEBI) master circular no.
SEBI/HO/ DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 Dated July 06, 2023 and SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD/CIR/2023/184 dated December 06, 2023 as amended including lny guﬁﬂj.nl and
circulars issued thereunder ("SEBI Clrculars”) for the half year and year ended March 31, 2024 of the Group (*C lidated Financial Inf "), The ¢ d financial
information are being submitted by the Group f to the reg; of Regul 23 of the SEBI ture Trusts) Reg 2014, as from
time to time including circulars, notifications, chnﬂ:a.llnnumdp.luenm issued thereunder read with SEBI Circulars t"bwl'!' unlam") The above audited consolidated
financial information for the half year and year ended March 31, 2024 has been reviewed by the Audit C and i by the Board of Directors of
Investment Manager at their respective meetings held on May 28, 2024.

The principal activity of Group is to own and nvest in infi assets p rily in the SPVs of 1g in the road ture d ¥ sector In India in accordance
with the provisions of the InvIT Regulations and Trust deed. The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager allocates the resources and assess the performance of the Group
-ndmumﬂ:mu%mﬁngthc&immmmln dance with the req of Ind AS 108 - *Segment Reporting”, hmmmmmopunmgmlsnl

the business as a single seg: hence no needs to be disclosed. As the Group operates only in India, no sep

7' b 1 4
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SEBI Registration Number: IN/InvIT/22-23/0023
STATEMENT OF AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE HALF YEAR AND YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2024

Notes ([continued):-
Under the provisions of the lnvIT Regul the InvIT Is required to distribute to unithold not less than 90% of the net distributable cash flows of the InvIT for each financial
year. Accordingly, the unit capltal contains a contractual obligation to pay cash to the unitholders. Thus, in accord with req of Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments

Presentation, the unit capital contains liability component which should be classified and treated accordingly. However, SEBI Circulars requires the unit capital to be
presented)/ classified as “Equity”, which is at variance from the requirements of Ind-AS 32. In order to comply with the aforesaid SEBI requirements, the InviT has presented unit
capital as equity in these consolidated financial G with unit capital being classified as equity, the distrib to unitholders is also p lin§ of
Changes in Unitholders” Equity when the distributions are approved by the Board of Directors of Investment Manager.

During the year, the InvIT has entered into share purchase agreement dated February 20, 2024 with GR Iniraprojects Limited (GRIL) for acquisition of 100% equity stake in its
seven subsid namely V. { Sangam Exy y Private Limited ("VSEPL"), F Dwarka Exp y Private Limited ("PDEPL™), GR Phagwam Expressway
Limited (“GRPEL"), GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limited ("GRGDHPL"), GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited ("GRASHPL"), GR Sangli Solapur
Highway Private Limited (*GRSSHPL") and GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited ("GRDDHPL") against the same, the InvIT has issued its 13,75,30405 units with issue
price of € 100 per unit as consideration against above sale of shares and 554,08,300 units with issue price of 2 100 per unit towards assignment of loan receivable from above
subsidiaries, which has resulted in the GRIL's holding 43.56% in the InvIT. The equity shares of seven subsidiaries were transferred (o the InvIT on 1 March 2024 thereby the InvIT

obtained control over these subsidiaries. The Group h lidated and expenditure of these subsidiaries from the said date tn these c lidated financial
The I ger has 4 and concluded that as part of the acquisition, the InvIT has acquired net assets/ inputs pertaining to these entities and no substantive
process has been acquired. Accordingly, the In ger has concluded that the acquisition should be treated as an asset acquisition as against the business combination

under Ind AS 103 Business Combination.

The InvIT has carried out Fair valuation of assets acquired, and liability assumed by independent valuer using inputs generally used by market participants in similar transactions
resulting tn fair valuation of T19,409.30 million. Accordingly, InvIT has recognised the net assets of these SPVs at fair value in the lidated financial and
recognised capital reserve amounting to 2 5,656.26 million which is the resultant difference between the fair value and consideration paid by the InvIT arising due to additional
contribution by significant unitholder. The amount of capital reserve is mainly on account of () differences in valuation parameters particularly Weighed Average Cost of Capital

on account of different cost of equity (including debt-equity Yor d g transaction price, (b) InvIT lssue expenses, and (¢} Net present value of InvIT related expenses
lincluding fees payable to ger) considered by InviT g to T 3,017.52 million, ¥ 589.93 million and ¥ 204881 million respectively.

Below is the summary of fair value of individual identifiable assets acquired and labilities d on the date of acq

Particulars VSEPL FDEFL GRPEL____GRGDHPL ___ GRASHPL GRSSHFL ___GRDDHPL
Receivable under service concession agreements 13,080 00 783644 501759 §,114.00 442800 5,192.00 532339
Cash and cash equivalents 37786 480 7346 9537 4039 52537 3ma3
Other bank balances 876 86720 3079 51740 13855 13144 23285
Investments 5425 - £14.18 - - - -
Trade receivables 141 189 w 022 3 047 7855
Other financial assets 988,69 38.06 46570 539,14 0992 6116 49338
Otther assets 50732 32658 7346 562.50 2728 2079 54059
Assets for current tax (net) 88.55 118.94 43.58 101.88 5422 60.06 112,66
‘Total identified assets acquired at fair value (A) 1548684 923390 6,544.90 10,930.51 514170 626229 715256

Liabilities

Borrowings 9,756.84 6,069.12 4534 7/843.68 342940 4,058.58 518238
Trade payables 4197 37 45 367 1858 16.68 147.66
Other financial liabilities o7 00 0.07 0.03 004 o3 003
Other current lisbilities 39 1214 595 un 641 800 9547
Total liabilities assumed (B) 9,502.84 612072 457448 788210 345143 408329

Total identified net assels acquired (C=A-D) 5,584.00 311316 97042 1 1,687.27 2179.00 I3

Consideration paid,/ units issued (D) 40407 243713 1.63 2,07 1.260.00 1.506.53 1,199.10

Capital reserve (E=C-D) 1& 676.05 73879 97353 m M ES

Du.rmguleynr.uwlnvr!hascomphmmmlmpumuﬁﬂmﬂwm.ﬂmmmmwdlimmunnminvﬁwmwmmloftmm
million from the sponsor and eligible unitholders {as defined in Final Offer D . Exp 4 on the IPO is amounting to ¥ 53234 million (including taxes)

IPO expenses of t 62080 million (including taxes) as per FOD). The funds from savings in [PO exp as compared 1o provisional IPO exp shall be transferred
bGﬂurdepnmpurpounﬂnmmylwdﬂuunnd”lnwﬂmhﬂdwwmwu@dlmwmnndmumtslmm:mMn-:hlz
124

The expenses incurred for IPO have been reduced from the Unitheldery’ capital in ! with Ind AS32 F 1] P

The details of amount utilised from IPO ane as follows: (¥ in million)

Particulars Amounitobe | Utilised upto | Unutilised upio |
Utilised as per | 31 March 2024 | 31 March 2024

FOD

Providing Ioans o the Project SPVs for repayment/ pre-payment, in part or in full, of their respective outstanding loans 24,000.00 24,000.00 .

| (including any accrued interest and prepayment penalty)

lssue expenses 62080 135.02 48578

General purposes 37919 79 351.40

Total 24,599 24,16251 837.18

Net proceeds which were un-utilised as at March 31, 2024 are temporarily invested in Deposits with banks as well as kept in escrow account with banks.

[SIGNED FOR IDENTIFICATION
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STATEMENT OF AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE HALF YEAR AND YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2024

7  ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES AS REQUIRED BY PARAGRAFPH 6 OF CHAPTER 4 TO THE SEBI CIRCULARS AND SEBIHO/DDHS-Pol)/CIR/2023/184 dated 06

DECEMBER 2023
(A)  Stat t of Net Di Cash Flows (NDCFs)
(i)  Bharat Highways InvIT (¥ i million)
Half year ended Year-ended | For the period
16 Jun 2022 to
Particulars 31 Mar 2024 | 30 Sep 2023 31 Mar2023 | 31 Mar 2024 31 Mar 2023

(Audited) (Unaudited) | (Unaudited) (Audited) (Unaudited)
(refer note 9) | (refernoted) | (refernote8) | (refer note9) (refer note 8)
Cashflows from operating activities of the InvIT (18.71) - - (18.71) -
Add: Cash flows received from Project SPV's which represent distributions of NDCF

computed as per relevant framework * 1.656.06 ) ] 165606 X

Add: Treasury income / income from investing activities of the InvIT (interest income|

received from FD, any investment entities as defined in Regulation 18(5) of the SEBI

InvIT Regulations, tax refund, any other income in the nature of interest, profit on 012 - - 012 -

of mutual funds, i assets etc., dividend income etc., excluding any Tnd

adjustments which will be considered on a cash receipt basis

Add: Proceeds from sale of infr cture i inf ture assets or shares

of Project SPVs or i entity adjusted for the following o 2 : . 3

» Applicable capital gains and other taxes . . . - -

* Related debis settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds - - - - -
* Directly attributable transaction costs - . - . -
* Proceeds d or pl 1 to be rei 1 as per Regulation 18(7) of the SEBI

|InwIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations 3 ® = < 3

Add: Proceeds from sale of inf ture infr ture assets or sale of

shares of Project SP'Vs or entity nol distributed to an earlier plan

mmnmlnpnkegmﬁunlﬂmdhmmwrkmmmmyoﬂmw - - - = i

pravisions of the SEBI InvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not intended to bef

invested subsequently

Total cash inflow at InvIT lnel. lAJ 163747 - - 165747 -

Less: Finance cost on b ding of any transaction costs as ]

rofit and loss account of the InvIT (2028)] (1.22), 3 (21.

Il.ua: Debt repayment at InvIT level (1o Include principal repayments as per scheduled __f‘ qr‘

EMI's except if refinanced through new debt including overdraft facilities and fo)

exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced through new debt in any form or funds| i § ¥

raised through issuance of units) (60.92) (60.92)

Less: any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant fo thel
obligations arising in accordance with, any: 3 : 5 il 3
(i) loan agreement entered with financial institution; or (196.50) - - (196.50) -
{ii) terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to debi]
securities issued by the InvIT or any of its Project SPVs; or 3 = 2 3 =
(iii) terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external
c cial borrow ings availed by the InvIT or any of its SFV's; or .
(iv) .gnaml pursuant to which the InvIT operates or owns the infrastructure assel,

or ge or cashfl &omouhmtumhu,mmhnw

i power p lpase agr and any| j i . i 2
olhwlufauhmmn.hywhummum or
W A stipulations - - - . 2

Lu:mycapﬁdupaﬂmmmmmmﬂmﬂnndbyunhvﬂ,md!
umtmhmbymfmyw&mmmmlmminﬂuwh = = - . -

vears
Total cash outflow fretention at InvIT level (B) 277 (1 - (278.92) -
H«WMM{CHM 1,_._11,7]' ml -] 135855 -

mﬂvmmﬂmm;wbmmhyurwmmb! 1,380.00 million considered as per note 1 ofdmdnrmfmmm
PoD/P/CIR/2023 /184 dated December 6, 2023.

[SIGNED FOR IDENTIFICATION
PURPOSES ONLY

ISRBC & CO LLP




Bharat Highways InvIT
Registered office: Novus Tower, Second Floor, Plot No. 18, Sector 18, Gurugram, Haryana 122 015, India
E-mail: cs@bharatinvit.com; Website: www . bharatinvit.com, Tel: +91 85888 55586
SEBI Registration Number: IN/InvIT/22-23/0023
STATEMENT OF AUDITED CONSOLIDATFD FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE HALF YEAR AND YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2004

Wﬁnb

7  ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES AS REQUIRED BY PARAGRAPH 6 OF CHAPTER 4 TO THE SEBI CIRCULARS AND SEBY/HO/DDHS-PoD/CIR/2023/1588 dated 06

DECEMBER 2023
ii. SPV level NDCF

Particulars W&mlmmmnnlamh 2024 (Reer Note 5)

VSErL FDEPL

GRPEL _ GRGDHPL _ GRASHPL ___GRSSHPL __ GRDDHPL __

Cash flow from operating activities as per cash flow statement 648.03 89.16

6194 5055 3BT [

87.73

Add: Treasury income / income from investing activities {interest 167 386
income received from FD, tax refund, any other income in the
nature of Interest, profit on sale of mutual funds,
investments, assets etc., dividend income etc., excluding any
Ind AS adjustments. Further, it is clarified that these amounts
will be idered on a cash receipt basis)

4.40 621 4855 0.66

.56

Add: Proceeds from sale of infrastructure i
infrastructure assets or shares of SPVs or investment entity
adjusted for the following
+ Applicable capital gains and other taxes = -
* Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale - -
proceeds
= Directly alu‘ibltuhle trmmun costs - -
Proceed dor p d to be 1as per - -

Beplhlm 18(?) of the SEBI InvIT Regullhom or any other
provisions of the InvIT Regul

Add: l‘mc!edl from sale of infrastructure investments, - -
infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or investment
entity not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re-invest
a5 per Regulation 18(7) of the SEBI InvIT Regulations or any
other relevant provisions of the SEBI InvIT Reguhuum if
such p ds are not ded to be |

Total cash inflow at SPV level 549.70 93.02

;
o
o
I

Less: Finance cost on borrowings, excluding amortisation of any (56.68) 1319
transaction costs as per profit and loss account and any
shareholder debt / loan from InvIT

(13.69)

a2
2
2
]
2

8.51)

Less: Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per - -
scheduled EMI's except if refinanced through new debt
including overdraft Ffacilities and to exclude any debt
pay / debt refi 4 through new debt, in any form
or equity as well as repayment of any shareholder debi /
loan from trust)

(36.14) - - E

Less: any reserve required 1o be created under the terms of, or

P 1 to the obligations arising in accordance with, any:

(i) loan ag i with fi {al institution; or (1,636.69)  (651.42)

(i) terms and conditions, covenanis or any other stipulations - =

applicable o debt securities issued by the InvIT or any of lis

SPVs; or

Iuﬂmnﬁm‘dim covmntsuany other - -
to I ial borrowings

l\rllhdby the InvIT or any of its SPVs; or

(iv) agrumt pursuant to which the InvIT operates or owns - .

the i tructure asset, or or cashfl

from such asset (such as, concesslon agreement, transmission

services agreement, power purchase agreement, lease

agreement, and any other agreement of a like nature, by
whatever name called); or

) ¥, judicial, regulatory, or g | . -

(788.90) (895.48) (343.74) (594.26)

(720.24)

stipul

Less: any capital expenditure on existing assets owned / leased by - -
the InvIT, to the extent not funded by debt / eguity or from
contractual reserves created in the earlier years

Tolal cash outflow Jretention at SPV level (169337 [6b61) ___ (B38.6H)  (913.60) _(35262) (602.77)

Add: Surplus cash available in SPVs due lo:
(1) 10% of NDXCF withheld in line with the Regulations in any
earlier year or half year or
(i) Such surplus being available in a new SPV on acquisition 991.43 82125
of such SPV by InvIT
(iii) Any other reason, excluding If such surplus cash is
available due to any debt raise

(73030

124327 1,049.52 243.04 647.13

sm%y ____Imet a7 6566

g

Nel Distribulable Cash Flows at STV level (224) 24966
B) Investmen! Manager and Project Manager Fees: 4
L Investment Management Fees:

P to the T 2 dated July 21, 2022, Investment Manager is entitled to fees @ 1.50% of aggregate cash flow received from each of the
mmp!rlnmmmdupiuo.w'l incentive of the assets acquired by InvIT plus Goods and Service tax rate as applicable. Accordingly, the amoun! recorded in the
March 2023: Nil) ds | 12 fees. There are no changes

lidated financial ion for the year ended March 31, 2024 is T 4.89 million (31
during the year in the methodology for computation of fees paid to Investment Manager.

il Project Management Fees:

Pursuant to the Project dated December 7, 2023, Project Manager is entitled to fees @ 0.50% of operational and mal ’
lidated financial information for the year ended March 31, 2024 Ingludes

each of subsidiaries per annum Indndlng applicable Goods and Service tax. Accordingly
amount of € 0,18 million (31 March 2023: T Nil) is project
Project Manag: e

SIGNED FOR IDENTIFICATION
PURPOSES ONLY \/
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7  ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES AS REQUIRED BY PARAGRAPH 6 OF CHAPTER 4 TO THE SEBI CIRCULARS AND SEBYHOYDDHS-PoD/CIR/2023/184 dated 06

) Changes in Accounting policies
There is no change in the Accounting policy of the Group for the half year and year ended 31 March 2024.

D) Statement of Earnings per unit:

Basic earnings per unit (EPU) amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to unitholders by lhe ighted ber of units outstandi
during the year. For the purpose of caleulating diluted gs per unil, the weighted averag bers of units durmg Iiw year are adjusted for weighu:d
average number of units that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential units into unit capital
The following reflects the profit and unit data used in the basic and diluted EPU computation: (® in miflion)
Half year ended Year-ended | For the period
16 Jun 2022 to
Particulars 31 Mar 2024 30 Sep 2023 31 Mar 2023 31 Mar 2024 31 Mar 2023
[Andited) | (Unaudited) | (Unaudited) | (Audited) | (Unaudited) |
(refer note 9) | (refes note9) | (refernotes) | (refernote9) | (refernoted) |
Profit / (Loss) attributable to unitholders (2 in million) (A) 151.65 (3.59) - 148.06 -
|Mumber of units outstanding at the end of the year / period (in absolute number)* 44,29,38,605 - - 44.29,38,605 -
Weighted average number of units for the year / period (in absolute number)* (8) 3,18,36,834 - - 3,18,36,834 .
Basic and diluted earning per unit (in 2)** (not annualised for half year) (A/B) 465 - - 465 -
Issue price per unit (in %) 100.00 - - 100.00 =
*The InvIT has Bsued (5 Unil to unitholders upon completion of TPO in March 2024 and accordingly, EPU disclosure in ponding and comparative period i not
applicable and hence not given.
** The InvIT does not have any {ing dilutive p fal §
E) Statement of I Liabilities
Half ended Year-ended | For the period
e 31 Mar2me | 30Sep202s | 31Mar2023 | 31Mar2mes | ‘gIun N0

(Audited) (Unaudited) | (Unaudited) (Audited) {Unaudited)
(refer note 9) | {refer note 9) refernote §) | (refernoted) | (refer note §)
Claims against the Company not acknowledged as debis

E] Indirect tax matters  excluding interest and penalty) :.mm‘ - - 2339.90 -

Indirect tax matter consist of below:
4) In GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limited (SPV), the tax authority has denied input tax credit on a p it basis due to pted turmover and

demanded difference of input tax credit for the period May-2018 to January 2021 vide demand order. The SFV had filed ul'lppul before the Hon'ble High Court, Andhra
Pradesh against said order. Currently, the matter is pending in Hon'ble High Court, Andhra Pradesh. The total amount involved is 2 1,057.25 millions (excluding interest
and penalty) against the same, SPV has paid € 73.72 millions under protest.

b) In case of Parbandar Dwarka E v Private Limited (SPV), the tax authorities has demanded additional tax on turnover which different than disclosed by the SPV
mamumcmwm.nnmnnrmmm&ru‘mmﬂanmr ly, SFV is in p filling appeal against said order as at
reporting date. The total amount involved is 2 1,282.60 millions (excluding and

The Group is g the d is and the g tncludinglumudvl.snn.beliﬂnlhnlIupoﬂumuhnnllwyhuphwmﬂwappdhhpmﬂum
P has been 1 in these lidated financial jon for the tax demand raised. The I ger by that the ulti of those
proceeding will not have a material adverse effect on the Group's financial position and results of operations.

F Y

F) Statemen! of Commitments
The Group has no outstanding commitment as at March 31, 2024 (March 31, 2023 : Nil}

G) Statement of Related Party Transactions:
1 Listof related parties as per the requirements of Ind AS 24 - Related Party Disclosures and Regulation 2(1) (zv) of the InvIT Regulations
Following are the related parties, relationship and transactions entered with related parties given below:

I Entity with significant influence over the Group
a) G Rinfraprojects Limited (w.e.f. March 1, 2024)

11 Parties of Trust
a) Aadharshila Infratech Private Limited - Sponsor and Project Manager (w.e.f. 31.10.2023)
b) GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited - Investment Manager (w.e.f. 21.07.2022)
¢) IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited - Trustee (w.e.f. 21.07.2022)

biid Promoters, Directors and Partners of the persons ioned in 11 above
Particulars and ect M. Investment Trustee
a) Promotors Riya Agarwal ke Private Limited (w.e.f 1212.2022) TDBI Bank Limited
Rahul Agarwal G R Infraprojects Limited (upto 12.12.2022) Life Insurance Corporation of India
Mehul Agarwal General Insurance of India
b) Directors Rahul Agarwal Ajendra Kumar Agarwal Pradeep Kumar Jain (w.e.f. 24.03.2002)
Ramesh Chandra Mehta Siba Narayan Nayak Samuel Joseph Jebaraj (resigned w.e.f. 18.04.2023)
Kishan Kantibai Vachhani Deepak Maheshwari Madhuri J. Kulkamni (resigned w.e.f. 06.12.2022)
Raghav Chandra Baljinder Kaur Mandal { w.e.f. 17.01.2023)
Swati Kulkarni { w.e.f. 13 June 2023) Pradeep Kumar Malhotra ( w.e.l. 14.122022)
Ramesh Chandra Jain ( w.e.f. 13 June 2023) Jayakumar S. Pillai {w .f. 18.07.2023)
¢) Pariners Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

IV Key Managerial Personnel
a) Amit Kumar Singh - Chief Executive Officer of Investment manager
b) Harshasl Sawant - Chief Financial Oﬂhrol‘hmwmwnnger
<) Mohnish Dutta - Company S y of 1
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7 ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES AS REQUIRED BY PARAGRAPH 6 OF CHAPTER 4 TO THE SEBI CIRCULARS AND SEBHO/DDHS-Fol)/CTR/2023/184 dated 06

DECEMBER 2023

G) Statement of Related Party Transactions:

—

2 Transactions with the related parties during the year / period: (2 in million)
Half year ended Year-ended | For the period
16 Jun 2022 to
Particulars 31 Mar 2024 | 30 Sep 2023 31 Mar 2023 31 Mar 2024 31 Mar 2023
(Audited) | (Unaudited) | (Unandited) | (Audited) | (Unaundited)
(refer note 9) | (refer note ) | (refer note 8) {refer note 9) | (refer note 8)
{a) Issue of unit capital
Aadharshila Infratech Private Limited 6,645.00 - - 6,645,00 -
G R Infraprojects Limited 19,293.87 - . 19,293.87 .
(b) Borrowings taken
GR Higt 1 Manager Private Limited 59.10 658 2545 65.68 2545
(¢) Borrowings paid
GR Highway Manager Private Limited 6021 . . 6021 -
(d) P on't ings
GR Highways I Manager Private Limited 199 122 - i -
(e) Investment management fees
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited .89 . - 4.89 .
() Trustee fees
[DBI Trustesship Services Limited 029 030 - 0.59 -
(g) Guaraniees given on behalf of lnvIT
GR Highways I Manager Private Limited 25.00 - - 25,00
qﬂt} Reimb of exp (including issue related expenses)
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 24031 - 4987 24031 4987
G R Infraprojects Limited 362 - 3.62 -
(l) Issue expenses
(D81 Trusteeship Services Limited - - - 048
(i) Project management fees
Aadharshila Infratech Private Limited 018 - - 0.18 =
(k) Sub Contract charges
G R Infraprojects Limited 760.11 . 4 760.11 -
(1) Shared service charges
G R Infraprojects Limited 59 - - 59 -
(m) Purch of subsidiaries (including assig of loans)
G R Infraprojects Limited 19,293.87 - - 19,295.87 -
3 Net ding - payable / receivable as at the end of the year/ period: (% in million)
Half year ended Year-ended | For the period
16 Jun 2022 to
Pasticulars 31 Mar 2024 | 30 Sep 2023 31-Mar-23 31 Mar 2024 31 Mar 2023
e [Onaudited) | ([Unandited) TAudited) (Unaudiled)
refer note 9) | (refernote9) | (refernote8) | (refernoted) | (refer note 8
{a) Other payable
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 17733 45.65 45.65 17733 45.65
G R Infraprojects Limited imn - - n -
[b) Trade payable
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 447 - - 447 -
G R Infraprojects Limited 1.091.93 - . 1,091.93 -
{c) O ding b 1g (including i accrued)
GR Highways [ Manager Private Limited 38 33.25 2545 3381 2545
(d) Outstanding guarantees given on behalf of InvIT
GR Highways [ Manager Private Limited 25.00 s - 25.00 -

SIGNED FOR IDENTIFICATION
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7  ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES AS REQUIRED BY PARAGRAPH 6 OF CHAPTER 4 TO THE SEBI CIRCULARS AND SEBHOYDDHS-PoDyCIR/2023/184 dated 06
DECEMBER 2023

G) Statement of Related Party Transactions:

4 Detalls in respect of related party transactions involving acquisition of InvIT assets as required by Paragraph 4.4 of Chapter 3 to the SEBI Circulars are as follows:-

Half year ended Year-ended | For the
16 Jun 2022 o
P == 31 Mar 2024 30 Sep 2023 31-Mar-23 31 Mar 2024 31 Mar 2023
Z Refer below No Refer below
Acquisition of InvIT assets (refer note 5) pote (a 1o d) Acquisition No Acquisition note (a tod) No Acquisition
Disposal of an InvIT asset No Disposal | No Disposal | No Disposal | No Dig No Disposal |
Nole:
) Summary of the valuation reports (issued by the independent valuer): (€ in willion)
Enterprise value
1 z Discount rate as al
Particulars Method of valuation (WACC) 29 February
2024
Varanasi Sangam Expressway Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.59% 13,638.95
Porbandar Dwarka Exp ay Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 759% 82333
(GR Phagwara Expressway Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.59% 5,096.82
GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 759% 974475
GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 759% 472893
GR Sangli Solapur Highway Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.50% 5519.25
GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 759% 5817.86
b) Material conditions or obligations in relation to the ctil
There are no open material conditions / obligations related to above transaction, other than regulatory approvals oblained by the InvIT.
) Rate of interesl, if external financing has been obtained for the transactionfacquisition;

No external financing has been obtained for the acquisition by the InvIT.

d) Any fees or commissions received or to be received by any associate of the related party in relation to the t
There is no fiees or commission recovered from any associate of the related party in relation to above transaction

8  The InvIT was set up on 16 June 2022 as an irrevocable trust under the Indian Trust Act, 1882. However, there were no transactions for the purpose of consolidated financial
information for the period 16 June 2022 to March 31, 2023 and hence, no figures have been disclosed in the comparative half year ended March 31, 2023 and for the period

from June 16, 2022 to March 31, 2023, which are as compiled by g and app d by Board of Director of Investment Manager but have nol been subjected to
audit or review.

9 The InvIT has acquired SPVs by issuing units on March 1, 2024 and concluded its initial public offer process on March 12, 2024. Hence, the figures for the half year and year
ended Masch 31, 2024 are not comparable with corresponding half year ended March 31, 2023 and the period from June 16, 2022 to March 31, 2023, Further, the consolidated
financial information for the half year ended March 31, 2024 being the balancing figures between the audited figures in respect of the full financial year ended March 31,
2024 and the unaudited year to date figures up to September 30, 2023, being the date of the end of the half year of the current financial year, which have been prepared
solely based on the information as compiled by the " and app 4 by Board of 1 Manager and have not been subjected to audit or review,

10 Other expenses mainly includes legal and professional exp rent exg labour cess charges, electricity
charges, listing expenses and other miscellaneous expenses.

P P social hility expenses, share service

'

11 Investor can view the audited consolidated financial information of the InvIT for the half year and year ended March 31, 2024 on the InvIT's website www bharatinvit.com
or an the website of the stock exchange www.bseindis.com and www.nseindia.com

12 The Board of d of I ger in their ing on May 28, 2024 have approved distribution of Rs 3,00 per unit to the unitholders, which comprises of Rs.
0,50 per unit in the form of interest, Rs. 250 per unit in the form of dividend, Rs. Nil per unit in the form of other income and balance Rs. Nil per unit in the form of capital
repayment for the year, which is payable within 15 days from the date of declaration.

For and on behalf of Board of Directors of
GR Highways I Manager Private Limited
(Asan Manager to Bharat Highways InvIT)

e SIGNED FOR IDENTIFICATION
PURPOSES ONLY

Nayak
Director

DIN: 01832348
Place : Gurugram
Place : May 28, 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Unit Holders of Bharat Highways InvIT

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Bharat Highways InvIT (hereinafter referred
to as “the InvIT") and its subsidiaries (the InvIT and its subsidiaries together referred to as “the Group") comprising of
consolidated Balance sheet as at March 31 2024, the consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss, including other
comprehensive income, the consolidated Statement of Changes in Unit Holder’s Equity, the consolidated Statement
of Cash Flow for the year then ended, the consolidated Statement of Net Assets at fair value as at March 31, 2024,
the consolidated Statement of Total Returns at fair value, the Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs") of
the InvIT and each of its subsidiaries for the year then ended, and a summary of material accounting policies and other
explanatory notes (hereinafter referred to as “the consolidated financial statements").

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and based on the
consideration of reports of other auditors on separate financial statements and other financial information of
subsidiaries, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the information required by the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time
including circulars, notifications, clarifications and guidelines issued thereunder (together referred as the "InvIT
Regulations") in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles
generally accepted in India, of the consolidated state of affairs of the Group as at March 31, 2024, its consolidated
profit including other comprehensive income, its consolidated cash movements and its consolidated movement of the
unit holders' funds for the year ended March 31, 2024, its consolidated net assets at fair value as at March 31, 2024,
its consolidated total returns at fair value and the net distributable cash flows of the InvIT and each of its subsidiaries
for the year ended March 31, 2024.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs),
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further
described in the ‘Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements' section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ‘Code of Ethics’ issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements under the provisions of the InvIT Regulations and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Emphasis of Matter
We draw attention to note 10 (e) which describes the presentation / classification of “Unit Capital” as “Equity" instead
of the applicable requirements of Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation, in order to comply with the relevant

InvIT regulations. Qur opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
olidated financial statements for the financial year ended March 31, 2024. These matters were addressed in the
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We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. We
have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of audit procedures performed by us and by other auditors of
components not audited by us, as reported by them in their audit reports furnished to us by the management, including
those procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Acquisition accounting (as described in note 37 of the consolidated financial statements)

During the year, the InvIT has acquired 100% stake in seven
subsidiaries from GR Infraprojects Limited (GRIL) against
the same, the InvIT has issued its units of 13,75,30,405
with issue price of INR 100 per unit. Further, the InvIT has

Our audit procedures included, among others, the
following:

» Read and assessed the Group's accounting

entered into assignment agreement dated February 20,
2024 with for assignment of its unsecured loan receivable
from above subsidiaries of INR 5,540.83 million in
exchange of 5,54,08,300 units with issue price of INR 100
per unit which resulting in GRIL holding 43.56% stake in the
InvIT.

The Investment manager has made evaluation of the
transaction both from legal compliance and accounting
perspective. Key matters for accounting evaluation
include (a) whether the acquisitions is to be considered as
common control transaction which in turn involves
evaluation of control and relationship between InviT's
Sponsor and GRIL, (b) whether transaction is to be treated
assets acquisition or business combination, (c)
identification of assets acquired, and liabilities assumed,
(d) assessment of fair value of assets and liabilities on the
date of acquisition, and (e) accounting for difference, if
any, arising between fair value of net assets acquired and
consideration paid. Based on the above evaluation, the
Investment manager has accessed and concluded that the
acquisition should be treated as an asset acquisition and
accounted for capital reserve amounting to INR 5,656.26
million. The above transaction involves significant
assumptions and judgement and accordingly the same has
been considered as key audit matter.

policies with respect to acquisition accounting.

Obtained and read through legal opinion obtained
to evaluate its relationship between Sponsor and
GRIL.

Read and evaluated the key terms of the
underlying agreements applicable to the
acquisitions along with the necessary approvals,
as applicable, for the acquisition.

Obtained management’s evaluation relating to
assessment of whether the acquisition s
considered as common control transaction
including its evaluation of relationship with
sponsor.

Obtained management’s evaluation relating to
assessment of whether the acqguisition is
considered as an asset acquisition including
evaluation of optional concentration test under
Ind AS 103.

Obtained and read the fair valuation reports
issued by the independent valuer engaged by the
management for measuring, the assets acquired,
and liabilities assumed, at fair value. Enquired
valuer regarding specific reasons for difference
between fair value of net assets acquired and
consideration paid. Also assessed the
independent valuer's objectivity and
independence.

Involved valuation specialists to review the
significant assumptions such as used by the
independent valuer engaged by the management
in arriving at the fair value of assets and liabilities
acquired.
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Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Assessed the related disclosures and compliance
in the consolidated financial statements regarding
the acquisition.

Finance income on receivable under service concession carried on amortised cost (as described in note 2.2 (f)

and 18 of the consolidated financial statements)

The Group has operational hybrid annuity assets of road
infrastructure under the concession agreement with
Concession Authority. The Group provides construction
and operational services against annuity receivable from
Concession Authority under the concession agreement and
accordingly recognized financial assets in accordance with
appendix D of Ind AS 115, Service Concession
Arrangements.

Finance income on receivable under service concession is
recognized using effective interest rate in accordance with
Ind AS 109. There are significant judgement and estimates
involve determining effective interest rate.

Considering the judgment involved in determination of
effective interest rate due to inherent uncertainty and
complexity of the assumptions used. This is considered as
a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included but were not limited to:

Obtained, read and assessed the Group's policies,
processes and procedures in respect of
preparation of accounting model to determine
effective interest rate.

Obtained and assessed key terms of the

concession agreement.

Obtained the accounting model and understood
the key assumptions around the forecasts like
annuity, interest rate and future operating costs.

Tested on sample basis that the annuity
receivable including interest thereon and
operating cost over period of concession
agreement considered in the respective
accounting models are in agreement with
Concession agreement, as certified by
independent engineers appointed by Authority
and other relevant supporting documents.

Tested the arithmetical accuracy of the model and
effective interest rate.

Read and assessed the adeguacy of the
disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements.

Impairment of receivable under service concession carried on amortised cost (as described in note 2.2 (c) (iv)

and 3 of the consolidated financial statements)

The Group has operational hybrid annuity asset of road
infrastructure under the concession agreement with
Concession Authority. The Group provides construction
and operational services against annuity receivable from
Concession Authority under the concession agreement and
gaccordingly recognized financial assets in accordance
with appendix D of Ind AS 115, Service Concession
Arrangements. The carrying value of receivable under
service concession as at March 31, 2024 is INR 50,187.70
million.

The Group is required to assess whether financial assets
carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired in accordance
with Ind AS 109 at each reporting date. The Group follows
the expected credit loss method for determination of

irment loss which require management judgement
historical payment records, the likelihood of
n based on the terms, evaluation of litigations,

Our audit procedures included but were not limited to:

Obtained, read and assessed the Group's policies,
processes and procedures in respect of
determination of impairment including judgement
and assumption used by the management.

of the

Obtained and assessed key terms

concession agreement.

Performed test of details on selected sample and
tested relevant supporting document including
certification of annuity receivable by lender's
engineers and receipts of annuity receivable
including interest thereon.

Obtained relevant communications to/ from
authority on test check basis.
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Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

credit information of customer as well as the time value of
money.

Considering the significant amounts, estimates and
judgments as stated above, this is considered as a key audit
matter.

e Read and assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements.

Computation and disclosures relating to Statement of Net
at Fair Value under InvIT Regulations

Assets at Fair Value and Statement of Total Returns

The Group is required to disclose Statement of Net Assets
at Fair Value and Statement of Total Returns at Fair Value
pursuant to paragraph 5.2 of Chapter 4 to the Securities
Exchange Board of India (SEBI) master circular no.
SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 Dated July 06,
2023 as amended including any Guideline and Circulars
issued thereunder (“SEBI Circulars") which requires fair
valuation of the assets. Such fair valuation has been
carried out by the independent valuer appointed by the
Group.

For the purpose of the above, fair value is determined by
forecasting and discounting future cash flows.

The processes and methodologies for assessing and
determining the fair value is based on complex
assumptions, that by their nature imply the use of the
management's judgment, in particular with reference to
assumptions used in the discounted cash flow models, such
as annuity, interest rate, discount rate and future
operating cost based on management's view of future
business prospects.

Considering the judgment involved in determination of fair
values due to inherent uncertainty and complexity of the
assumptions used, accordingly, this is considered as a key
audit matter.

Qur audit procedures included but were not limited
to:

« Read the requirements of InvIT regulations for
disclosures relating to Statement of Net Assets at
Fair Value and Statement of Total Returns at Fair
Value.

» Obtained understanding of the Group's policy on
the assessment and valuation methodology
applied in determining the fair valuation including
preparation of statement of Net Assets at Fair
Value and Statement of Total Returns at Fair
Value as per SEBI Circulars.

e Obtained and read the valuation report by the
InviT's independent valuation expert, and
assessed the expert's competence, capability and
objectivity.

e Obtained the fair valuation model and
understood the key assumptions around the cash
flow forecasts like annuity, interest rate,
discount rate and future operating costs.

o Tested on sample basis that the annuity
receivable including interest thereon and
operating cost over period of concession
agreement considered in the respective fair
valuation models are in agreement with
Concession agreement and as certified by
independent engineers appointed by Authority
and other relevant supporting documents.

« Inperforming the above procedures, we used our
valuation specialists to perform an independent
review of methodology and key assumptions
used in the valuation.

o Tested the arithmetical accuracy of the fair
valuation model.

e Read and assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Information Other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon

The Management of GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited (the “Investment Manager") is responsible for
the other information other than the consolidated financial statements and auditor’'s report thereon. The other
information other than the consolidated financial statements and auditor's report thereon comprises the information
included in the Annual Report but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information other than the consolidated
financial statements and auditor’s report thereon and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
other than the consolidated financial statements and auditor’s report thereon and, in doing so, consider whether such
other information other than the consolidated financial statements and auditor's report thereon is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information other than the consolidated financial statements and auditor's report thereon, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager are responsible for the preparation and presentation of these
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position, consolidated
financial performance including other comprehensive income, consolidated cash movements and the consolidated
movement of the unit holders' funds for the year ended March 31, 2024, the consolidated net assets at fair value as
at March 31, 2024, the consolidated total returns at fair value of the InvIT and the net distributable cash flows of the
InvIT and each of its subsidiaries in accordance with the requirements of the InvIT Regulations; the Indian Accounting
Standards as defined in Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended), and
other accounting principles generally accepted in India. The respective Board of Directors of the companies included
in the Group are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records for safeguarding of the assets of the
Group and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate
accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and the design,
implementation and maintenance of adequate controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and
completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the management, as
aforesaid.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager and the
respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are responsible for assessing the ability of the
Group to continue as a going concern, disclesing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The management and respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are responsible for
overseeing the financial reporting process of the Group.

C E:,Ai;df or's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

tives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
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are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

» |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

»  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing opinion on effectiveness of the entity's
internal controls.

»  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

»  Conclude on the appropriateness of management'’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

»  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

»  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group of which we are the independent auditors, to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of the
financial statements of such entities included in the consolidated financial statements of which we are the
independent auditors. For the other entities included in the consolidated financial statements, which have been
audited by other auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the audits carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the InvIT and such other entities included in the consolidated
financial statements of which we are the independent auditors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended March 31, 2024 and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes

unicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Other Matter

a)

b)

We did not audit the financial statements and other financial information, in respect of seven subsidiaries, whose
financial statements include total assets of INR 57,690.79 million as at March 31, 2024, and total revenues of
INR 1,257.58 million and net cash inflows of INR 384.20 million for the year ended on that date. These financial
statement and other financial information have been audited by other auditors, which financial statements, other
financial information and auditor's reports have been furnished to us by the management. Our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, in sofar as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of
these subsidiaries and our report in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries is based solely on the reports
of such other auditors.

Our opinion above on the consolidated financial statements and our report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matter with respect to our reliance on the work done
and the reports of the other auditors and the financial statements.

The financial statements of the InvIT for the period from June 16, 2022 to March 31, 2023 included as
comparative financial information in the accompanying consolidated financial statement have been prepared
solely based on the information compiled by the Investment Manager and approved by the Board of Directors of
Investment Manager and has not been subjected to audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Based on our audit and on the consideration of report of the other auditors on separate financial statements and the
other financial information of the subsidiaries as noted in the ‘other matter’ paragraph, we report that;

A.

We/the other auditors whose report we have relied upon have sought and obtained all the information and
explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit;

The Consolidated Balance Sheet, and the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss are in agreement with the
books of account; and

In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards (Ind AS)
and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules,
2015, as amended.

ForSRBC&COLLP

Chartered Accountants

ICAI Firm Registration Number: 324982E/E300003
-

per Sukrut Mehta

Partner

Membership Number: 101974
UDIN: 24101974BKERTM6957

Place of Signature: Ahmedabad
Date: May 28, 2024
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Bharat Highways InvIT
Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2024

All amounts in Rupees million unless otliermise stated

WHARAT HHEHWATE INVTT

ICAI Firm's Registration N;}jﬁ”&mnm
PZ,,_A&« e

per Sukrut Mehta

Partner

Membership No: 101974

Place : Ahmedabad
Date : May 28, 2024

As al As at
Notes 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
Assels
Non-current assets
() Financial assets
(i) Receivable under service concession arrangements El 47,002.25 =
(i) Other financial assets 4 1,239.01 =
(b) Assets for current tax (net) 5 139.85 -
{c) Other non-current assets & 25471 -
Total Non-Current Assets 48,635.62 -
Current assels
(a) Financial assets
(i) Investments 7 673,50 -
(i) Trade receivables B 6044 -
(iii) Cash and cash equivalents 9 191297 0.09
(iv) Bank balance cther than (iii) above 9 3,209.56 -
(v) Receivable under service concession agreements E] 3,18545 -
(vi) Other financial assets 4 2,702.49 -
(b) Other current assels 6 2.213.88 77.97
Total Current Assets 13,958.29 78.06
Total Assets 62,594.11 78.06
— —
Equity and Habilities
Equity
(@) Corpus contribution 0.01 0.01
(b) Unitcapital 10 43,761.52 -
(c) Other equity 1 580432 -
Total Unit Holder's Equity 49,565.85 0.01
Liabilities
Non-carrent liabilities
(a) Financial liabilities
(i) Borrowings 12 9,730.48 -
Total Non-Current Liabilities 9,730.48 -
Current liabilities
(a) Financial Habilities
(i) Borrowings 13 1,645.55 545
(i) Trade payables 14
{a) Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 0.68 -
(b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 1,118.80 -
(iii) Other financial liabilities 15 361.50 4745
(b) Other current liabilities 16 163.12 515
(c) Liabilities for current tax (net) 17 8.13 -
Total Current Liabilities 3,297.78 78.05
Total Liabilities 13,028.26 78,05
Total Equity and Liabilities 6259411 806
Summary of material acc ing policies 22
The accompanying noles are an integral part of these c lidated financial [
As per our report of even dale
ForSRBC & COLLP For and on behalf of Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants GR Highways Investment Manager Privale Limited

(As an Investment Manager to Bharal Highways InvIT)

e

Sib ayan Nayak
Director

DIN: 01832348

Place : Gurugram
Date : May 28, 2024

Place : Gurugram
Date : May 28, 2024

‘A,_:;‘O-/g"

Amit Kumar Singh
Chief Executive Officer

Place : Gurugram
Dale : May 28, 2024

Mo\—'s)

Mohnish Dutta
Company Secretary

ICST Mem. No. FCS10411
Place : Gurugram

Dhate : May 28, 2024




Bharat Highways InvIT
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended 31 March 2024

All amonnts in Rupees million unless otherwise shated

ol

Year ended Period ended
Notes 31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March
(Refer Note 30)
1 Incomes and gains:
(a) Revenue from operations 18 1.206.93 =
(b) Interest income on deposit with banks 38.64 =
(¢) Interest income from income tax refund 3543 =
(dl) Fair value gain on Anancial assets measured at FVTPL 507 -
(e) Other Income 0.15
Total income and gain 1,.286.22 &
11 Expenses and losses:
(a) Sub-contractor charges 760,11 -
(k) Valuation expenses 1.30 .
(c) Audit fees 113 -
(d) Insurance and security expenses 374 -
(e) Employes benefits expense 19 0.51 -
(f) Project management fees 20 018 -
() Investment management fees 21 4.89 -
(h) Trustes fees 059 -
() Finance cosls 2 249.85 -
(j) Other expenses b 63.74 -
Total expenses 1,089.04 -
I Profit before tax (I-11) 197.18 -
IV Tax expense: 2
(a) Current tax 49,12 -
(b) Deferred tax charge - =
Total tax expenses 49.12 =
'V Net profit for the year / period (III-IV) 148.06 -
V1 Other comprehensive income ("OCT")
(a) Items thal will not be reclassified to prafit or loss in subsequent years / period (nel of tax) - -
{b) llems that will be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent years / period (net of tax) - -
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) - -
VII Total Comprehensive Income for the year / period (V+VI) 148.06 -
Net profit for the year/period attributable to:
- Unit holders 148.06 =
= Non contralling interests x ]
148.06 -
Other comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
- Unit holders - L
- Non controlling interests = L
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
- Unit holders 148.06 =
- Non controlling interests - -
146.06 -
Earnings per unit (issue value ¥ 100 each) (in ¥)
- Basic 25 4.65 -
- Diluted 4.65 =
Summary of material accounting policies
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these ldated financial
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Bharat Highways InvIT

|

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Unit Holders' Equity for the year ended 31 March 2024

All aponnts in Rupees million unless othernise stated

A Unit Capital (unit of 2 100 each)

As at 16 June 2022 (refer note 40)

Add: Unit issued during the period (refer note 10)
As at 31 March 2023

Asat1 April 2023

Add: Unit issued during the year (refer note 10)
Less [ssue expenses (refer note 10)

As at 31 March 2024

B Other equity

As at 16 June 2022 (refer note 40)
Add: Profit for the period

Total comprehensive income for the period
Less: Distributed during the perlod *

As at 31 March 2023

Asat1 April 2023
Add: Profit for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year
Add : On account of acquisition (refer note 37)

Less; Distributed during the year (refer note below)

As at 31 March 2024

* The InvIT has not made any distribution during the previous year.

Note:

BHARAT HISHWAYE INTT

Number

of unils Amount
44,29,38,605 44,293 86
S (532.34)
44,29,38 605 43,761.52

— Reservesandsurplus Total
Retained Earnings ~ Capital Reserve
(refer note 11) {refer note 11)

148.06 - 148,06
145.06 - 148.06
- 5,656.26 565626
148,06 5,656.26 580432

1 The Board of directors of Investment manager in their meeting on May 28, 2024 have approved distribution of Rs 3.00 per unit to the unitholders, which comprises of Rs. 0,50
per unit in the form of interest, Rs. 250 per unit in the form of dividend, Rs. Nil per unit in the form of other income and balance Rs. Nil per unit in the form of capital

repayment for the year, which is payable within 15 days from the date of declaration.

2 The distributions that will be made to unitholders will be based on the Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) of InvIT under the InvIT Regulations.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these «

1 financial
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Bharat Highways InvIT
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March 2024

All wmonnts in Rupees million unless otherwise stated BANAT HIPWATS 6vT]
Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
A Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 197.18 -
Adjustuent cile [ i irs:
Interest income (74.07)
Falr value on financial assets measured at FVTPL (net) (5.07) -
Finance income on financial assets carried on amortised cost (307.37) -
Finance costs 249.85 “
Operating Profit before Working Capital changes 60.52 -
Adjustment for changes in working capital :
(Increase) In recelvable under service concession arrangements (121,58} -
Decrease / (Increase) In financial and other assets 77.65 {2.95)
Decrease in trade receivables 2751 -
Increase in trade payables 797.10 -
Increase in provisions, financial and ather liabilities 1144 5.15
Cash generated from operating activities B52.64 220
Direct tax paid (net of refunds) 43448 -
Net Cash generated from operating activities 128712 2.20
B Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Ls ts) in bank deposits having original maturity of more than three months (net) (1,307.86) =
Earmarked Balance with banks (473.56) r
Interest received on bank deposits / receivable under service concession arrangements 254.99 -
Net Cash generated (used in) investing activities (1,526.43) -
C Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from Corpus contribution - o.m
Proceeds from issue of units (refer note 4 below) 24,999.99 -
Unit issue expenses paid (143.75) (27.57)
Proceeds from non-current barrowings 4873.68 -
Repayment of non-current borrowings (28,832.88) -
Proceeds / (repayment) of current borrowings (net) 547 2545
Interest paid (278.72) =
Net cash generated from / (used in) financing activities 623,79 Z.11)
Net Increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 38448 0m
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year/ period 0.09 -
Cash and cash equivalents on account of acquisition of subsidiaries * 152840 -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year / period 191297 0.09
— —
* Pertains to subsidiaries acquired during the year (refer note 37)
Notes:
1 Companents of cash and cash equivalents (refer note 9) Asal As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Cash on hand 012 0.01
Balance with banks
in current account 1,149.07 0.08
Deposits with bank having original maturity of less than three months 763.78 L
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year / period 0.09

2 The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared under the "Indirect Method" as sel oul in Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) - 7 "Statement of Cash

Flows".

3 Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities in terms of Ind AS 7:

On account of
Asat acquisition of  Net cash Othiers * As at
1April2023  subsidiaries flow 31 March 2024
(refer note 37)
Non-current borrowings ( including current maturities and Interest) - 3533318  (24237.92) 24696 1134222
Current borrowings 2545 W 547 289 3351
Total 2545 3533318 mw_ 249.85 11,376.03
On account of
Asal acquisitionof  Net cash Others * Asal
16June 2022 subsidiaries flow 31 March 2023
(refer nole 37)
MNon-current borrowings { including current maturities and interest) - - - 3 -
Current borrowings > = 2545 = 2545
Total - - 2545 - 2545

* Others represent interest accrued and other borrowing cost accrued during the year/ period.




Bharat Highways InvIT
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March 2024

Al amourits in Rupees million unless othermise staled BHARAT (SRS i

4

Notes (continued):

4 The InvIT has acquired 100% equity stake in GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited, GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited, GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli
Highway Private Limited, GR Phagwara Expressway Limited, Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited, Varanas] Sangam Expressway Private Limited and GR Sangli
Solapur Highway Private Limited from G R Infraprojects Limited in exchange of issuance of 13,7530,405 its units as consideration. Additionally, pursuant o assignment
agreement entered with G R Infraprojects Limited dated February 20, 2024, InvIT has issued 5,54,08,300 units toward assignment of outstanding unsecured loan of T 5.540.83
million given by G R Infraproejcts Limited to subsidiary companies. The same being non-cash tranasclion is not reflected in consolidated cash flow L

5 Figures In brackels represent outflows.

Refer note 2.2 for S v of material acc ing policies

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these ¢ lidated financial I
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Bharat Highways InvIT
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars as at and for the year ended 31 March 2024

4

Al wmtotmts in Rupees miifllion unless othernnse stuld - -

Security Exchange Board of India (SEBI) Master Circular No, SEBI/HO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated 06 July 2023 and SEBI Circular No. SEBHO/DDHS-
PoD/CIR/2023/184 dated 06 December 2023 issued under the lnvIT Regalations, as amended including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder ("SEBI Circulars")

A.St of Net Distri le Cash Flows (NDCFs)
1. Bharat Highways InvIT (lnviT')
Year ended Period ended
Particulars 31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
1o 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
Cashflows from operating activities of the Trust (18.71) -
Add: Cash flows received from SPV's which represent distributions of NDCF computed as per rel f k* 1,656.06 =
Add: Treasury income / income from investing activities of the InvIT (intercst income received from FD, any investment 012
entities as defined in Regulation 18(5) of the SEBI InvIT Regulations, tax refund, any other income in the nature of
interest, profit on sale of mutual funds, investments, assets et,, dividend income elc,, excluding any Ind AS :
adjustments which will be considered on a cash receipt basis
Add; Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastricture assets or shares of SPVs or investment entity
adjusted for the following
« Applicable capital gains and other laxes = -
* Related debis settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds - .
* Directly attributable transaction costs - -
* Proceeds ref d or pl d to be rei 1 as per Regulation 18(7) of the SEBI InvIT Regulations or any other -
relevant provisions of the InvIT Regulations
Add: Proceeds from sale of infrastructure Investments, infrastructure assets or sale of shares of SPVs or investment entity - -
not distributed pursuant to an earlier plan to re-invest as per Regulation 18(7) of the SEBI InvIT Regulations or any
other relevant provisions of the SEBI InvIT Regulations, if such proceeds are not intended to be invested
subsequently
Less: Finance cost on barrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction costs as per profit and loss account of the (21.50) =
InvIT
Less: Debt repayment at InvIT level (1o include principal repayments as per scheduled EMT's except if refinanced through (60.92) -
new debt including overdraft facilities and to exclude any debt repay / debt refinanced through new debt in
any form or funds raised through issuance of units)
Less: any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in accordance with, any: - -
Less: any reserve required Io be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the obligations arising in accordance with, any:
(i) loan agreement entered with financial institution; or - -
(il) terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable o debt securities issued by the InvIT or any {196.50) -
of ils SPVs; or
(i) terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable to external commercial borrowings availed - -

by the InvIT ar any of its SFVs; or

(iv) agreement pursuant to which the InvIT operates or owns the infrastructure asset, or generates revenue or - -
cashflows from such asset (such as, concession L ission services power purchase

o (.}

g lease ag) and any other agreement of a like nature, by whalever name called); or

v) statutory, judicia ulatory, or governmental sHpulations - -
Less: any capital expenditure on existing assels owned / leased by the InvIT, to the extent not funded by debl / equity or - -
from contractual reserves created in the earlier years

Net Cash Flows 1 5
o udes diyl m /s subsequent o year end amounting lo T 1Mnn considered as per note 1 of d.k.‘ll..s; ﬁﬁ!’ﬁﬂ?ﬁnﬂsmnﬂ&

PaD/P/CIR/2023/ 184 dated December 6, 2023,




Bharat Highways InvIT e
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars as at and for the year ended 31 March 2024 w

. RAATAT VAT Mo
All amounts in Rupees willion unless otherise stated

Security Exchange Board of India (SEBI) Master Circular No. SEBYHO/DDHS-PoD-2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated 06 July 2023 and SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/DDHS-
PoD/CIR/2023/184 dated 06 December 2023 fssued under the InvIT Regulations, as amended including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder ("SEBI Circulars")

A.S ts of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs)

IL SPV level NDCE

Particulars Period from 1 March 2024 (o 31 March 2024 (Refer Note 40)
VSEPL PDEFL GRPEL GRGDHFPL GRASHFL GRSSHPL GRDDHPL

_Casht flow from operating activities ns per cash flow st 648.03 89.16 61.94 50.55 32378 44,64 87.73
Add: Treasury income / income from investing activities (interest income 1.67 3.86 440 621 24855 0.66 4.56

received from FD, tax refund, any other income in the nature of interest,

profit on sale of mutual funds, investments, assets etc., dividend income

ele,, excluding any Ind AS adjustments. Further, it is clarified thal these

amounts will be considered on a cash receipl basis)

Add; Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or
shares of SPVs or investment entity adjusted for the following
+ Applicable capital gains and other taxes - - - - - - -
* Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds - - - - - - -
+ Directly attributable transaction costs - - - - - - -
* Proceeds reinvested or planned to be rei 1 as per Regulation 18(7) - - - - - - -
of the SEBI InvIT Regulations or any other relevant provisions of the
InvIT Regulations
Add: Proceeds from sale of infrastructure investments, infrastructure assets or - - - - - - -
sale of shares of SPV's or investment entity not distributed pursuant to an
earlier plan to re-Invest as per Ragulation 18(7) of the SEBI InvIT
Regulatium ar any other relevant provisions of the SEBI InvIT
lations, if such p ds are not i led to bei ted
suhsaqumti}
Total cash inflow at SPV level 649,70 93.02 66.34 5676 57233 4530 9229
Less: Finance cost on borrowings, excluding amortisation of any transaction (56.68) (13.19) (13.64) (18,16) (8.88) (8.51) (10.06)
costs as per profit and loss account and any shareholder debt / loan
from InvIT

Less: Debt repayment (to include principal repayments as per scheduled EMI's - - (36.14) - - - -
except If refinanced through new debt including overdraft facilities and v
to exclude any debt repayments / debt refinanced through new debt, in
any form or equity as well as repayment of any shareholder debt / loan
from trust)
Less: any reserve required to be created under the terms of, or pursuant to the
obligations arising in accordance with, any:
(i) loan agreement entered with financial institution; or (1,636.69) (651.42) (788.90) (B95.48) (343.74) (594.26) (720.24)
(i) terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable . - - - - - -
to debt securities issued by the InvIT or any of its SPVs; or

(i) terms and conditions, covenants or any other stipulations applicable - - - = = = 5
to external commercial borrowings availed by the InvIT or any of its

SPVs; or
(iv) agreement pursuant to which the InvIT upetams or owns the - - - - = 2 -
infrastructure asset, or g hilows from such asset

(such as, concession agr services ag) power
purchase agreement, lease agreemenl, and any other agreement of a like
nature, by whatever name called); or

(v) statutory, judicial, regulatory, or governmental stipulations - - - - - - -
Less: any capital expenditure on existing assels owned / leased by the InvIT, to - - - - - - -

the extent not funded by debt / equity or from contractual reserves

created in the carlier years

Total cash ll_urﬂuwt retention at SPV level (1,693.37) (664.61) (B36.68) (913.64) (352.62) (602.77) (73030)
Add: Surplus cash available in SFVs due to:

(i) 10% of NDCF withheld in line with the Regulations in any earlier year

or half year or

(i) Such surplus being available in a new SPV on acquisition of such SPV 991.43 82125 1,243.27 1,049.52 243.04 647.13 889.98

by InvIT

(iii) Any other reason, excluding if such surplus cash is available

due to any debt raise
Net Distributable Cash Flows at SP'V level ;5224] 249,66 47093 19264 462.75 59.66 25197
" - = — — a1




Bharat Highways InvIT =
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars as at and for the year ended 31 March 2024

Al amonnts i Rupees million unless atherwise stated
HHARAT HIGHWATE INTT

Security Exchange Board of India (SEBI) Master Circular No. SEBYHO/DDHS-PoD-2/T/CIR/2023/115 dated 06 July 2023 and SEBI Circular No. SEB/HO/DDHS-
PoD/CIR/2023/184 dated 06 December 2023 issued under the InvIT Regulations, as amended including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder ("SEBI Circulars”)

B. Statement of Net Assets at Fair Value

As al Asat

Particulars 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

(Refer Note 40)

Book value Fair value Book value Fair

1 Assels 62,5911 63,576.04 78.06 78.06
Il Liabilities (at book value) 13,028.26 13,02826 78.05 7B.05
M Nel Assets (I-T) 49,565.85 50,547.78 0.01 0.0
IV No. of units (in absolute number) (refer nole (i) and 10) 44,29,38,605 44,29,38,605 c -
vV NAV (I IV) (refer note (i) below) 111.90 114.12 - -
Notes:

i. As the unils have been issued during the year ended March 31, 2024, accordingly, disclosures in respect of number of units and NAV per unit have not been presented in the
comparative period ended March 31, 2023

ii. Project wise break up of Fair value of Assets as at 31 March 2024,

Particulars As at As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
T [Refer Note 40)
() Varanasi Sangam Expressway Private Limited 16,480.18 -
(i) Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited 935747 -
(iify GR Phagwara Expressway Limited 6,540.30 -
(iv) GRGundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limited 11,121.27 -
{v) GR AkkalkotSolapur Highway Private Limited 537027 -
(vl) GR Sangli Solapur Highway Private Limited 6,279.52 -
(vii) GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited 7.36029 -
Sub Total .30 -
_Lll_ InvIT Assets m?d -
Total Assels 63,576.04 -

{ii. The above fair value of total assets as at 31 March 2024 s based on salely on the fair valuation report dated May 27, 2024 of the Independent valuer appointed by Investment
Manager .

iv. Fair values of assets have been arrived by the valuer after adding the cash and cash equivalents, investments, etc in the enterprise value.
v, The Group has acquired above subsidiaries during the year and hence fair value of total assets has not beer § d in the comparative period ended March 31, 2023,

C. Statement of total returns at fair value (refer note (ii) below)
Particulars

Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
Total Comprehensive Income (As per the Statement of Profit and Loss) 148.06 &
Add/ (less): Other Changes in Fair Value (e.g. in investment property, property, plant & equipment (if cost model is followed)) 981.93 -
nol recogni d In Total Comprehensive Income (refer note below)
Total Return 1,129.99 -
Notes :

i As all the subsidiaries have been acquired in the current year (refer note 37), hence, there is no change in the fair value from the previous year which has been reported above.

ii. In the above statement, other changes in fair value for the year ended March 31, 2024 has been computed based on the fair values of total nssets as al March 31, 2024 and
Pebruary 29, 2024 which are based solely on the valuation reports dated May 27, 2024 of the independent valuer appointed under InvIT Regulations and has been relied
upon by the auditors.

iiil. Sensitivity analysis with respect to significant unobservable inputs used in the fals value measurement has been disclosed in Note 30,

As per our report of even date
ForSRBC& COLLP For and on behalf of Board of Directors of
Chartered Accountants CR Highways Inv M Private Limited
ICAI Firm's Registration No 324982F / E300003 (As an Investment Manager to Bharat Highways InvIT)
per Sukrut Mehta Siba N, Nayak Amit Kumar Singh
Partner Director Chief Executive Officer
Membership No: 101974 DIN: 01832348

Place : Gurugram Place : Gurugram

Date: May 28, 2024 Date : May 28, 2024

.
Mo\\—1s}
oS>
Harshael Sawant Maohnish Dutta
Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary
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Date : May 28, 2024 Date : May 28, 2024 Date : May 28, 2024
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Bharat Highways InvIT
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2024

1

21

InvIT Information

The Consolidated financial statements comprise financial statements of Bharat Highways InvIT (‘the
Holding Entity, ‘the Parent’ or ‘the InvIT’) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as a ‘the Group’) for the
year ended March 31, 2024. The InvIT was set up as an irrevocable trust under the Indian Trust Act, 1882
pursuant to Trust Deed dated 16 June 2022 which was subsequently amended by First Amended and
Restated Indenture of Trust dated December 8, 2022 and further amended on October 31, 2023. The InvIT
has been settled for an initial sum of % 10,000. The InvIT has been registered as an Infrastructure Investment
Trust with Securities Exchange Board of India ('SEBI') under the Securities Exchange Board of India
(Infrastructure Investment Trust) Regulations, 2014 vide Certificate of Registration (IN/InvIT/22-23/0023)
dated 3 August 2022,

The Trustee to the InvIT is IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited (the “Trustee”), Sponsor and project manager
of the InvIT is Aadharshila Infratech Private Limited (the “Sponsor” or “Project Manager”) and Investment
manager for the InvIT is GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited subsidiary of Lokesh Builders
Private Limited (the "Investment Manager”). The registered office of the InvIT is located at Novus Tower,
Second Floor, Plot No. 18, Sector 18, Gurugram, Haryana-122015, India. The InvIT’s units got listed on NSE
and BSE stock exchange on 12 March 2024.

The object and purpose of the InvIT, as described in the Trust Deed, is to carry on the activity of an
infrastructure investment trust as permissible under SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations,
2014 as amended from time to time including circulars, notifications, clarifications and guidelines issued
thereunder to raise funds through the InvIT, to make investments in accordance with the InvIT Regulations
and the investment strategy and to carry on the activities as may be required for operating the InvIT,
including incidental and ancillary matters thereto. The principal activity of InvIT is to own and invest in
infrastructure assets primarily in the road sector in India through special purpose vehicles with the objective
of producing stable and sustainable distributions to unitholders.

The Consolidated Financial Statements were approved for issue in accordance with resolution passed by
the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager, acting on behalf of the InvIT on May 22, 2024.

Material Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation and consolidation

The Consolidated financial statements comprise of the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2024,
the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss including the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income,
the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Unit Holders’ Equity and the Consolidated Statement of Cash
Flow for the year then ended, the Consolidated Statement of Net Assets at fair value as at March 31, 2024,
the Consolidated Statement of Total Returns at fair value and the Statement of Net Distributable Cash
Flows ('NDCFs') of the InvIT and each of its subsidiaries for the year then ended and a summary of material
accounting policies and other explanatory notes (collectively, the “Consolidated Financial Statements”)
prepared in accordance with requirement of SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as
amended from time to time including circulars, nofifications, clarifications and guidelines issued
thereunder (“InvIT Regulations”) and SEBI Master Circular No. SEBI/ HO/DDHS-PoD-
2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated 06 July 2023 and SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/DDHS- PoD/CIR/2023/184
dated 06 December 2023 issued under the SEBI InvIT Regulations ("SEBI Circulars"); Indian Accounting
Standards as defined in Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as
amended) and other accounting principles generally accepted in India. The Group has prepared the
financial statements on the basis that it will continue to operate as a going concern.




Bharat Highways InvIT
Notes to consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on a historical cost convention and on an
accrual basis except for certain financial assets and liabilities which has been measu red at fair value (refer
accounting policy regarding financial instruments).

The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in INR, which is the functional currency of the Group.
The Group does not have any foreign operation and has assessed the functional currency to be INR. All
values are rounded to the nearest Million rupees, unless otherwise indicated. Certain amounts that are
required to be disclosed and do not appear due to rounding-off are expressed as 0.00. The consolidated
financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous period.

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the InvIT and its subsidiaries as
at March 31, 2024. Control is achieved when the InvIT is exposed or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

o Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant

activities of the investee)
o Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and
o The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this
presumption and when the Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including; (i) The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee: (ii) rights arising
from other contractual arrangements: (iii) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights, other vote
holders or other parties: (iv) the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and
dispersion of the holdings of the other voting rights holders: (v) any additional facts and circumstances
that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the
time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions
and other events in similar circumstances. The financial statements of all entities used for the purpose of
consolidation are drawn up to same reporting date as that of the parent company, i.e., year ended on 31
March.

The procedure for preparing Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group are stated below -

i) Combine like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows of the parent with those
of its subsidiaries. For this purpose, income and expenses of the subsidiary are based on the amounts of
the assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial statements at the acquisition date;

ii) Offset (eliminate) the carrying amount of the parent’s investment in each subsidiary and the parent’s
portion of equity of each subsidiary. Business combinations policy explains how to account for any
difference;
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iii) Eliminate in full intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between entities of the Group. Ind AS 12, Income Taxes applies to temporary differences
that arise from the elimination of profits and losses resulting from intragroup transactions.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the unitholders
of the Trust and to the non-controlling interests (if any), even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries
to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's accounting policies. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the group.

When a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary resulting to the loses of control over a subsidiary, it
(i) derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the date when control
is lost, (ii) derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests, (iii), recognises the fair value
of the consideration received, (iv) recognises the fair value of any investment retained and (v) recognises any
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
Ind AS 109, or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in associate.

The Group has the following operational entities (‘Special Purpose Vehicles’ or ‘SPVs’) which has principal
activities of construction and operation of national highways projects on Build Operate and Transfer basis
(BOT) which has been included in the Consolidated financial statement of the Group:

Country of % of holding as on
Name of the company incorporati 31 March 31 March
on 2024 2023

GR Phagwara Expressway Limited* India 100.00 -
Varanasi Sangam Expressway Private Limited" India 100.00 -
Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited* India 100.00 -
GR Sangli Solapur Highway Private Limited* India 100.00 -
GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited* India 100.00 =
GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limited* India 100.00 -
GR Dwarka Devariya Highways Private Limited* India 100.00 -

*Acquired during the financial year 2023-24.

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
The following are the material accounting policies applied by the Group in preparing its Consolidated
financial statements:

a. Current versus non-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the Balance Sheet based on current/non-current classification.
An asset is current when it is:
o Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle;
* Held primarily for the purpose of trading;
o Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or
ash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at

'ghwe
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All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

¢ Itis expected to be settled in normal operating cycle

o Itis held primarily for the purpose of trading

e Itis due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or

e There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting period

The terms of the liability that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of
equity instruments do not affect its classification.

All other liabilities are classified as non-current.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

Operating cycle

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash
and cash equivalents. The Group has ascertained its operating cycle being a period of twelve months for the
purpose of classification of assets and liabilities as current and non-current.

b. Business Combinations

The Group are accounted Business combinations for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition
is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incu/rred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set of activities and assets include
an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs or
considered as assets acquisition if assets or group of assets does not constitute of business.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their
acquisition date fair values. For this purpose, the liabilities assumed include contingent liabilities
representing present obligation and they are measured at their acquisition fair values irrespective of the fact
that outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is not probable.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognized at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the
scope of Ind AS 109. If the contingent consideration is not within the scope of Ind AS 109 Financial
Instruments, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate Ind AS and is recognized in profit and loss.

Goodwill on consolidation is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Capital reserve on consolidation
represents excess of the net idetifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed over the cost of acquisition at
each point of time of making the investment in the subsidiary. Goodwill arising on consolidation is not

axtis erations of a
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Asset acquisitions

In case of acquisition of an asset or a group of assets that does not constitute a business, the Group identifies
and recognises individual identifiable assets acquired (including those assets that meet the definition of,
and recognition criteria for, intangible assets in Ind AS 38, Intangible Assets) and liabilities assumed. The
cost of the group shall be allocated to the individual identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their
relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction or event does not give rise to goodwill.

¢. Financial instruments

i Initial recognition

Financial instruments i.e. Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business
model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially measures a
financial instruments at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial instruments (other than financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial instruments. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial instruments assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in profit or loss.

ii Financial Assets - Subsequent Measurement

The Group subsequently measures all financial assets at amortized cost (amortised cost is calculated by
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
EIR) using effective interest method except for financial assets carried at fair value through Profit and Loss
(FVTPL) or fair value through other comprehensive income (EVOCI) which are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognized in profit or loss
or other comprehensive income respectively. The EIR amortisation is included in finance income in the profit
or loss. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the profit or loss.

Financial Assets under Service Concession Arrangements (Appendix D of “Tnd AS 115 - Revenue from
Contracts with Customers”)

The Group constructs or upgrades infrastructure (construction or upgrade services) used to provide a public

service and operates and maintains that infrastructure (operation services) for a specified period of time.
These arrangements may include infrastructure used in a public-to-private service concession arrangement
for its entire useful life.

The Group recognises the considerations given by the grantor i.e. National Highway Authority of India
(‘NHAT) in accordance with Appendix D-'Service Concession Arrangements’ of Ind AS 115- ‘Revenue from
Contracts with Customers’. The Group recognises a financial asset to the extent that it has an unconditional
contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from or at the direction of the grantor of the
contract for the services performed under concession agreement; the grantor has little, if any, discretion to
avoid payment, usually because the agreement is enforceable by law.

The Group recognises above financial asset at fair value on date of completion of construction and
subsequently measures at amortized cost using effective interest method. In case of movement in the market
rate of interest, the group re-estimates its cash flows and alters the effective interest rate.
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iii Financial Assets - Derecognition

The Group derecognizes financial asset primarily when the right to receive cash flows from the asset has
expired, or the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’
arrangement; and with that a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

iv Financial Assets - Impairment

At each date of balance sheet, the Group assesses whether a financial asset or a group of financial assets
carried at amortised cost are credit-impaired. The Group applies the expected credit loss (ECL) model for
measurement and recognition of impairment losses. The Group follows the simplified approach for
recognition of impairment allowance on all trade receivable, receivable under service concession. The
application of the simplified approach does not require the Group to track changes in credit risk. Rather, it
recognizes impairment allowance based on lifetime. For all other financial assets, expected credit losses are
measured at an amount equal to the 12 month expected credit losses or at an amount equal to the life time
expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount
of the assets and recognized in the statement of profit and losses under the head of “Other Expenses”

v Financial liabilities - Classification

Financial liabilities issued by the Group are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability.

vi Financial liabilities - Subsequent Measurement

Loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using Effective Interest Rate (EIR),
except for financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Gains and losses are recognised in profit
through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. Amortisation arising on
unwinding of the financial liabilities as per EIR is included as a part of Finance Costs in the Statement of
Profit and Loss.

Financial liabilities recognised at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period with
any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognized in profit or loss.

vii Financial Liabilities - Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit and loss. :

viii Reclassification

The Group determines classification of financial assets and liabilities on initial recognition. After initial
recognition, no reclassification is made for financial assets, such as equity instruments designated at FVTPL
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or FVOCT and financial liabilities. For financial assets which are debt instruments, a reclassification is made
only if there is a change in the business model for managing those assets.

ix Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when,
and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either
to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

d,  Fair values measurement

The Group measures financial instrument, such as mutual fund and total assets as per InvIT regulation at
fair values at each balance sheet date.

The Group’s management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value
measurement, such as fair value of total assets, unquoted financial assets measured at fair value and for non-
recurring fair value measurement such as asset under the scheme of business undertaking.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into accounta market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data
are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the
use of unobservable inputs

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the Consolidated financial
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the Consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole)
at the end of each reporting period.

External valuers are involved for valuation of significant assets, such as fair value of total assets, unquoted
financial assets and financial liabilities.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy
as explained above.

e. Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases
ad leases of low-value assets.
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Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group has elected not to recognise right of use assets and lease liabilities for short term leases of all the
assets that have a lease term of twelve months or less with no purchase option and leases for which the
underlying asset is of low value. The lease payments associated with these leases are recognized as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

f.  Revenue from contracts with customer

The accounting policies for the specific revenue streams of the Group as summarized below:

i Construction Income

Revenue, where the performance obligation is satisfied over time since the Group creates an assets that the
customer controls as the asset is created and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date if it meets the agreed specifications, is recognised in proportion to the stage of completion
of the contract. The stage of completion is measured by input method i.e. the proportion that costs incurred
to date bear to the estimated total costs of a contract. Contract costs are recognised as an expense in the
Statement of Profit and Loss in the accounting periods in which the work to which they relate is performed.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, expected loss, if any, on a
contract is recognised as expense in the period in which it is foreseen, irrespective of the stage of completion
of the contract.

ii Change of Scope and Utility shifting Income

Change of scope services includes services performed for NHAI other than mentioned in a service concession
arrangement. Revenue related to change of scope services and utility shifting services are accounted for
when there is certainty of realization and can be measured reliably.

iii Operational and maintenance Income

The Group is required to carry out operations and maintenance on the road annually with an obligation to
carry out periodic maintenance in terms of the concession at regular intervals. Revenue is recognized when
services are performed.

iv Income from Service Concession Arrangement (Finance Income)

The Group recognizes the considerations given by the grantor i.e. National Highway Authority of India
('NHAT') in accordance with the Appendix D to Ind AS 115 - Service Concession Arrangements under
financial assets mode. Under financial assets mode, the Group has an unconditional contractual right to

receive cash ie. fixed annuity after concession period including interest thereon. The finance Income
calculated on the basis of the effective interest rate in accordance with the Ind AS 109. The finance Income is
recognized under other operating income.

v Variable consideration

The Group's claim for bonus, incentives and other claims relating to execution of contracts are recognized as
revenue in the year in which said claims are finally accepted by the clients. Claims under
arbitration/ disputes are accounted as income based on final award. Expenses on arbitration are accounted
as incurred.

vi Contract balances
Contract assets
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A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. If
the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration
or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.

Trade receivables

A receivable is recognised if an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., only the passage of time
is required before payment of the consideration is due). Refer to accounting policies of financial instrument
seckon,

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays
consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised
when the payment is made, or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the contract.

vii Recognition of interest income and insurance claim
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Insurance claims are accounted for on the basis of claims admitted / expected to be admitted and to the extent
that there is no uncertainty in receiving the claims.

8. Service concession arrangemeit

The Group constructs or upgrades infrastructure (construction or upgrade service) used to provide to public
service and operates and maintains that infrastructure (operation service) for a specified period of time.
These arrangement may include infrastructure used in a public-to-private service concession arrangement
for its entire useful life.

The Group recognizes the considerations given by the grantor i.e. National Highway Authority of India
(‘NHALT') in accordance with Appendix D to Ind AS 115 - ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’. The
Group recognizes contract assets under Ind AS 115 during the construction period. Upon completion of
assets, the Group classifies the contract asset as financial assets to the extent that it has an unconditional
contractual right to receive cash in accordance with Ind AS 109. Ind AS 109 requires a financial asset to be
measured at its fair value and any difference between the initial measurement of the financial asset in
accordance with Ind AS 109 and the contract asset recognised under Ind AS 115 to be presented as an
expense. Such financial assets subsequently measure at amortized cost using effective interest method.

h. Taxes
Current income tax

Tax expense comprises current tax expense and deferred tax.

Current tax comprises of the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
reflects the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received after considering the uncertainty,
if any, related to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates (and tax laws) enacted or substantively enacted
by the reporting date.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reportmg
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which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is also recognised in respect of carried forward tax losses.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which they can be used. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences
except when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. The
existence of unused tax losses is strong evidence that future taxable profit may not be available, Therefore,
in case of a history of recent losses, the Group recognises a deferred tax asset only to the extent that it has
sufficient taxable temporary differences or there is convincing other evidence that sufficient taxable profit
will be available against which such deferred tax asset can be realised. Deferred tax assets ~unrecognised or
recognised, are reviewed at each reporting date and are recognised/ reduced to the extent that it is probable/
no longer probable respectively that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities
and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on
different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets
and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Goods and service tax taxes paid on assets acquired or expenses incurred

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and service taxes paid, except: when the tax
incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case, the
tax paid is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable
or when receivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax included.

The net amount of tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables
or payables in the balance sheet.

i. Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account.
If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are
corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available
fair value indicators.
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j.  Borrowing cost

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing
costs directly attributable to acquisition or construction of an asset which necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Capitalization
of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying assets for
their intended use are complete.

Borrowing costs attributable to concession arrangement classified as financial assets are charged to Statement
of Profit and Loss in the period in which such costs are incurred. All other borrowing costs are recognised
as an expense in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss in the period in which they are incurred.

k. Provisions and contingencies

A provision is recognised if, as a fesult of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation. Provisions are measured based on investment manager’s estimated to settle
the obligation at the balance sheet date and are discounted the expected future cash flows (representing the
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date) at a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability.

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no
longer probable that the outflow of resources would be required to settle the obligation, the provision is
reversed.

Contingencies

Contingent liability is a possible obligation arising from past events and whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the entity or a present obligation that arises from past events bul is not recognized because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

The Group does not recognize a contingent liability but discloses the same as per the requirements of Ind AS
37.

. Unitholders’ equity

Under the provisions of the InvIT Regulations, the InvIT is required to distribute to unitholders not less than
90% of the net distributable cash flows of the InvIT for each financial year. Accordingly, Unit capital contains
a contractual obligation to pay cash to unitholders. Thus, In accordance with requirement of Ind AS 32 -
Financial Instruments: Presentation. the Unit Capital contain a liability element which should be classified
and treated accordingly. However, SEBI Circulars require the Unit Capital to be presented/classified as
“Equity”, which is at variance from the requirements of Ind-AS 32.

In order to comply with the aforesaid SEBI requirements, the InvIT has presented unit capital as equity and
costs attributable to the issue of units have been reduced from the Unitholders capital in accordance with

Ind AS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

m. Distribution to unit holders
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The InvIT recognises a liability to make cash distributions to unit holders when the distribution is authorised
and a legal obligation has been created. As per the InvIT Regulations, a distribution is authorised when it is
approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager. Consistent with Unit Capital being classified
as equity, the distribution to Unitholders is also presented in Statement of Changes in Unitholders” Equity
when the distributions are approved by the Board of Directors of Investment Manager.

n.  Earnings per unit

Basic Earnings Per Unit is calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable to unit
holders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year.

For the purpose of calculating Diluted Earnings Per Unit, the net profit or loss for the period attributable to
unit holders and the weighted average number of units outstanding during the period are adjusted for the
effects of all dilutive potential equity units.

0. Operating segments

The principal activity of Group is to own and invest in infrastructure assets primarily in the SPVs operating
in the road sector in India in accordance with the provisions of the InvIT Regulations and Trust deed. The
Board of Directors of the Investment Manager is responsible for allocating resources and assess the
performance of the Group and thus are the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM).

Segment results that are reported to the Investment manager (CODM) include items directly attributable to
a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Segment capital expenditure is the

total cost incurred during the period to acquire property and equipment and intangible assets other than
goodwill.

p. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalent in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits
with an original maturity of three months or less, that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purpose of the Combined statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

2.3 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the Consolidated financial statements requires investment manager to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. For preparation of Consolidated financial
statements, The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available at the time of
preparation of financial statement. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments,

R U
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however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the
Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised prospectively.

The following are the key judgement, estimation and assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Acquisition of subsidiaries

The Sponsor of InvIT is holding 15% in the InvIT and GR Infraprojects Limited (GRIL) is holding 43.56% in
the InvIT. The Investment manager has applied its judgement to evaluate relationship between the Sponsor
and GRIL based on ownership structure, business relationship between both the entities along with legal
evaluation, voting rights, financial position, lending arrangement by Sponsor and security arrangements.
Accordingly, the Investment Manager has concluded that the sponsor is an independent entity with its own
operations etc. and is not an agent or a de-facto agent for GRIL under Ind AS 110. Accordingly, the above
transaction for purchase of subsidiaries from GRIL is not considered as common control and the GRIL does
not exercise control over InvIT in accordance with Ind AS 103.

Further, the Investment manager has applied the optional concentration test under Ind AS 103 and
concluded that the acquired set of activities and assets is not a business because substantially all of the fair
value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in receivables under service concession arrangements, with
similar risk characteristics. Accordingly, this transaction has been accounted for as an asset acquisition. The
investment manager has also applied judgment and determined that excess of fair value of net assets
acquired over consideration paid as explained in note 37 above is arising because GRIL is a significant
unitholder in the InvIT and accordingly, accounted for the excess as capital reserve as detail disclosed in
Note 9.

Service Concession arrangement:

The Group recognizes the considerations given by the grantor i.e. National Highway Authority of India
(‘NHAT) in accordance with Appendix D to Ind AS 115 - ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’. The
Group recognizes contract assets under Ind AS 115 during the construction period. Upon completion of
assets, the Group classifies the contract asset as financial assets to the extent that it has an unconditional
contractual right to receive cash in accordance with Ind AS 109. Ind AS 109 requires a financial asset to be

measured at its fair value and any difference between the initial measurement of the financial asset in
accordance with Ind AS 109 and subsequently measure at amortized cost using effective interest method.

To determine effective interest rate, there are significant judgement and estimates involve annuity and
interest on annuity inflows, estimations on cost to maintain the asset and other operational efficiencies. These
inputs are based on circumstances existing and management judgement / assumption on the future
expectations based on current situations. Judgements include management view on expected earnings in
future years, changes in interest rates, cost inflation, government policy changes, etc. These input
assumptions could affect the estimation and accordingly these assumptions are reviewed periodically.

Fair value measurement and valuation process:
Where assets and liabilities are measured or disclosed at fair value for the financial reporting purposes, the
Group determines the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.
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Further, SEBI Circulars issued under the InvIT Regulations require disclosures relating to net assets at fair
value and total returns at fair value. In estimating the fair value of total fair value of assets of subsidiaries,
the Group engages independent qualified external valuers to perform the valuation.

The Investment manager works closely with the valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model. The Investment manager reports the valuation report and findings to the Board of
the Investment Manager half yearly to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the projects. The
inputs to the valuation models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not
feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of
inputs such as WACC, Tax rates, interest rate, future cost etc. Changes in assumptions about these factors
could affect the fair value.

Impairment of financial assets:

The impairment provision for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group past history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

Taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, changes in tax laws, and the
amount and timing of future taxable income. Given the wide range of business relationships and the long-
term nature and complexity of existing contractual agreements, differences arising between the actual results
and the assumptions made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future adjustments to
tax income and expense already recorded. The Group establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates.

Recognition and measurement of provision and contingencies

The Group recognises a provision if it is probable that an outflow of cash or other economic resources will
be required to settle the provision. If an outflow is not probable, the item is treated as a contingent liability.
Risks and uncertainties are taken into account in measuring a provision.

2.4 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
New and amended standards
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Consolidated financial statements are consistent
except for amendments to the existing Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS).

The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has notified Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Amendment
Rules, 2023 dated 31 March 2023 to amend the following Ind AS which are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2023. The Group applied for the first-time these amendments.

(i) Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to Ind AS 8

The amendments clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates, changes in accounting
policies and the correction of errors. It has also been clarified how entities use measurement techniques and
inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments had no impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

(ii) Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to Ind AS 1
The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by
replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement
to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of
matesiality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures.
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The amendments have had an impact on the Group’s disclosures of accounting policies, but not on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any items in the Group’s financial statements,

Apart from these, consequential amendments and editorials have been made to other Ind AS like Ind AS
101, Ind AS 102, Ind AS 103, Ind AS 107, Ind AS 109, Ind AS 115 and Ind AS 34.

Standards notified but not yet effective
There are no new standards that are notified, but not yet effective, upto the date of issuance of the Group's
Consolidated financial statements
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3 Receivable under service cancession arrangements Non-current Current
As at Asal As at As al
31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40) (Refer Note 40)
Receivable under service concession arrangements 47,002.25 - 3,185.45 -
o 2T : AL :
Notes:-

a) Above carrying value of receivable are subject lo a charge o secure the Group's secured borrowings (refer note 12)
by} Disclosure pursuant to Appendix E of Ind AS 115 for Service Concession Arrangements given in nole 34.

4 Other financial assets (Unsecured, considered good) Non-current Current
As at Asat As al Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40) _ (ReferNoted0)

Deposits with bank (refer note {c) and (d) below) 122729 - 2,669.25 -
Security deposits (refer note (&) below) 11.72 - 25.00 -
Receivable from NHAL - - 8.24 -
Total 1,239.01 - 2,702.49 -
Notes:-
Notes:

a) The fair value of non current assets is not materially different from the carrying value presented.

) Above carrying value of receivable are subject to a charge to secure the Group’s secured borrowing (refer note 12)

¢) The deposit with bank includes T 3,300.59 million towards earmarked deposit with banks/ lenders against Debt Service Reserve Account (DSRA) and Major Maintenance
Reserve Account (MMRA). These earmarked deposits with banks / lenders were against the secured borrowings in the subsidiary, which have been fully repaid in the current
year and lien has been discharged subsequent to year end.

d) Deposit with bank includes balance of Initial Public Offer proceeds of ¥ 370,00 million in bank which will be utilised as stated in the Final Offer Documents

&) The InvIT has given ¥ 25.00 million 15 security deposit and the Ir ger has given € 25.00 million as an irrecoverable and unconditional bank guarantee on
behalf of the InvIT to National Stock Exchange for due performance and fulfillment by the InvIT of its engagy C i Is, operati bligation or liabilities as an
issuer.
5 Assets for current tax (net) Asat As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
Non-current
Income tax receivable (net of provision) 139.85 =
Total 139.85 =
6 Other assels (Unsecured, Considered Good, unless otherwise stated) Non-current Current
Asal Asal Asat As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Note Refer Note
Contract assels (refer note 33) - - 41.69 -
Advance to suppliers for goods and services - - 1.09 295
Prepald expenses - - 2908 -
IPO related expenses (refer note (b) below) - - - 75.02
Balances with government authorities (refer nole 26) 25471 - 2142.02 -
Total 25471 - 221388 7797
Notes:-

a) Above carrying value of receivable are subject to a charge to secure the group’s secured borrowing (refer note 12).
b) Pertains to expenses relating to Initial public offering (TPO), which were subsequently reduced from the unitholders capital in the current year, in accordance with Ind AS 32

& e T ot

7 Investments Asat As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
{Refer Note 40)

Current Units Amount Units Amount
Unguoted
Investment in Mutual funds at fair value through profit or loss - -
ICICI prudential money marked fund (growth) 19.28,558 673.50 - -
Total lﬁw ﬁz& - -
Aggregate value of ungquoled investments - 67350 - -

Aggregate amount of impalrment in value of investments - - 5 &
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8 Trade receivables As at Asal
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
Secured, considered good - -
Unsecured, considered good 6044 -

Trade Receivables which have significant increase in credit risk % N
Trade Receivables - credil impaired = <
Total 60.44 =

Below is trade receivables ageing schedul

Quistanding for following periods from due date of payment

Lessthanf 6 months - More than 3 Total
1-2 years 2-3 years
month 1 year years

Current but
not due

As at 31 March 2024
Undisputed Trade Receivables - considered good - 5343 527 174 - - 6044
Undisputed Trade Receivables - which have significant - - - - - - .
increase in credit risk

Undisputed Trade receivable - credit impaired - - - - - s 3
Disputed Trade receivables - considered good - - = = = < i
Disputed Trade Receivables - which have significant - - - - - 2 _
increase in credit risk

Di 1 Trade receivable - credit impaired - - - = - =

T r

Total - 53.43 5.27 174 S . 6034

As at 31 March 2023 (refer note 40)
Undisputed Trade Recelvables - considered good - - - - - -

Undi hi

puted Trade Rec
increase in credit risk
Undisputed Trade receivable - credit impaired - - = = 2 x
Disputed Trade Receivables - considered good - - - 5 ~ 5
Disputed Trade Recelvables - which have significant . - - - : -
increase in credit risk

Disputad Trade receivable - credit impaired - - - = : -
Tatal

- which have significant - - - = . o

Notes:-
a) Trade Recelvables are unsecured, non { g and g Ity have credit period of 30-20 days.

b) For terms and conditions relating to related party recelvables (refer Note 27)

¢} Above carrying value of trade receivable are subject to a charge to secure the Group secured borrowing, (refer note 12)

d) As there Is net allowance for expected credit loss made by the Group and hence, no disclosure related o expected credit loss has been given.

9 Cash and cash equivalents and other bank balance Asat As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand 0.12 0.0
Balance with banks
in current account 1,149.07 .08
Deposits with bank having original maturity of less than three months 76378 .
Total - A 1,912.97 0.09
Other bank balances
Earmarked Balance with banks (refer note (b) below) 47356 -
Deposits with bank having original maturity more than 3 month but less than 12 months ( refer note (a) below) 2,7230.00 x
Total - B 3,209.56 -
Total - (A+B) 5,122.53 009
Notes :

a) The deposit with bank includes earmarked deposit with banks/ lenders of T 2,288.68 million against Debt Service Reserve Account (DSRA) and Major Maintenance Reserve
Account (MMEA). These earmarked deposits with banks / lenders were against the secured borrowings in the subsidiaries, which have been fully prepaid in the current year
and len has been discharged subsequent to year end.

b) Includes balance of Initial Public Offer proceeds of ¥ 467.18 million in current account with bank (under escrow arrangement), which will be utilised as stated in the final
offer documents.

c} Cash al bank earns interest at foating rates based on daily bank deposit rates, Short term deposits are made for varying periods of belween one day and three months,

pending on the i diate cash req of the Group and earn interest at the respective short term deposit rates.




Bharat Highways InvIT

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statement for the year ended 31 March 2024
All anounts in Rupees million unless otherwise stuted

——

EHARAT HMEHWATE INVIT

10 Unit Capital Asat Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
Issued, subscribed and fully paid up
44,29,38,605 (31 March 2023 Wil) units (issue price of €100 each) 43,761.52 -
Total 43,761.52 -

A. Reconciliation of the number of units al the beginning and at the end of the reporting period given below:

Asat As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
Numbers Amount Numbers . t
onunits on units
At the beginning, of the year/ period - - - -
Add:- movement during the year / period 44,29,38,605 44,293 86 - -
Less ; Issue expenses (refer note (b) below) - (53234) = -
Outstanding at the end of the year / period H.H,Jﬂﬁ 43,761.52 - -
Notes:-

4) The Bharat Highways InvIT {InvIT) has issued 249,999,900 unils for cash at a price of € 100 per unit (the 'issue price’), aggregating to ¥ 24,999.99 million to the sponsor
and eligible unitholders (as defined in Final Offer Documents) by ways of initial public offer, in accordance with Securities Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure
Investment Trust) Regulations, 2014 Including the rules, cireulars and guidelines issued th d

Additionally, pursuant to to the share purchase ag and assig) g t entered with G R Infraprojects Limited dated February 20, 2024, InvIT has issued its
unit of 13,75,30,405 in exchange of 100% equity stake in seven companies and 5,54,08,300 units toward assignment of outstanding unsecured loan given by G R Infraprojects
Limited to its then Subsidiary companies.

The InvIT Offer Commitiee of GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited (1 M ), considered and approved allotment of 44,29,38,605 units to the
unitholders on March 6, 2024

b) Issue expenses of T 532.34 million incurred in connection with issue of units have been reduced from the Unitholders capital in accordance with Ind AS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation.

B. Terms/Righs attached to units
The InvIT has only one class of unit. Each unit represents an undivided beneficial interest in the InvIT. Each holder of unit is entitled lo one vole per unit The Unitholders
have the right to recaive at least 90% of the Nel Distributable Cash Flows of the InvIT at least once in every six manths in each financial year in accordance with the InvIT

B The Manager app dividend distributions, The distribution will be in proportion to the number of units held by the unitholders. The InvIT
declares and pays dividends in Indian rupees.

A unitholder has no equitable ot praprietary Interest in the projects of the InvIT and is not enfitled to any share in the transfer of the projects (or any part thereof) or any

Interest in the projects (or any part thereof). A unitholder's right is limited to the right to require due admini of InvIT in 4 with the provisions of the trust
deed and 8 agr t
C Details of unitholders holding more than 5% units in the InvIT Asat Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
Numbers % of holding in Numbers % af holding in
on units class on units class
Aadharshila Infratech Private Limited 6,64,50,000 15.00% = .
G Rinfraprojects Limiled 19,29,36,705 4356% - .

D The InvIT has not allotted any fully pald up units by way of bonus units nor it has bought back any class of units from the date of incorporation till the Balance Sheet date.

E Under the provisions of the InvIT Regulations, the InvIT is required to distribute to unitholders not less than 90% of the net distributable cash flows of the InvIT for each
financial year. Accordingly, the unit capital contains a contractual obligation to pay cash to the unitholders, Thus, in accordance with requirement of Ind AS 32 - Financial
Instruments: Presentation, the unit capital contalns liability comp t which should be classified and treated accordingly. However, SEBI Circulirs requires the unit capital
to be presented/classified as "Equity”, which is at variance from the requirements of Ind-AS 32. In order to comply with the afi id SEBI requi the InvIT has
prasantad unit capital a2 aquity in theee soncolidatod financial statement. Consistent with unit capital biing classified as equily, the distributions to unithelders is also
presented in Statement of Changes in Unitholders” Equily when the distributions are approved by the Bourd of Directors of Investment Manager.
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11 Other equity Asal As al
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)

A. Capital reserve (refer note (i) below)
Balance at the beginning of the year / period - -

Add :- on account of acquisition (refer note 37) 5,656,26 -
Add :- movement during the vear / period = -
Balance at the end of the year / period 5,656.26 -

B. Retalned earnings (refer note (ii) below)
Balance at the beginning of the year / period - =

Add:-Profit for the year / period 148.06 -
Balance at the end of the year / period 148.06 =
Total (A+B) 580432 -
Notes : -

i) Capital reserve

Capital reserve recorded on account of acquisition of subsidiaries (Refer note 37)

ii) Retained earnings

Retained eamings represents the profits earned by the Group till date, less distribution done to unitholders, if any based on approval of Board of Di of I

Manager.




Bharat Highways InvIT —
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statement for the year ended 31 March 2024

Al wiounts in Rupees million unless otherwise stated =) A

12 Non Current Borrowings Asat As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Nole 40)
Non Current Non Current
current Maturities  current Maturities
A. Loan from banks - Secured
Term loan - Indian rupees 4,642.18 170.58 - -
4,218 170.58 - -
B. Debentures - Secured #
Listed Redeemable non convertible debent (NCD) 5,086.30 144116 - -
5,088,30 144116 - -
Sub-total (A+B) 9,730.48 1,611.74 - =
Less : Current maturities of non current borrowings ( refer note 13) - (1,611.74) - -
Total 9,730,48 5 - -
# Includes interest accrual and the effect of the transaction cost paid to lender on upfront basis,
Notes:

1) Term loans from banks in Indian rupees are secured by:
1. First pari passu charge on all moveable assets and the receivables of the InvIT present and future including but not limited to:
a, Receivable of the InvIT limiled to Project SPVs & the interest and principal repayment of loans advanced by InvIT to Project SPVs
b. charge over rights of the InvIT under the loans advanced by TnvIT to Project SPV(s) and securities created in favour of the InvIT to secure the loans advanced by the
InvIT to the SPV(s). Dividends and any other amounts to be paid / payable by the Project SPVs to InvIT.
2 First pari passu charge on all immoveable assets of the Borrower (if any and if permitted under law).
3, First pari passu charge on the escrow account and all other bank accounts of InvIT, in which the free cash flows of the Project SPVs owned by the InvIT will be
deposited or any other account opened / maintained by InvIT in relation Lo such SPVs.
4, First Pari-passu charge over DSRA
5, Charge over rights of the Loans advanced by InvIT to Project SPVs and securities created by InvIT
6. Pledge of 51% equity shares of all Project SPVs, subject to permitted regulations, otherwise pledged will be restricied to 30% equity shares and for remaining 21% non
i | undertaking to be provided.

¥

ii) Tn case of NCD issued by GR Phagwara Exp y Limited, deb are secured by First charges by way of hypothecation of all the fixed assets /Movable assets
projects book debts, operating cash flow, recelvable, revenue whalever nature, uncalled capital, Projects bank account and Assignment of all the GR Fhagwara
Expressway Limiled's right, insurance policies and Interest under all the agreement related to the projects and guarantes or performance bond provided by any party for
any contract related to the projects in favour of the borrower and pledge of 51% equity share held by G R Infraprojects Limited. The said NCD has been fully prepaid

subsequently on May 3, 2024,
iii) In case of NCD issued by Vi i Sangam Exy y Private Limited, det are d by First charges by way of hypothecation of all the fixed assets
/Movable assets projects book debts, operating cash flow, receivabl wh nature, uncalled capital, Projects bank account and Assignment of all the Varanasi

Sangam Expressway Private Limited's right, insurance policies and interest under all the agreement related to the projects and guarantee or performance bond provided
by any party for any contract related to the projects in favour of the borrower and pledge of 51% equity share held by G R Infraprojects Limited. The said NCD has been
fully prepaid subsequently on April 30, 2024.

iv) Terms of repayment of Term loan and Debentures:

Nature of barrowings == t and interest terms

a) Listed Redesmable non convertible debentures (NCD) 1) In case of NCD issued in GR Phagwara Expressway Limited, repayment in 24 half-yearly instalment as
defined in the repayment schedule starting from March 31, 2022 ending with September 30, 2033 along with
half-yearly interest rale equivalent to aggregate of Repo Rate (as prescribed by Reserve Bank of India from
time to time) plus Spread of 235% i.e. 635% o 8.85% pa.
There is a Put/Call aption through which each of the Debenture Holders and the SPV shall have the option
to seek the ling debent d 1 with 90 days prior nolice (together with accrued interest, if
any) on September 30, 2024, It has subsequently been fully prepaid on May 3, 2024

2) In case of NCD issued by Varanasi Sangam Expressway Privale Limiled, repayment in 27 half-yearly
Installment as defined in the repayment schedule starting from December 31, 2021 ending with December
29, 2034 along with half-yearly interest rate equivalent to aggregate of Repo Rate (as prescribed by Reserve
Bank of India from time to Hime) plus Spread of 2.50% Le. 6.80% to 9.30% p.a.
There is a Put/Call aption through which each of the Debenture Holders and the SPV shall have the option
to seek the outstanding Deb d d with 90 days prior nolice (together with accrued Interest, if
any) on June 14,2024, It has subsequently been fully prepaid paid on April 30, 2024.

b) Secured Term loan from bank - Indian Rupee Loan 1) Repayable in 51 g ly install tarting from March 31, 2024 to September 30, 2036. Interest rate for
the facllity i Repo rate (quarterly reset) plus spread of 160 bps payable monthly, present applicable interest
rate is 8.10% p.a.
v) Financial Covenants:
The Group has satisfied all the Financials ¢ ts prescribed in the terms of respective loan,/ debenture agreement as al reporting date. The Group has not defaulted in
any loans/ debenture payable.

vi) Undrawn borrowing facility
The Group has ¥ 6,623.05 million (31 March 2023 : Nil) undrawn commitied borrowing facilities (excluding non-fund based facilities).
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13 Current Borrowings Asat Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
A. Secured
Current maturities of non current borrowings (refer note 12) 1,611.74 -
1.611.74 -
B. Unsecured
Loan from a related party (refer note (i) below and 27) 33.81 2545
3341 2545
168555 2545

i) Unsecured loan from related party
The rate of i which is comp led ally, shall be 8.15% p.a. The said loan is repayable on demand. There was no interest charged by lender on loan
outstanding amount upto March 31, 2023 as per interest waiver letter issued by lender,

14 Trade payables Asal Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises (refer note {c) below) 0,68 -
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 1,118.80 -
Total 1,11948 =

Trade payable ageing schedule

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment

Unbilled Eaistian “Total
Nol due 1 1-2 years 2-3 years Motw than3
year years

As at 31 March 2024

Total outstanding dues of Micro and Small Enterprises 0.67 - 001 - - - 0.68
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than Micro and Small 8249 3 1,035.70 - 0,61 - 1,118.80
Enterprises

Disputed dues of Micro and Small Enterprises - - - . - - -
Disputed dues of creditors other than Micro and Small - = £ - - = -
Enterprises

Total B3.16 - 1,035.71 - 0.61 - 1,119.48
As at 31 March 2023 (refer nole 40)

Total outstanding dues of Micro and Small Enterprises - - - = - . i
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than Micro and Small ki ¥ - = - - -
Enterprises

Disputed dues of Micro and Small Enterprises - - - - - > -
Disputed dues of creditors other than Micro and Small o l & = - - e
Enterprises

Total - - - - - - -

Noles:-
a) Trade payable are non interest bearing and generally have credit period of 30-90 days.
b) For terms and conditions relating to related party payables (refer note 27)
¢) Delails of duss to micro and small enterprises as defined under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006

Asat Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
{Refer Note 40)

i) The principal ining unpaid to any supplier at the end of each accounting year; 0,68
ii) The interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any supplier at the end of each accounting year; -
iii) The amount of interest paid by the buyer in terms of section 16 of the MSME Act 2006 along with the amounts of -
the payment made to the supplier beyond the appointed day during each accounting year

iv) The tofi due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (which have been paid but - -
beyand the appointed day during the year) but without adding the interest specified under the MSME Act 2006,

+) The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of each accounting year - -
vi) The amount of further i ining due and payable even in the succeeding years, until such date when the - .
interest dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible

expenditure under section 23 of the MSME Act 2006

The disclosure in respect of the amount payable to enterprises which have provided goods and services to the Group and which qualify under the definition of micro and
small enterprises, as defined under Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 has been made in the ¢ lidated financial ts as at the
reporting date based on the information received and available with the Group. On the basis of such information, no interest is payable to any micro and small
enlerprises, These have been relied by the auditor.
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15 Other financial Habilities

Dues lo employees
Other payable (refer note (i) below and 27)
Total

(i) Other payable consist of payable toward issue related expenses

16 Other current liabilities

Contract liabilities - Advance from customers (refer note 33)
Statutory dues payable
Total

17 Liabilities for current tax (net)

Provision for income tax (net of advance tax)

L

EHARAT HIBHWATE INVTT

As at As al
31 March2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
048 5
351.02 4745
36150 47.45

As al Asal
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
— (ReferNoted)
5412 -
109.00 515
163.12 515

As at As at
31 March2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 32)
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19

(@)

(b)

4

ELANLAT A T T

Revenue from operations Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
Tevenue fram contracts with customers (refer note 33)
Changes of scape, utility shifting income and others 73202 =
Operation and maintenance income 167.54 .
699,56 -
Other operaling revenue
Finance Income on financial assels carried on amortised cost 307.37 -
307.37 -
Total 1,206.93 -
Employee benefits expense Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
Salary, wages and bonus 0.51 -
Total 051 =
Project management fees
Pursuant to the Project management agreement dated December 7, 2023, Project Manager is entitled to fees @ 0.50% of operational and maintenance expenses incurred by
each of subsidiaries per annum including applicable Goods and Service tax. Accordingly, consolidated stab t of profit and loss for the year ended March 31, 2024
includes amount of ¥ 0,18 million (31 March 2023: Nilj towards project management fees. There are no changes during the year in the methodology for computation of fees
paid to Project Manager.

Investment management fees

Pursuant to the Investment manager agreement dated July 21, 2022, Investment Manager is entitled to fees & 150% of aggregate cash flow received from each of the
subsidiaries per annum and upto 0.50% incentive of the assets acquired by InvIT plus Goods and Service tax rate as applicable. Accordingly, consolidated statement of profit
and loss for the year ended March 31, 2024 amount of T 4.89 million (31 March 2023; Nil) towards investment management fees. There are no changes during the year in the

thadology for computation of fees paid to Investment Manager,
Finance costs Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
Interest expense on borrowings measured at amortised cost
Interest on term loan B5.24 -
Interest on debentures 62.68 -
Interest on loan from related party (refer note 27) 321 -
15113 -
Other borrowing cost
Bank fees and others 98,72 -
98.72 -
Total 249,85 =
Other expenses Year ended Perind ended
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
Rent (expense relating to leases of low-value assets) 0,04 -
Labaur cage charges 1317 -
Electricity expenses 1272 =
Listing expenses 26.66
Legal and professional charges 425 -
Corp social responsibility exp 07 =
Shared service charges (refer note 27) 591 -
Miscellaneous expenses 0.26 -

Total 63.74 =
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24 Tax expense
The major component of income tax expenses are as under:
A Income tax (income) / exy recognised in the S t of Profit and Loss:

Current tax
Current tax on profit [or the year / period

Deferred tax

Deferred tax charge for the year / period

Total Deferred tax charge

Tax expenses reported in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and loss

B Reconciliation of tax exp and the ace ing profit multiplied by India's domestic tax rate:
Accounting profit before tax
Statutory income tax rate (in %)
Computed expected i tax exp at Group's applicable statulory income tax rate

Tx effect of adfustments to reconcile expected incone tax expenses to reported income tax expenses
Tax on permanent difference

Tax impact on exemption u/s 10 (23FC) of the Income Tax Act, 1961 available to InvIT
Total Tax expense

Consequent to reconciliation items shown above, the effective tax rate(%)

4
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Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 fram 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refer Note ﬂ
49,12 -
4912 -
49,12 -
Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
1o 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
197.18 -
2517% -
49.63 -
b =
4912 -
T
2491% -
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25 Eamning per Unit
Basic earnings per unit (EPU) amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to unitholders by the weighted average number of units outstanding
during the year. For the purpose of calculaling diluted earnings per unit, the weighted bers of units outstanding during the year are adjusted for weighted average
number of units that would be issued on canversion of all the dilutive potential u.mts into un]!up!hl

The following reflects in the profit and Unit data used in the basic and diluted EPU computation Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40) *
Profit / (Loss) attributable to unitholders (2 in million) (A) 148.06 -
Number of units fing at the end of the year / period (in absolute number)* 44,29,38,605 .
Weighted average number of units at the end of the year / period (in absolute number) (B) 3,18,36,834 -
Basic and diluted earning per unit (in 2)** (A/B) 4.65 =
Issue price per unit (in 2) 100.00 -
* The InvIT has issued its Unit to unitholders upon completion of TPO in March 2024 and accordingly, EPU disclosure in corresponding and comparative period is not applicable
and hence not given.
** The InvIT does not have any outstanding dilutive polential instr I
26 Contingent Habilities and commitments Asat Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
{Refer Note 40)
A Contingent liabilities (to the extent not provided for)
Claims against the Company oot ack ledged as debts
(i) Indirect tax matters { excluding interest and penalty) 2.339.50 -
Tatal 2.339.90 =

Indirect kax matter consist of below:

a) In GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limiled (SPV), the tax authority has denied inpul tax credit on a proportionate basis due to exempled turnover and
demanded difference of input tax credit for the period May-2018 to January 2021 vide demand order. The SPV had filed an appeal before the Hon'ble High Court, Andhra
Pradesh against said order. Currently, the malter is pending in Hon'ble High Court, Andhra Pradesh. The lotal amount involved is % 1,057.25 millions (excluding interest and
penalty) against the same, SPV has paid ® 73.72 millions under protest.

b) In case of Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited (SPV), the tax authorities has demanded additional tax on turnover which different than disclosed by the SPV and
demanded differential tax at 18% instead of 12%. The matter for the period May-18 to Feb-22. Currently, SPV is in process filling appeal against said order as at reporting date,
The total amount involved is ® 1,282,60 millions (excluding interest and penalty).

The Group is contesting the demands and the management including its tax advisors, believe thal its pmltlnn shall likely be upheld in the appellate process. No tax expenses has
been accrued in these Consolidated Financial Statements for the tax demand raised. The I ger beli that the ultimate outcome of those proceeding will not
hiave a material adverse effect on the Group's financial position and results of operations.

B Commitments
The Group has no outstanding commitment as al March 31, 2024 (March 31, 2023 : Nil)

Related party disclosure

List of related parties as per the requirements of Ind AS 24 - Related Party Discl and Regulation 2(1) (zv) of the InvIT Regulations
Following are the related parties and transactions entered with related parties given below:

>y

1 Entity with significant influence over the Group
i G R Infraprojects Limited {w.e.f. March 1, 2024)

Il Parties to the InvIT
i Aadharshila Infratech Private Limited - Sp and Project Manager (w.e.f, 31.10.2023)

il GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited - Investment Manager (w.e.f. 21.07.2022)
iti TOBI Truateeship Services Limited - Trustee (woel. 21.07.2022)

111 _Promoters, Directors and Partners details to the InvIT as joned in (1) above
Particulars S and Pro Investment Manager Trustee
a.  Promolors Riya Agarwal Lokesh Builders Private Limited (w.e.f 12122022)  [DBI Bank Limited
Rahul Agarwal G R Infraprojects Limited (upto 12.12.2022) Life Insurance Corporation of India
Mehul Agarwal General Insurance Corporation of India
b.  Directors Rahul Agarwal Ajendra Kumar Agarwal Pradeep Kumar Jain (w.e.f. 24.03.2022)
Ramesh Chandra Mehta Siba Narayan Nayak Simuel Joseph Jebaraj (resigned w.e.l.
Kishan Kantibai Vachhani Deepak Maheshwari (w.e.f. 18 July 2022) 18.04.2023)
Raghav Chandra (w.e.£. 18 July 2022) Madhuri J. Kulkarni (resigned w.e.f,
Swati Kulkarni { w.e.f. 13 June 2023) 06,12.2022)
Ramesh Chandra Jain ( w.e.f 13 Junae 2023) Baljinder Kaur Mandal ( w.e.f. 17.01.2023)

Pradeep Kumar Malhotra ( w.e.f. 14.12.2022)
Jayakumar S, Pillal (w.e.f. 18.07.2023)

c Not applicable Not applicable Not applicable

IV Key Managerial Personnel
a. Amit Kumar Singh - Chief Executive Officer of Investment manager
b. Harshael Sawant - Chief Financial Officer of Investmetl! manager
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27 Related party disclosure (Continued)
B Transactions with the related parties during the year / period:
Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
(a) Issue of Unit capital
Aadharshila Infratech Private Limited 6,645,00 -
G R Infraprojects Limited 19,293.87 "
(b) Borrowings taken
GR High T tment Manager Private Limited 65.68 2545
(¢) Borrowings repaid
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 60.21 =
(d) L pense on b ings
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 321 =
(2) Investment management fees
GR High I Manager Private Limited 489 -
{f) Trustee fees
[DBI Trusteeship Services Limited 059 =
() Reimb of exp (including issue related expenses)
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 24031 4987
G R Infraprojects Limited 362 -
{h) Guarantees given on behalf of InvIT (refer note 4(ii))
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 25.00 -
i) lssue expenses
DB Trusteeship Services Limited - 048
il Project management fees
Aadharshila Infratech Private Limited 018 -
k) Sub Contract charges
G R Infraprojects Limited 760,11 -
1) Shared service charges
G R Infraprojects Limited 591 -
m) Purchase of subsidiaries (including assig af loans)
G R Infraprojects Limited (vefer note 37) 19,293.87 =
C Netoutstanding amount- payable / receivable as at the end of the year/ period:
As at Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
{Refer Note 40)
a) Other payable
GR Highways Investment Manager Private Limited 177.33 45,65
G R Infraprojects Limited 331 -
b) Trade Payables
GR Highway t ger Private Limlted 447 -
G R Infraprojects Limited 1.091.93 =
) O ding b ing (including i accrued)
GR Highways 1 t Manager Private Limited 3381 2545
d) Ouistanding guarantees given on behalf of InvIT
GR Highways L Manager Private Limited o0 >

D Terms & Condition with Related Party

i) The transactions with related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions. Outstanding balance other than loan taken al the year-

end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash.

i) The Group has not provided any commitment to the related party as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023,
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E Details in respect of related party transactions involving acquisition of InvIT assets as required by Paragraph 4.4 of Chapter 3 to the SEBI Circulars are as

Particulars Year ended For the period
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
Acquisition of InvIT assets Refer below note (4 to d) No Acquisition
Disposal of an InvIT asset No Disposal No Dispaosal
Note:
) Summary of the valnation reports (issued by the independ
Particulars Method of valuation  Discount rate (WACC) E"'n“l,":h' "'1";];:"
Varanasi Sangam Expressway Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.99% 13,638,95
Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.59% 8233.3
GR Phagwara Expressway Limited Discounted Cash Flow 759% 5,096.82
GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.59% 974475
GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.59% 472893
GR Sangli Solapur Highway Privale Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.59% 5519.25
GR Dwarka Devariya Highway Private Limited Discounted Cash Flow 7.59% 5817.86
b) Material conditions or obligations in relation to the transactions:
There are no open material conditions / obligations related to above transaction, other than regulatory approvals of d by the InvT.

¢) Rate of interest, if external financing has been obtained for the transaction/acquisition;
No external financing has been obtained for the acquisition by the InvIT.

d) Any fees or commissions received or lo be received by any associate of the related party in relati

to the tr. cti

There [s no fises or commission recovered from any associale of the related party in relation to above transaction
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28 Disclosure of Financial Instruments by Category # FVIFL* Amortised cost
Asat Asat Asat Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40 (Refer Note 40)

Investments 67350 - - -
Recelvable under service concession agresments - - 50,187.70 -
Trade receivables - - 60.44 -
Cash and cash equivalents . - 191297 0.09
Other bank balance - - 3.209.56 -
Other financial assets - - 3,941.50 -
Total Financial assets 673.50 - 59,312.17 0.09
Borrowings - - 11,376.03 545
Trade payables - - 111948 -
Other financial liabilities - - 361.50 4745
Total Financial Labillties - - 12.457.01 72.90

# Considering thal there s no item of fair value through other comprehensive income, the same s not disclosed.
*FVTPL= Fair value through profit and loss

29 Fair value disclosures for financial assets and financial Habilities
Set out below is a comparisan, by class, of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Group's financial instruments, ather than those with carrying amounts that are reasonable
approximations of fair values:

Carrying amount Fair value
Asat Asat Asal As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
{Refer Note 40) (Refer Note 40)
Financial assets
Investment 672.50 - 673.50 -
673.50 - 673.50 -
s —
Naotes -

The carrying amount of financial assets and financial labilit red al 1 cost in the ¢ lidated financial stat is are a ble approx of their fair values
since the Group does not anticipate that the carrying amounts would be significantly different from the values that would eventually be received or settled.

The fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liguidation sale.

30 Fair value hierarchy
The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group's assets and linbilities:
Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for financial instruments as at 31 March s as under-

Level1- Level 2- Level 3 - Significant

Quoted price in Signifis b bl Total

active marl b ible inpuls inpuls
31 March 2024
Financial assets
Asset at fair value through Profit & Loss
Investments - 67350 = 673,50
Assels for which fair value disclosure given
Receivable under service concession agreements * 51,169.63 51.169.63

- 23 2Lae05 S8,

31 March 2023
Financial assels
Asset at fair value through Profit & Loss
Investments - . =
Assets for which fair value disclosure given
Recefvable under service concession agreements * - - - <

* Consolidated statement of net asset at fair value and consolidated statement of total returns at fair value require disclosures regarding fair value of net assets (liabilities considered at
book values). Since the fair values of nssets other than receivables under service g approxi their book values, hence only receivables under service
concession arrangements has been disclosed above,

Valuation technigue used to determine fair value:

e Inputs included in Level 1 of Fair Value Hierarchy are based on prices quoled in stock exchange

o Inputs included in Level 2 of Fair Value Hierarchy have been valued based on inputs from banks, ather recognised institutions and NAV declared by fund

o Inputs included in Level 3 of Fair Value Flierarchy have been valued using acceptable valuation techniques such as Net Asset Value and/or Discounted Cash Flow Method.

Note: All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy described as above, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whale.

There have been no transfers between level 1, level 2 and level 3 during the years.

The fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities included in the level 3 category above has been determined in accordance with generally accepled pricing models based on
a discounted cash flow analysis, with the most significant inputs being the discount rate that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.

The Group s required to present the Statement of total assets at faic value and Statement of total returns at fair value as per Chapiler 4 of Master Circular No. SEBI/ HO/DDHS5-PoD-

2/P/CIR/2023/115 dated 06 July 2023 as a part of these c lidated financial - Refer Statement of Met assets at fair value and Staterment of Total Returns at fair value.
The inputs to the valuation models for computation of fair value of assets for the abave mentioned statemants are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is nol
feasible, a degree of judg is required in establishing fair values. judg; include d of inputs such as WACC, Tax rates, Inflation rates, etc.

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement required for disclosures categonsed within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis as at 31 March are as shown below:

Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation:

Significant unobservable inputs Sensitivity of  Sensitivity of  Increase /(decrease) Increase /f{decrease)
Input for Input for
March 31,2024 March 31, 2023 input to input to infairvaloe asat  in fair valoe as al
the fairvalue  the fair value® March 31, 2024 March 31, 2023*
WACC 7.33% - 0.50% - (1.206.00) -

3 - -0.50% - 1,255.00
100% - 10.00% - (973,00}
- -10.00% - 972.00

IT has aequired all subsicdiaries during the year and hence above comparative disclosure for March 31, 2023 has not been given.
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31 Financial risk r3 bjectives and policies
The Group’s principal financial liabilitles comprise of borrowings, trade and other payables and other lnancial liabilites. The main purpose of these financial liabilities 15 to Hnance
and support the Group's operations. The Group's financial assets comprise mainly of investment, receivable under service concession, cash and cash equivalents, other balances with

banks, trade receivables and other receivables that are derived directly from its operations.
The Group may be exposed 1o market risk, credit risk and liguidity nsk The board of directors of the ger and g of resp bsidiary companies have
overall responsibility for establish and the Group's risk management framework All activities for risk management purposes are carried out by investment manager

which has appropriate skills, experience and supervision. It is the Group's palicy that no trading in derivatives for speculative purposes may be undertaken. The Board of Directors of
investment manager reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised below

A, Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flow of financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk interest
rate risk, currency risk and other price risk. such as equity prices risk and commodity risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include receivable under service concession
agreements, loans and borrowings, deposits and debts.
The sensitivity analysis in the following sections relate to the position as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023
The

itivi Ilysis have been prepared on the basis that the amount of net debt and the ratio of fixed 1o foating interest rates of the debt are all constant as at 31 March 2024 and 31
March 2023,

The following assumptions have been made in calculating the sensitivity analysis:
The sensitivity of the relevant profit or loss item fs the effect of the assumed changes in respective market risks. This is based an the financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31
March 2024 and 31 March 2023,

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group's exposure to the risk of
changes in markel (nferest rates relates primarily lo the Group's long-term debl obligations with floating interest rates. While most of long-term borrowings primarily consist of
floating rate obligations linked o the applicable benchmark rates, which may typically be adjusted at certain intervals in accordance with prevailing interest rates. As at 31 March 2024,

Group's borrowings of Rs. 33,81 million are at fixed rate (31 March 2023 Rs. 2545 million). Increase in interest rates would increase interest exp g ding floating
rate barrowings and increase the cost of new debt. In addition, an increase (n interest rates may adversely affect ability to service long-term debt which in tum may adversely affect
resulls of operations, The Group seeks to mitigate such risk by mai g an adequate proportion of floating and fixed interest rate borrowings.
Exposure to interest rate risk
The interest rate profile of the Group's interes| - bearing financial instruments as reported to management is as follows:
Asal Asal
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
Fixed-rate instruments
Financial assats 7,396.32 -
Financial liabilities 3Bm 2545
Variable-rate instruments
Financial assets 50,187.70 -
Financial liabilities 1134222 .
Interest rate sensitivity
Profit or loss is sensitive to higher/lower interest expense from borrowings as a result of change in interest rates. The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of floating rate
financtal toa bly possible change in interest rates. The risk estimates provided assume a parallel shift of 100 basis points interest rate across all yield curves, This
caleulation also assumes that the change oceurs at the balance sheet date and has been calculated based on risk expesures outstanding as at that date. The year end balances are not
ily rep ive of the ge debt ding during the year.
Sensitivity analynis Impact on profit before tax Impact on equity, net of tax
Year ended Period ended Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40) (Refer Note 40)
Interest rate
- increase by 100 basis points 388.45 - 290.69 -
- decrease by 100 basis points (388.45) - (290.69) -
Equity price risk

The Group's exposure to price risk pertaining to the Investment in mutual funds arises from investments held by the Group and classified in the balance sheet as fair value through
profit or loss (refer note 7). The Group manages the equity price risk through diversification and by placing limits on individual funds. The Board of Directors of the Investment

2 and app all equity decisions and take unitholders approval as per InvIT Regulations.
Equity price sensitivity
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity for reasonable possible change in Investment in mutual funds.
Sensitivity analysis
Impact on profit before tax Impact on equity, net of tax
Year ended Period ended Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Refer Note 40 Refer Note
Investment in mutual funds:
Increase 1% A.74 - 504 -
decrease 1% (6.74) = (5.04) =

Foreign Currency Risk:-
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or the future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The group did not have any
exposure in foreign currency as at March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023,
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31 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

B. Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk
primarily due to receivable under service cancession, trade receivables and other financial assets including deposits with banks. The Group's exposure and credit ratings of ils
counterparties are Ty itored and the aggregate value of transactions is bly spread st the ¢ T The T to credit risk at the
reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets disclosed [n note 28,

Trade receivable and receivable under service concession

The Group's customer profile includes government entities. General payment lerms is as per the cancession agreement for annuity and in other case such as utility shifting and change
in scope, it is 30-90 days from date of billing,

Credit risk on trade receivables, receivable under service concession arrangemints is limited as the customers of the Group cansists of the government entities having a strong credit
worthiness, Ageing of trade receivable and movement in expected credil loss has been disclosed in note 8

The significant change in the balance of trade receivables are disclosed in note 33,

Concentration of credit risk
As at 31 March 2024, the Group had one customer which is public sector undertaking (31 March 2023: no customer] that accounted for 100% of all the recetvables outstanding

Financial § and bank deposil

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial instruments is ged by the | ger in accordance with the Group's policies. Investments of surplus funds are made
only with approved counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each counterparty, The limits are set to minimise the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial loss
through counterparty’s potential failure to make payments.

This comp mainly of I in mutual fund and deposits with banks. The InvIT's maximum exposure to credil risk for these components as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March
2023 is the carrying amounts as (llustrated (n Note 28,

C. Liguidity risk
Liguidity risk is the risk that the Group will difficulty in g the oblig: associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial

asset. The Group's approach for managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both narmal and
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or nsking damage to the Group's reputation. The Group invests in bank deposits 1o meet the immediate obligations

Exposure to liquidity risk
The liquidity risk is managed on the basis of expected maturity dates of the financial liabilities. The other financial liabilities are with short term durations. The table below summarises
the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments:

Contractual cash flows
m’f Less than 1 Mare than
Taotal On demand year 1-5 years 5 vakia
As at 31 March 2024
Borrowings (Incl. current maturities) # 1137603 18,738.56 338 2,363,358 8,546.23 779515
Trade payables 1,119.48 1,119.48 > 1.119.48 - *
Other financial liabilities 361.50 361.50 - 361.50 - =
Total B maiss Y 3013 556 IBE
As at 31 March 2023 (refer note 40)
Barrowings (incl. current maturities) # 2545 545 2545 - - .
Other financial liabilities 4745 4745 - 4745 - -
Total 72.90 72.90 2545 47.45 - -
—— ——— — ——— — =

# Borrowings include interest accrued and future interest obligations.

32 Capital management
For the purpose of the Group's capital management, capital includes unit capital and all other reserves ble 1o the unitholders of the Group. The primary objective of the
Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ralio in order to support its business and maximise unil holders value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic cond and the regq of the financial covenants, To maintain or
adjust the capital stricture, the Group may adjust the distribution to unitholders, return of capital to unitholders or issue new units (subject to the provisions of InvIT regulations which
require distribution of at least 90% of the net distributable cash flows of the InvIT to unitholders). The Group monitors capital using Debl-Equily ratio, which is net debt divided by
total capital plus net debt. The Group includes within net debt, interest bearing loans and borrowings less cash and short-term depasits.

Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Nale

Total borrowings 11,376.03 2545
Less: cash and cash equivalents 191297 0.09
Net debt (A) 9,463.06 2536
Corpus contribution 0.01 0.0
Unit capital 14376152 -
Other equity 5.804.32 -
Total capital (B) 4956545 001
Capital and net debt (C=A+B) 59,028.91 25.37
Gearing Ratio (A/C) 16.03% 99.96%

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for manuging capital during the year ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023,
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33 Disclosures pursuant to Indian Accounting standard (Ind AS) 115, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
A. Disaggregated revenue information Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
i) Type of service rendered
Changes of scope, utility shifting income and others 73n0 .
Oiperation and malntenance income 167.54 -
Total $99.56 Z
ii) Based on geography
India 899.56 =
Outside India 3 "
Total 899.56 =
ili) Timing of Revenue recognition
Revenue from Goods and Services transferred to customers at a point in ime - -
Revenue from Goods and Services transferred 1o customers over time 899,56 -
Total £99.56 -
T
B. Contract balances:
The following table provides information about receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities from the contracts with customers.
As at As al
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
{Refer Note 40)
Trade recelvables
Opening balance - -
On account of acgjuisition of subsidiaries 87.95 -
Closing balance 6044 =
The increase / decrease in trade recelvables is mainly due to acquisition of subsidiaries and subseq I Trade receivables are generally non interest bearing and
are on terms of 30 to 90 days,
Receivable under service concession agreements
Opening balance - -
On account of acquisition of subsidiaries 49,991.42 -
Closing balance 50,187.70 >

D.

F.

Recelvable under service concession agreements are recognised as per Appendix D to Ind AS 115, when the Group has an unconditional right to recelve cash at the direction
of the grantar under the service concession agreement.

Contract assets
Opening balance = 5
On account of acquisition of subsidiaries 96.96 -
Closing balance 4169 -
Contract assels are recognised as per ag with cust upon completion of work, the contract asset classified as trade recaivable su bsequently
Contract labilities
Opening balance - -
On account of acquisition of subsidiaries 84.00 &
Clesing balance _ 5412 -
Contract liabilities include ad from cush These cantract liabilities are adjusted with trade recelvables upon completion of work.
Year ended Period ended
The t of revenue recognized from 31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
(Refer Note 40)
Pt bligati tisfied in previous years 605,09 =
- Amounts included in contract liabilities al the beginning of the year - -
Performance obligation
Sales of Services:
The performance obligation is satistied over time as the assets are under control of ¢ and they simul ly receive and the benefits provided by the

Group. The Group receives progressive payment towards pravision of services,

Transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligation
The aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2024 after considering the
practical expedient mentioned above Nil (31 March 2023; Nil).

Reconciliation of the for revenue recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss with the contracted price:
Year ended Period ended
31 March 2024 from 16 June 2022
to 31 March 2023
Revenue as per contracted price 294.47 .
Add : GST Claims 605.09 -
Revenue from contract with customers 899.56 -
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34 Disclosure pursuant to Appendix E of Ind AS 115 for Service Concession Arrangements
Under Service Concession Arrangements (SCA), where a special purpose vehicle (SPV) has acquired contractual right to receive specified determinable amount (Annuity) for
use of assets, such amounts are recognised as "financial assets” and are disclose as "receivable under service concession arrangement”. Below is additional disclosure
requirement pursuant to Appendix E of IND AS 115, Revenue from Contracts with Custamers,

Name of concession Start of End of Feriod of | BPC Costas |OéM Cost per|Construction completed date or
concession concession | Concession per annum scheduled completion date
period under | period under | sincethe | concession |({?inmillions) under the concession
concession concession | appointed | agreement |Refernole (iif)]  agreement as applicable
s L g Date (Tin
(appointed date) millions)
GR Phagwara Expressway Limited 06-10-2017] 25-02- 17.4 years 13,670.00 60,00 25-02-2020
Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited 12-02-201 18-04-2035| 17.2 years 16,000.00 59.70 18-04-2020
Varanasi Sangam Expressway Private Limited 05-12-201 02-11-2035] 17.9 vears 24,470.00 198.70 02-11-2020
GRGuMBEolanu Dehlragalll Highway Private Limited 22-10-2018] 10‘07-2036| 17.7 vears 18,270.00 170,00 10-07-2021
GR Sangli Solapur Highway Private Limited 31-12-2018 28-06- 17.5 years 9,570.00 30.00 26-06-2021
GR Alkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited 1-1-13-:m| 31% 17.3 years 8,070.00 27.00 31-03-2021
GR Dwarka D iva Highway Private Limited 08-02-20 02-08-2037] 17.5 years 11,010.00 35.00 02-08-2022
Note:-

(1) 40% of the total bid project cost shall be due and payable to the SPV during the construction period and balance 60% in half yearly annuity in 15 years in accordance with
the provision of concession agreement.

{ii) Interest shall be due and recelvable on the reducing balance of completion cost at an interest rate equal to the applicable rate specified in the concession agreement. Such
interest shall be due and recelvable in half yearly annuity in accordance with provision of the concession agreement.

{iff) Operation and maintenance ( O&M) cost per year consist of first year amount which is specified under concession agreement and installment of subsequent year O&kM
shall be adjusied with the price index multiple on the reference index date preceding the due date of payment thereof.

(Iv) The following other terms and conditions included in accordance with concession agreement.
Investment grant from concession grantor: No
Infrastructure return al the end of concession period: Yes

tment and | obligation: Nil
Basis upon which re-pricing or re-negotiation is determined: NA
Premium payable to granter: Nil

35 Segment Information
The principal activity of Group is to own and invest in infrastructure assets primarily in the SPVs operating in the road infrastructure development sector in India in
1 with the provisions of the TnvIT Regulations and Trust deed. The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager allocates the resources and assess the
performance of the Group and thus are the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM). In accordance with the requirements of Ind AS 108 - "Segment Reporting”, the CODM
monitors the operating resulls of the business as a single seg hence no sef gment needs to be disclosed. As the Group operates only in India, no separale
geographical segment is disclosed.

36 Issue of Lnits
During the year, the InvIT has completed ils initial public affer ('IPO") of 249,999,900 units with issue price of 2 100 each unit. The InvIT had received an amount of
24,999.99 million from the sponsor and eligible unitholders (as defined in Final Offer Documents(FOD)). Expenses incurred on the IPO Is amounting to ¥ 53234 million
(including taxes) (provisional IPO expenses of € 620.80 million (including taxes) as per FOD). The funds from savings in IPO exp as compared to provisional IPO
expenses shall be transferred to General Corporate purpose after necessary approval. The unit of the InvIT were listed on National Stock Exchange of India Limited (NSE)
and BSE Limited (BSE) on March 12, 2024.

The expenses incurred for TPO have been reduced fram the Unitholders' capital in accordance with Ind AS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

The details of amount utilised from [PO proceeds are as follows:

P Amo by

e e Utilised upto Unutilised upto

25 PEF 31 March 2024 31 March 2024
FOD
Providing loans to the 5I°Vs [or repayment/ pre-payment, in part or in full, of thelr respective outatanding 24,000,00 24,000.00
loans (including any accrued interest and prepayment penalty)
Issue expenses 62080 135.02 485.78
General purposes 379.19 2779 __35140
Total _ 2399999 24,6281 837.18
Net proceeds which were un-utilised as at March 31, 2024 are lemporaril 4 in Deposits with banks as well as kept in escrow account with banks.
37 Acquisition of subsidiaries

During the year, the InvIT has entered into share purchase agreement dated February 20, 2024 with GR Infraprojects Limited (GRIL) for acquisition of 100% equity stake in its
seven subsidaries namely Vi i Sangam Exp y Private Limited (“VSEPL”), Porbandar Dwarka Expressway Private Limited ("PDEPL"), GR Phagwara Expressway

Limited (“GRPEL"), GR Gundugolanu Devarapalli Highway Private Limited ("GRGDHPL"), GR Akkalkot Solapur Highway Private Limited ("GRASHFL"), GR Sangli
Solapur Highway Private Limited ("GRSSHFL") and GR Dwarka Devarlya Highway Private Limited (“GRDDHPL") against the same, the InvIT has issued its 13,75,30,405
units with issue price of € 100 per unit as consideration against above sale of shares and 554,08,300 units with issue price of 2 100 per unit towards assignment of loan
receivable from above subsidiaries, which has resulted in the GRIL's halding 43.56% in the InvIT, The equity shares of seven subsidiaries were ferred Lo the InvIT on 1
March 2024 thereby the InvIT obtained control over these subsidlaries. The Group has consolidated revenue and expenditure of these subsidiaries from the said date in these

lidated financial The I has accessed and concluded that as part of the acquisition, the InvIT has acquired net assets/ inputs pertaining to

these entities and no substantive process has been acquired. Accordingly, the T ger has concluded that the acquisition should be treated as an asset acquisition

as against the business combination under Ind AS 103 Business Combination.
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37 Acquisition of subsidiaries (Continued)
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The InvIT has carried out Fair val of assots acquired, and liability assumed by independent valuer using inputs generally used by market participants in similar
transactions resulting in fair valuation of 119,40930 million. Accordingly, InvIT has recognised the net assets of these SPVs at fair value in the consolidated financial
statements and recognised capital reserve amounting to ¥ 5,656.26 million which is the resultant difference between the fair value and consideration paid by the InvIT arising
due to additional contribution by significant unitholder. The amount of capital reserve is mainly on account of () differences in valuation parameters particularly Weighed
Average Cost of Capital on account of different cost of equity (including debt-equity ratiojfor determining transaction price, (b) InvIT Issue expenses, and (¢) Net present
value of InvIT related expenses (including fees payable Lo i t ger) considered by InvIT ing to ¥ 3,017.52 million, ¥ 589.93 million and ¥2,048.81 million
respectively.

Below is the summary of fair value of individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the dae of acquisition:

Particulars VSEFL PDEFL GRFPEL__ GRGDHFL GRASHPL GRSSHFL GRDDHPL
Assels
Receivable under service concession agreements 13,080.00 7.836.44 5.017.59 9,114.00 4,428.00 5,192.00 532339
Cash and cash equivalents 37786 44.80 7346 95.37 40.39 525.37 3713
Other bank balances 38B.76 867.20 250,79 517.40 12855 13144 23285
Investments 54.25 - 614.18 - = - »
Trade receivables 141 1.89 24 0z 334 047 78B.55
Other financial assets 988.69 38.05 469.76 539.14 209.92 6216 4593.38
Dther assets 507.32 326,58 7346 562.50 26728 290.79 54059
Assats for current tax (net) B8.55 118.94 4358 101.88 5422 60,06 112.66
Total identified assets acquired at fair value (A) 15486.84 9,233.90 6,544.90 10,930.51 514170 6,262.29 7.,15250
Liabilities
Borrowings 9,756.84 6,069.12 4,534.01 7.843.68 3.429.40 4,058.58 518238
Trade payables 41.97 39.37 3445 Be7 18.58 16.68 147.66
Other financial liabilities 0.07 0.09 0.07 0.03 0.04 0,03 0.03
Other current liabilities 3.96 1214 _595 472 641 8.00 95.47
Total liabilities assumed (B) 5.802.84 6,120.72 457448 7.882.10 345443 4,083.29 542554
Total identified net assets acquired (C=A-B) 5,684.00 3,113.18 1,970.42 3,048.41 1.&57-!_3 2,179.00 1,727.02
Consideration paid/ units issued (D) .07 2437.13 123163 2.074.58 1,260.00 1.506.53 1,199.10
Capital reserve (F=C-D) 1639.93 676.05 738.79 973.83 427.27 67247 527.92

38 Other Information
(i) The Group does not have any Benami property, where any proceeding has been initialed or pending against the Group for holding any Benami property under the
Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 and rules made thereunder.
(il) The Group does not have any transactions with companies struck off.
(iif) The Group has not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the respective financial year.
(iv) The Group does nol have any transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax
assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey or any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961).
{v) The Group has not been declared as a willful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or other lender.

39 Events occurring after reporting period
The Board of directors of 1 ger in their g on May 28, 2024 have approved distribution of Rs 3.00 per unit to the unitholders, which comprises of Rs. 0.50
per unit in the form of interest, Rs. 250 per unit in the form of dividend, Rs, Nil per unit in the form of other income and balance Rs. Nil per unit in the form of capital
repayment for the year, which is payable within 15 days from the date of declaration.

40 Comparative figures:

The InvIT was set up on 16 June 2022 as an irrevocable trust und

March 12, 2024. Accordingly, the ¢ b

subjected to audit and the same luverheen as comg
investment manager has exercised necessary diligence to ensure

e

er the Indian Trust Act, 1882 and concluded its initial public offer process and listed on BSE and NSE on
A for the period from June 16, 2022 to March 31, 2023 in these c lidated financial are not
g and approved by the Board of Directors of I Hi s the
that the unaudited consolidated financial statement For this ¢

ide a true and fair view

of the Group's affair and financial position. Considering the above, the numbers for the year ended March 31, 2024 are not c ; parable with bers of previous period
ended March 31, 2023,
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